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2023 has been an exception-
al year for us. The continuous 
growth of our Health brands 
led to new record sales in every 
quarter. We were able to expand 
our market-leading positions in 
all of our key indication areas, 
both in Germany and abroad.

We have thus achieved important 
milestones on our path to  deliver 

At a glance: PharmaSGP
The significant growth in 2023 strengthens our 
position as a fast-growing OTC consumer health 
company in Europe

Revenues in million €

Health Brands Beauty Brands

Continuously strong growth of our “Health Brands”

continuous growth as a leading 
consumer health company in 
Europe. This growth is  driven 
by our scalable pan-European 
asset-light OTC growth platform 
and our successful D2C market-
ing strategy with a multi-channel 
marketing approach. To continue 
to deliver growth, both  organic 
and inorganic, we have also 
strengthened our leadership 

management team in key focus 
areas. 

Thanks to the strong sales growth 
and our optimised marketing in-
vestments, we were also able to 
further strengthen our excellent 
fi nancial profi le and once again 
achieved a further improvement 
of our strong EBITDA margin and 
a high cash generation. 

Interest in OTC Products and trust 
in self-medication continue to 
grow steadily, while consumers in-
creasingly seek health information 
and solutions for their  ailments 
on their own. As an OTC  Consumer 
Health company with a focus on 
consumer marketing, we man-

* As of December 2023

2019

49.0

13.0

2020

54.8

8.4

2021

61.0

4.3

2022

82.5

3.3

2017

42.1

10.6

2018

46.1

13.8

>90%
of sales are generated

by our top 8 brands

We are a highly
skilled team of

81
FTEs* incl. in- house

experts for regulatory,
media & digital.

We strongly believe in  
equality and diversity.

66%
of our top management 

is female & our  employees 
represent 18 different 

 countries.

We are operating out 
of one base in Germany 

and sold over

6m
products in 2023 into 

11 countries.

aged to expand our sales in all 
markets without local sales force 
and to grow faster than the OTC 
market in our key geographies  
in 2023. Our proven D2C com-
munication strategy with a multi- 
channel marketing approach in TV, 
print, and online has once again 

proven its  eff ectiveness. Through 
this multi-channel marketing ap-
proach, we can reach an even wider 
customer audience and meet their 
needs at multiple touchpoints. In 
this way, we can fully leverage the 
potential of our product portfolio 
across all  categories and markets.

2023

97.5

3.6

Key Highlights

 33.7% EBITDA margin 
in 2023

adjusted

101.1 Million € Revenues
in 2023

 17.8% Revenue growth
2023 vs. 2022
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Strong when it comes 
to your pain
PharmaSGP stands for a portfolio of trusted, leading 
brands in many relevant indications in the OTC sector, 
particularly in the “pain” category.

Growth of the category “Pain”

2021 2022 2023

With our natural enthusiasm 
for improving patients’ quality 
of life, we provide them 
individual best solutions from 
our ever-growing product 
range to treat chronical 
ailments – everyday!

+20 % yoy
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Revenue development

„Once again we achieved 
 excellent fi nancial results. 
Our leading brands continued 
to develop based on strong 
growth rates and further 
strengthened their market 
positions in 2023. Our fi nan-
cial profi le has become even 
stronger, providing the basis 
for further expansion of our 
acquisition strategy. We are 
well positioned to continue 
our success story in 2024. “

Michael Rudolf, CFO

17.8%
Growth 2023

€107- 112m
Forecast 2024

19%CAGR
2015–2023 (Health Brands)

Superb financial profile

Since its foundation, PharmaSGP 
has delivered impressive key 
 fi nancials year in, year out, and 
has now taken its place as one of 
Germany’s leading OTC pharma 
companies. An average annual 
revenue growth rate of 16 % over 
the period from 2015 to 2023 
provides impressive proof of our 
strong business model.

Our Health Brands focus catego-
ry, that meanwhile accounts for 
more than 95 % of PharmaSGP’s 
revenues, stands out in partic-
ular. Both in our home market 
of Germany and in our interna-
tional markets, we were able 
to increase our Health Brands 
 revenues by an average of 19 % 
in the period from 2015 to 2023. 

This strong growth momentum 
is also evidenced in  particular 
by the fi nancial year 2023. Over-
all,  PharmaSGP achieved record 
 revenues of EUR 101.1 million 
and revenue growth of 17.8 %, 

with our Health Brands even 
 rising by more than 18 %. We 
 expect this success story to 
 continue in 2024 with a target 
turnover of between EUR 107 
and 112 million for the entire 
Group. 

In addition to our dynamic rev-
enue trend, our sustainable and 
high profi tability levels are also 
particularly noteworthy. Since 
2015, we have regularly achieved 
an EBITDA margin (adjusted) of 
more than 30 %. Over the years 
from 2015 to 2023, this key per-
formance indicator averaged 
32.6 %, while we exceeded this 
fi gure in the fi nancial year 2023 
by delivering a margin of 33.7 %. 

The aim for 2024 is to confi rm 
and possibly even exceed the 
profi tability level from the pre-
vious year - we are forecasting 
an EBITDA margin (adjusted) of 
between 32.7 % and 33.9 % for 
2024.

PharmaSGP represents steady 
and strong revenue growth, com-
bined with a high level of struc-
tural  EBITDA profi tability and an 
asset-light business model that 
 requires only minimum investment 
in running operations on a highly 
fl exible basis, resulting in a very 
high cash generation.

Excluding M&A transactions, our 
cash conversion signifi cantly ex-
ceeds 90 %. This achievement is 
also corroborated  by the ongoing 
increase of our liquidity  and the 
fact that, as of 31 December 2023, 
PharmaSGP had cash and cash 
equivalents at hand of more than 
EUR 40 million.

With additional fi nancial resources 
in the form of credit lines already 
agreed, PharmaSGP has an imme-
diately available investment volume 
of up to € 75 million. These funds 
give us the opportunity to continue 
the acquisition strategy and thus the 
success story of  PharmaSGP in 2024.

Profitability (adjusted EBITDA margin)

Cash generation

95- 97%
cash conversion

2020- 2023*

€40.8Mio.
cash position

as of 31 Dec 2023

* (adj. EBITDA – norm. Capex) / adj. EBITDA

A unique combination of financial strength: strong 
revenue development with high margins – combined 
with low operational investment needs

32.7- 33.9%
Forecast 2024

33.7%
2023

32.6%
Ø 2015-2023

Up to

€75m
available financing

potential
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Key financial indicators
PharmaSGP revenues*

Geographical breakdown of PharmaSGP revenues*

* all figures in € million, except earnings per share (in €) and margins (in %)
** For the financial years 2017-2020, 12,000,000 shares are the basis for calculating earnings per share.

DE / AT Other markets

Key figures for the PharmaSGP Group*

2022 71.1
14.7

2023 83.9
17.2

2021 53.7
11.6

2020 50.2
13.0

2019 50.1
12.5

2018 50.7
9.9

Health Brands Beauty Brands

2017

80%

20%

53.1

2018

60.6

77%

23%

2019

79%

21%

62.6

2020

87%

13%

63.2

2021

93%

7%

65.3

2022

96%

4%

4%

85.8

101.1

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenues 53.1 60.6 62.6 63.2 65.3 85.8 101.1

Adjusted EBITDA 15.7 19.9 22.8 17.0 19.4 28.2 34.1

Adjusted EBITDA margin 29.7% 32.9% 36.5% 26.9% 29.7% 32.9% 33.7%

Adjusted EBIT 15.3 19.5 22.4 16.5 15.9 19.0 24.7

Adjusted EBIT margin 28.9% 32.3% 35.8% 26.1% 24.3% 22.1% 24.4%

Earnings per share** 0.98 1.23 1.39 0.89 0.89 1.00 1.37

Operating Cash Flow 14.3 8.4 17.6 15.5 12.2 24.7 26.6

49.52017 3.2

2023

96%

240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   10-11240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   10-11 25.04.24   10:5025.04.24   10:50
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We improved our environmental performance of 
our packaging by using FSC®-certifi ed card-
board or recycled paper and have already 
converted 95 % of our organic product 
portfolio. Minimizing the environmen-
tal impact of our packaging remains an 
important goal for us. 

We also strive to minimise our envi-
ronmental impact from transportation. 
All transports that we commission must be 
as effi  cient as possible: ensuring an increased fi ll 

rate in all trucks as well as using the shortest route 
 possible and no air transport.

As a pharmaceutical company we adhere 
to the highest standards for the produc-
tion of our products and ensure that our 
CMOs produce according to EU-GMP/
GDP and ISO. We have developed a code 

of conduct for our suppliers, summariz-
ing our high standards and principles in 

areas such as human rights, labor standards, 
environmental protection, and anti-corruption.

PharmaSGP is a diverse and inclusive workplace 
for all. Our employees come from 18 diff erent 
countries. We believe that diversity is a key 
 factor for a friendly, respectful, and pro-
ductive working environment. 

We avoid prejudice about the 
 opinions,  appearance, or attitudes 
of our  colleagues and help to create 
a positive work environment by main-
taining an open and  transparent commu-
nication and feedback culture. To ensure the 
well- being of all employees, we conduct regular 
 feedback  meetings throughout the year.

We develop, produce, and deliver high-quality and 
safe products while complying with all legal 
standards. In 2023, our complaint rate 
per unit sold was < 0.008 %.

Our code of conduct outlines the 
expectations that we place on the 
third parties that we work with in 
order to ensure that they comply 
with UN Global Compact principles on 
human rights, labour standards of the 
ILO (International Labor Organization) and 
 anti-corruption.

We pay attention to gender equality at all levels 
within the organization: 

Overall female representation: > 70 % 
Female representation in the executive 

board: 50 % 
Female representation in the second 
management  level: 66 %

A fair, tolerant, and non- discriminatory work 
environment is essential for PharmaSGP. 

Discrimination based on  religion, age, phys-
ical appearance, health, nationality, political 

opinion, family situation, gender, origin, sexual 
 orientation, and disability is not tolerated.

All cases of patient safety are reported within 
 offi  cial deadlines of 15 days for serious events and 

90 days for non-serious events. 

We ensure that we operate an ethical and 
sustainable company and adhere to in-
ternational standards: Every employee is 
trained in the industry’s guidelines and 
regulations. We guarantee that our policies 

are read and understood within 3 months 
after joining PharmaSGP. An ethics and anti- 

corruption training has been performed by all 
 employees.

Environment: For a sustainable future for our planet 

Governance: Ensuring we always do the right thing

Social: Respect people – fairness, diversity and tolerance

You can rely on our 
products and our 
ethical principles.
From social inequalities to climate change, 
we are facing signifi cant challenges. At 
PharmaSGP, we are focusing on the most 
effective ways for us to improve our 
 sustainability eff orts and assess the envi-
ronmental, social, and governance impacts 
in order to stay aligned with stakeholders, 
from customers and partners to investors, 
regulators, and employees. 

Sustainability at our core

240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   12-13240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   12-13 25.04.24   10:5025.04.24   10:50
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We are delighted to announce the 
establishment of the  PharmaSGP 
Forest in Bischbrunn, Germany. In 
line with our commitment to the 
environment, we have planted a 
tree for every employee within 
our organization. This initiative 
not only represents our commit-
ment to sustainability, but also 
acts as a visible representation of 
the PharmaSGP family’s commit-
ment to leaving a positive impact 
on the planet. We are commit-
ted to continuing this tradition 
by planting a new tree for every 
new employee who joins us. By 
 integrating sustainable  practices 
into our growth strategy, we 
strive to create a legacy that goes 
far beyond our pharmaceutical 
innovations.

In 2023, PharmaSGP strength-
ens its commitment to sus-
tainable growth by taking bold 
steps towards  environmental 

Understanding the environmen-
tal impact of our packaging ma-
terials, we have taken proactive 
steps to reduce our carbon foot-
print. PharmaSGP has planted 
an additional 2,000 trees in the 
Global South, strategically chosen 
to off set the paper consumption 

PharmaSGP aims for sustainable 
growth and our commitment to 
ESG principles is embedded in all 
areas of our business. Through 
initiatives such as the PharmaSGP 
Forest and global reforestation 
projects, we are actively working 
towards a future where environ-
mental, social and governance 
considerations are seamlessly 
integrated into our day-to-day 
operations. As we refl ect on the 
accomplishments of 2023, we 

associated with all our packaging 
sold to date. This initiative refl ects 
our commitment to not only neu-
tralise our historical impact, but 
also to proactively address the 
environmental consequences of 
our operations. As a company, 
we recognise our responsibility 

look forward to the years ahead 
with a sense of purpose and re-
sponsibility. Our sustainability 
 journey is not yet complete, and 
we invite everyone to join us in 
promoting a healthier,  greener, 
and more sustainable world. 
 Together, we can shape a future 
where PharmaSGP’s impact is not 
only measured by our pharma-
ceutical innovations but also by 
the positive environmental legacy 
we leave behind.

PharmaSGP Forest in Bischbrunn, Germany: Cultivating a sustainable legacy

Our vision for a sustainable future

Strengthening our future through green initiatives: Global reforestation efforts

 responsibility. As part of our 
 Environmental, Social, and Gover-
nance (ESG) strategy, we proudly 
introduced the PharmaSGP  Forest 

initiative, a groundbreaking proj-
ect aimed at fostering ecological 
balance and off setting our carbon 
 footprint.

to the global community and the 
ecosystems in which we operate. 
We therefore commit to annual-
ly off set our paper consumption 
through reforestation projects 
and continue to plant more trees 
to further contribute to global 
 reforestation eff orts.

PharmaSGP – Nurturing 
health, enriching lives, 
sustaining our planet.

PharmaSGP ESG-Highlight
We are growing sustainably!

240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   14-15240425_PharmaSGP_GB-2023_en_V002_mm.indd   14-15 25.04.24   10:5025.04.24   10:50
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Ladies and Gentlemen, 
Valued Shareholders,

PharmaSGP looks back on a successful financial year 
2023, in which we exceeded the € 100 million revenue 
threshold for the first time in the Company’s history 
thanks to our proven platform strategy. Compared 
to the previous year, revenues have increased by 
17.8 % to € 101.1 million. Profitability also developed 
very dynamically, with adjusted EBITDA increasing 
by 20.8 % to € 34.1 million. With an adjusted EBITDA 
margin of 33.7 %, we were even able to improve on 
last year’s margin of 32.9 %. We are therefore slightly 
ahead of our forecast and can report a remarkable 
performance that clearly exceeds the development 
of the OTC market relevant to us.

Once again, we also want our shareholders to par-
ticipate in our strong operating performance in the 
form of a dividend and are very pleased to propose 
to the Annual General Meeting a full distribution of 
the Group’s 2023 profit.

This positive business development and our strong 
position as one of the leading German OTC pharma-
ceutical companies are based on the unique nature 
of our business model. Our scalable pan-European 
growth platform enables us to efficiently integrate 
brands into established structures and expand them 
further, as well as to tap into new growth markets. 
With the help of our optimized marketing strategies, 
we can sustainably strengthen the demand for our 
constantly growing product range of trustworthy 
OTC brand pharmaceuticals. In the financial year 
2023, we succeeded in doing so both in our key mar-
ket Germany and in our foreign markets, such as 
Austria and Italy. We have thus further expanded our 
strategically important internationalization.

In view of the positive developments in recent years, 
we see PharmaSGP excellently positioned to realize 
further organic and inorganic growth in the future 
and to continue to leverage the great potential of 
our pan-European growth platform in the best pos-
sible way. For 2024, we are forecasting revenues of 
between € 107 million and € 112 million and an ad-
justed EBITDA margin of between 32.7 % and 33.9 %.

We look back with pride on the positive business 
development of recent years, which is largely due 
to the outstanding commitment of our employees. 
We would like to take this opportunity to express our 
special thanks to them. At the same time, we look 
forward to continuing our success story with our em-
ployees in the future. We would also like to thank our 
shareholders, business partners and customers for 
their trust and loyalty. Please continue to accompany 
us on our successful path!

 
Gräfelfing, April 2024

Natalie Weigand   Michael Rudolf
(CEO)    (CFO)

Foreword by the  
Management Board

Activities of the Supervisory Board in the financial 
year 2023; cooperation between the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board
In the financial year 2023, the Company‘s Supervi-
sory Board conscientiously performed the duties 
incumbent upon it under the law and the Articles 
of Association. The Supervisory Board continuously 
monitored and advised the Management Board on 
issues of importance to the Company and the Phar-
maSGP Group.

In the financial year 2023, the Supervisory Board 
held four meetings in the form of hybrid meetings 
(participation of members both in person and via 
video conference). The legally mandated rotation of 
two meetings per calendar half-year was adhered 
to. In addition, the Supervisory Board passed sev-
eral resolutions by circular resolution. All members 
of the Supervisory Board participated in the meet-
ings of the Supervisory Board during the reporting 
period.

The Company’s Supervisory Board does not form any 
committees given that – as per the company’s Arti-
cles of Association – the board consists of only three 
persons. An increase in work efficiency is therefore 
not to be expected from the additional formation of 
committees.

In the financial year 2023, the Company’s Manage-
ment Board reported regularly, promptly and com-
prehensively to the Supervisory Board, both in reg-
ular meetings and when required outside meetings, 
on the net assets, financial position and results of op-
erations of the Company and the PharmaSGP Group, 
as well as on issues relating to risk management. 
As part of this process, the Management Board in-
formed the Supervisory Board about all relevant is-
sues of corporate policy, strategy, operational plan-
ning (and the associated risks and opportunities), the 
economic development of the Company and all rele-
vant business policy transactions. The content of the 
reports was intensively discussed in the meetings of 
the Supervisory Board. The Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board discussed in detail all signif-
icant business transactions and major decisions of 
the 2023 financial year.

The members of the Supervisory Board were also in 
regular contact with the members of the Manage-
ment Board outside of the meetings. With regard to 
measures that were to be submitted to the Supervi-
sory Board by the Management Board for approval, 
the necessary information for the decision-making of 
the Supervisory Board was provided by the Manage-
ment Board.

It was not necessary to inspect any documents be-
yond the reports and draft resolutions of the Man-
agement Board in the reporting year.

 
Key advisory topics in the financial year 2023
The main topics of the Supervisory Board meetings 
were primarily the fundamental orientation of the 
corporate strategy, the ongoing business devel-
opment and the situation of the Company and the 
PharmaSGP Group.

The Management Board informed the Supervisory 
Board regularly about the current business situation, 
strategic issues and the demand situation in the indi-
vidual markets. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
addressed potential acquisition opportunities, the 
further development of the product portfolio as well 
as marketing measures.

In the reporting period, the focus was on the follow-
ing topics in particular:

• In March 2023, the Supervisory Board discussed 
the latest performance of the company, the Q1 
Quarterly Statement and the Risk Management 
Report as of 31 December 2022.

• In its meeting held in April 2023, the Supervisory 
Board approved the annual financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements as pre-
pared by the Management Board, as well as the 
proposed profit distribution.

• In August 2023, the Half year financial report 
2023 and the risk management report as of  
30 June 2023 was presented and explained to 
the Supervisory Boards. Furthermore, the Su-

Report of the Supervisory Board 
for the Financial Year 2023
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pervisory Board dealt with the the latest perfor-
mance of the company.

• The Supervisory Board meeting held November 
2023 focused on the latest business develop-
ment as well as the Q3 Quarterly Statement.

 
Audit of the annual and consolidated financial 
statements 2023
The annual financial statements prepared by the 
Management Board in accordance with the provi-
sions of the German Commercial Code (HGB), as 
well as the consolidated financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with Section 315e HGB on the 
basis of the International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) and the combined management report 
for the Company and the PharmaSGP Group for the 
2023 financial year were each audited by the Com-
pany‘s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, and re-
ceived an unqualified audit opinion.

The aforementioned documents were made avail-
able to all members of the Supervisory Board in a 
timely manner and were discussed in detail at the 
meeting of the Supervisory Board on 25 April 2024.

The auditor attended this meeting, reported on 
the main results of the audit and was available for 
questions and further information during the dis-
cussions. The Supervisory Board concurred with the 
auditor‘s findings and determined that no objec-
tions were to be raised. Moreover, the Supervisory 
Board examined the Management Board‘s propos-
al for the appropriation of the net profit and con-
curred with this proposal. The Supervisory Board 
approved the annual financial statements, the con-
solidated financial statements of the PharmaSGP 
Group and the combined management report by 
resolution of 25 April 2024. The annual financial 
statements of the Company for the 2023 financial 
year are thereby adopted.

The auditor also examined the report of the Man-
agement Board pursuant to Sec. 312 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on the Company‘s re-
lationships with affiliated companies. This audit did 
not result in any objections. The auditor issued the 
following unqualified audit opinion:

Based on our audit and assessment, which were 
carried out in accordance with professional stan-
dards, we confirm that

1.  the factual statements made in the report are 
correct,

2.  the payments made by the Company in connec-
tion with transactions detailed in the report were 
not unreasonably high,

3.  there are no circumstances that would require a 
materially different assessment of the measures 
listed in the report than that of the Executive 
Board.

The report of the Management Board on the relation-
ships of the Company with affiliated companies and 
the associated audit report of the auditor were made 
available to the members of the Supervisory Board 
in a timely manner. The Supervisory Board dealt with 
this in detail at its meeting on 25 April 2024. The au-
ditor attended this meeting, reported on the main 
results of the audit and was available for questions 
and further information during the discussions. The 
Supervisory Board‘s review of the report on relation-
ships with affiliated companies did not lead to any 
objections. The Supervisory Board therefore con-
curred with the results of the auditor‘s review and 
raised no objections.

 
Dealing with conflicts of interest
Insofar as legal transactions with companies con-
trolled by the Supervisory Board members Dr. Fischer 
and / or Ms. Hohlefelder were to be dealt with in the 
Supervisory Board in the reporting year, the relevant 
resolutions of the Supervisory Board were passed 
without the votes of Dr. Fischer or Ms. Hohlefelder.

Composition of the Management Board and  
Supervisory Board in the financial year 2023
In the financial year 2022 and the current financial 
year 2023, there were no personnel changes in the 
composition of the Management Board and Super-
visory Board.

 
Thanks and recognition 
We would like to thank the Management Board and 
all employees for their personal commitment and 
the consistently constructive and trust-based coop-
eration in 2023.

 
Gräfelfing, April 2024

Dr. Clemens Fischer  
(Chairman)
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In the period under review from January 2023 to 
March 2024, the share price of PharmaSGP peaked 
at € 29.30. On 28 March 2024, the share closed at 
a price of € 21.90, which corresponds to a market 
capitalization of € 262.8 million or a share price per-

formance of -17.7% in this period. The benchmark 
index Euro Stoxx Total Market Pharmaceuticals & 
Biotechnology also achieved a negative performance 
of -6.5% in the same period.

Master Data of the Share*

Security Identification Number (WKN) A2P4LJ

ISIN DE000A2P4LJ5

Ticker symbol PSG

Type of shares Ordinary bearer shares with no par value
(no-par value shares)

Initial listing 19 June 2020
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Share Price*

Shareholder Structure
Information based on the voting rights notifications received pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act, WpHG and other disclosed information 
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*  based on Xetra closing prices of Deutsche Börse AG
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This report combines the management report of 
PharmaSGP Holding SE (hereafter also referred to as 
the “Company” or “SGP SE”) and the group manage-
ment report of PharmaSGP Group (“PharmaSGP” or 
the “Group”) comprising PharmaSGP Holding SE and 
its subsidiaries PharmaSGP GmbH, Remitan GmbH, 
Restaxil GmbH, Fokusan Health GmbH and Phar-
maSGP Vitalmed GmbH.

The combined management report of PharmaSGP 
Holding SE was prepared in accordance with Sec. 
289, 315 and 315a HGB (German Commercial Code) 
and German accounting standard DRS 20 (Deutsche 
Rechnungslegungsstandards).

1. Principles of the Group
 
1.1 Business Model

PharmaSGP Holding SE (together with its subsidiar-
ies) is a consumer health company with a diversified 
portfolio of over-the-counter (OTC) pharmaceuti-
cals and other healthcare products that are mar-
keted with the focus on the pharmacy distribution 
channel.

Over the past eleven years, PharmaSGP has created 
a platform to successfully integrate and grow brands 
in all its European markets. Five key factors ensure 
the ongoing success:

• A proven, scalable asset-light business model 
combined with established processes

• A highly diversified European supply chain

• Broad and long-standing regulatory expertise

• A strong and specialized Direct-to-Consumer 
(D2C) marketing strategy

• A wide target group media reach of more than 
165 million contacts per month

In order to focus on its success drivers, PharmaSGP 
has deliberately established a scalable, asset-light 
business model which can also be transferred quick-
ly and efficiently to new target markets. The entire 
manufacturing process is handled by a diversified 
network of third-party manufacturers in Europe. In 
Germany and in foreign markets, individual local lo-
gistics providers supply wholesalers and to a lesser 
extent pharmacies directly. Combined with many 
years of experience of approval processes for new 
OTC pharmaceuticals in Germany and abroad, as 
well as regulatory requirements for other healthcare 
products, PharmaSGP‘s platform allows it to quickly 
and efficiently establish and grow both new and ex-
isting brands and to establish its business model in 
other countries with little investment.

PharmaSGP‘s OTC products cover highly relevant 
and chronic indications marketed directly to their 
target group, especially senior citizens, under well-
known pharmaceutical brands via a specialized D2C 
marketing strategy with a wide target group media 
reach and efficient commercial media conditions. In 
a structurally growing market, it has thereby been 
able to establish market-leading positions in many 
important areas, such as rheumatic and neuralgic 
pain, sleep disorders or men’s and women’s health. 
The product portfolio is expanded through inhouse 
developments as well as acquired marketing approv-
als, brands and product portfolios.

PharmaSGP‘s core market is Germany, which ac-
counted for 73 % of total revenues in the financial 
year 2023. As the European OTC market is also ex-
pected to grow in the future due to fundamental 
trends, the Group also continues its drive towards 
greater internationalization of its brand portfolio. 
Since the launch of the first product from the current 
product portfolio in 2012, PharmaSGP has success-
fully transferred its business model to Austria, Italy, 
Belgium, France and Spain. Since September 2021, 
the Group has expanded its operations to Switzer-
land and Eastern European EU countries.

 

1.2 Product Portfolio

As of 31 December 2023, the product portfolio cur-
rently marketed by PharmaSGP includes approxi-
mately 50 OTC pharmaceuticals and other healthcare 
products. The Group‘s core brands cover chronic in-
dications, especially pain and sleep disorders, as well 
as other age-related ailments. The OTC drugs are 
mostly based on natural active pharmaceutical in-
gredients with documented efficacy and few known 
side effects.

In Germany, PharmaSGP is the market leader for 
chemical-free pain remedies, based on revenues 
of chemical-free, systemic OTC drugs for nerve and 
rheumatic pain. The latter are sold under the well-
known brand families Restaxil® (nerve pain) and 
RubaXX® (rheumatic and wear-related pain). Phar-
maSGP has also established leading brands in their 
categories for vertigo (TAUMEA®) and sexual weak-
ness (DESEO®, Neradin®).

The development of existing brand families and the 
expansion of the brand portfolio through inhouse 
developments and acquired marketing authoriza-
tions, brands and product portfolios are essential 
components of the growth strategy. With the acqui-
sition of the established OTC brands Baldriparan®, 
Formigran®, Spalt® and Kamol® August 2021, Phar-
maSGP expanded its portfolio through further mar-
ket leaders in their categories. In Germany, for ex-
ample, Baldriparan® is the No. 1 herbal sleep aid in 
pharmacies, and Formigran® is the leading OTC phar-
maceutical against migraine.

1.3 Goals and Strategy

PharmaSGP‘s goal is to establish a strong portfolio of 
leading OTC brands in Europe. To achieve this, it has 
defined a growth strategy focused on the use of its 
platform in Europe.

In addition to further organic growth and expansion 
of its existing portfolio, PharmaSGP is focusing also on 
the acquisition and integration of established brands. 
Value enhancement potential can be realized by

• increasing revenues through the implementa-
tion of the D2C marketing strategy and exploit-
ing the wide target group media reach, and

• increasing profitability through margin optimi-
zations and improvement of the cost structure 
based on the asset-light business model, among 
other things.

The Group looks for well-known and established 
brands with an existing customer base and untapped 
commercial potential, as well as brands that are un-
der-invested in their current environment which can 
be further expanded.

The starting point for realizing PharmaSGP‘s growth 
potential is the ongoing analysis of its target markets. 
A fast product launch, a flexible marketing approach 
and a clear end-consumer focus define the path to 
sustained market success for PharmaSGP. In addi-
tion, further internationalization is a key element of 
the growth strategy.

1.4 Research and Development

A cost-efficient product development process and a 
fast integration process for introducing established 
products to the PharmaSGP platform are key drivers 
of PharmaSGP‘s growth. Developing and integrating 
new products are fundamental to PharmaSGP. Key 
activities include identifying potentially attractive 
indications and active pharmaceutical ingredients, 
developing and perfecting formulations and opti-
mizing and updating existing or acquired marketing 
authorizations.

PharmaSGP cooperates with specialized contract 
manufacturers and certified laboratories to create 
formulation samples. Services such as test produc-
tions, analytics or shelf-life studies are bought in as 
needed with a view to consciously making the de-
velopment process resource-efficient and cost-ef-
ficient. This process keeps PharmaSGP‘s develop-
ment costs at a low level and accelerates market 
access. Acquired authorizations with regards to the 
specification and manufacturing process are adapt-
ed to the relevant requirements of PharmaSGP and 
to the current catalogue of requirements of regulat-
ing authorities. 

The Group draws on many years of experience with 
regard to approval processes for new OTC pharma-
ceuticals in Germany and abroad. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2023, a total of 86 marketed and non-marketed 
marketing authorizations (existing or filed) have 
been granted in Germany and abroad.

Development services are handled by PharmaSGP 
GmbH and Restaxil GmbH. The Group’s capitaliza-
tion rate in 2023 was 77 %.

PharmaSGP does not conduct research activities.

Combined Management Report  
for the Financial Year
1 January to 31 December 2023
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1.5 Marketing and Sales

Through its specialized D2C marketing strate-
gy, PharmaSGP has established leading consum-
er brands in important indication areas, such as 
rheumatic and neuralgic pain or sexual weakness. 
It focuses its marketing on a direct-to-consumer 
approach through print media and TV advertising 
as well as online marketing. By advertising in wide 
reaching newspapers and magazines and selected 
TV channels, PharmaSGP currently has an average 
target group media reach of more than 165 million 
contacts per month in its target markets.

Besides reliable product quality, the Group‘s mar-
keting activities create consumer loyalty to Phar-
maSGP‘s brands. This is reflected in repeat pur-
chases and in numerous positive testimonials from 
customers and patients. The fact that its products 
are available in up to 99 % of German pharmacies 
also demonstrates PharmaSGP‘s wide reach.

1.6 Group Structure

The wholly-owned subsidiaries PharmaSGP GmbH, 
Remitan GmbH, Restaxil GmbH, Fokusan Health 
GmbH (formerly PharmaSGP Vertriebs GmbH) and 
PharmaSGP Vitalmed GmbH operate under the um-
brella of PharmaSGP Holding SE.

PharmaSGP GmbH and Restaxil GmbH distribute the 
majority of OTC products in the Health Brands cate-
gory, while Remitan GmbH mainly sells products in 
the Beauty Brands category.

1.7 Locations and Employees

The registered office of the PharmaSGP companies is 
in Gräfelfing, Bavaria, Germany. As of 31 December 
2023, the Group had a total of 89 employees (full-
time equivalents) at this location, thereof 24 em-
ployed by SGP SE (31 December 2022: 79 employees, 
thereof 21 employed by SGP SE).

All relevant departments, including Marketing and 
Sales, Product Development, Quality Management 
& Regulatory Affairs, Operations, Controlling & Fi-
nance and other supporting functions are located 
at the Company’s offices in Gräfelfing. The produc-
tion of OTC drugs and healthcare products gener-
ally takes place in Germany and in European coun-
tries, in cooperation with selected and certified 
contract manufacturers. To distribute its products, 
PharmaSGP cooperates with logistics and distribu-

tion partners in the respective countries on a long-
term basis.

1.8  Management System and  
Performance Indicators 

The business planning and management of the 
Group is based on targets set by the Management 
Board. By means of budget planning, the targets are 
translated into measurable financial targets.

The operating business is managed based on select-
ed financial ratios. The financial performance indica-
tors are continuously monitored and presented to 
the Management Board in monthly reports. In partic-
ular, planned figures are compared with the results 
of the current business development (comparison of 
planned and actual figures). Appropriate measures 
are defined and implemented if there are deviations 
from the original targets.

The key performance indicators for the Management 
Board are revenues and adjusted earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (ad-
justed EBITDA) in order to measure the Company’s 
success. 

2. Economic Report

2.1  General Economic Environment and 
Industry-Specific Conditions 

2.1.1 General Economic Environment

According to the Kiel Institute for the World Econo-
my (IfW), the global economy was characterized by 
low momentum in 2023, although it developed bet-
ter than expected in view of high inflation and the 
tightening of monetary policy by the central banks.1 
After a growth rate of 3.3 % in the previous year, the 
global economy grew by 3.1 % in 2023, according to 
the Kiel-based economic researchers.2

According to calculations by the Federal Statistical 
Office, Germany’s price-adjusted gross domestic 
product (GDP) decreased by 0.3 % in 2023; in 2022, 
GDP had still grown by 1.8%.3 In addition to the 
slowdown in the global economy, declining con-
sumption and weak exports in particular had a neg-
ative impact on the German economy.4

Growth in price-adjusted GDP in the Eurozone as 
a whole was also subdued in 2023 and amounted 

to 0.5 % according to a preliminary survey by the 
IfW. In the previous year, GDP growth was much 
more dynamic at 3.4 %. The slowdown in growth in 
2023 is also evident in other key EU markets such as 
France and Italy, which grew only moderately at 0.8 
% and 0.7 % respectively.5

2.1.2 Industry-Specific Conditions

Fundamental trends such as the progressive ageing 
of society enable companies in the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare market relevant to PharmaSGP to 
grow relatively independently of economic cycles. 
Due to the fact that consumers prefer not to save 
on their health, pharmaceutical companies are also 
less affected by the negative effects of high inflation 
on purchasing behavior compared to the rest of the 
industry. At the same time, a continuous increase in 
health awareness and a trend towards natural med-
icines and increased self-medication can be seen in 
society. In Germany, the pharmacy market recorded 
year-on-year sales growth of 1.9 % in 2023.6 The OTC 
market recorded sales growth of 6.7 % in the same 
period.7

These generally positive trends are also reflected in 
the positive outlook for the OTC market. Sales of OTC 
pharmaceuticals in Europe are estimated to total 
around € 50.1 billion in 2024. Annual growth of 3.8 % 
is forecast for this market until 2028.8

2.2 Course of Business for PharmaSGP

In the financial year 2023, PharmaSGP continued its 
successful company development. Compared to the 
prior year, revenues have increased by 17.8 % with a 
profitability increase to 33.7 % in relation to revenues 
(adjusted EBITDA margin). This means that Phar-
maSGP is clearly outperforming the market and at 
the same time is able to lift the performance of some 
of its product brands well above the market trend.

The syndicate financing entered into in the prior year 
was redeemed as scheduled by € 8.000 thousand. 
This cash outflow as well as the dividend payment 
of € 5,875 thousand are fully covered by cash inflows 
from operating activities, thus PharmaSGP was able 
to increase it cash and cash equivalents to € 40,766 
thousand as of 31 December 2023.

In the current environment of rising interest rates, 
PharmaSGP significantly increased its treasury ac-
tivities in the financial year 2023, for example by 
higher investments in term deposits, money market 
funds and interest rate hedges. As a result of the 

intensified cash management, financial income has 
increased six-fold compared to the previous year to 
€ 2,179 thousand.

Overall, both the improved operating results and the 
expanded financing activities lead to an increase in 
the profit of the period 2023 of € 4,443 thousand or 
37.2 % compared to the prior year.

1  Institut für Weltwirtschaft (2023), Kieler Konjunkturberichte,  
Weltwirtschaft im Winter 2023, p. 2 

2  Ibid., p. 6
3  https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2024/01/

PD24_019_811.html
4  Institut für Weltwirtschaft (2023), Kieler Konjunkturberichte,  

Deutsche Wirtschaft im Winter 2023, p. 2
5  Institut für Weltwirtschaft (2023), Kieler Konjunkturberichte,  

Weltwirtschaft im Winter 2023, p. 19
6  IQVIA Marktbericht Classic: Entwicklung des deutschen  

Pharmamarktes im Jahr 2023, p. 17
7 Ibid., p. 25
8  https://de.statista.com/outlook/cmo/otc-pharma/europa
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2.3  Earnings, Assets and Financial  
Position of PharmaSGP

2.3.1 Earnings Position

Revenue development:  
Significant plus in revenues 
 

Revenues in € thousand

2022 2023

85,824
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+17.8 %
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Compared to the prior year, revenues have increased 
in the financial year 2023 by 17.8 % and achieved  
€ 101,099 thousand (2022: € 85,824 thousand). 
Growth was achieved in almost all indication areas 
of the Health Brands category and also in the Beauty 
Brand category.

Revenues by region: Internationalization, 
Germany remains key market

GermanyItaly

10 %
Austria

73 %

Other European countries
4 %

13 %

2023

GermanyItaly

11 %
Austria

71 %

Other European countries
6 %

12 %

2022

With a share of 73 % of the Group’s revenue in the 
financial year 2023, Germany remains the key mar-
ket by volume. The revenue share of Italy amounts to 
13 % in the financial year 2023, the revenue share of 
Austria amounts to 10 %.

Revenues by category: Health Brands  
major growth contributor

Revenues in € thousand
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Health Brands Beauty Brands

82,484

3,340 3,542

97,511

2022 2023

+18.2 %

+6.0 %

Almost all indication areas of the Health Brand cat-
egory contribute to the growth. Besides the indica-
tions rheumatic and neuralgic pain (covered by the 
product brands Restaxil® and RubaXX®), the indica-
tion area men and women’s health saw a strong in-
crease in the financial year 2023, PharmaSGP covers 
this area through its product brands DESEO® and 
Neradin®.

Revenues "Health Brands" in € thousand

DACH Other European
countries

70,242

12,242 14,969

82,542

3,4

2022 2023
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For the whole PharmaSGP Group, Health Brands 
have grown by 18.2 %, outside DACH region, growth 
was above average at 22.3 %. 

 Revenues "Beauty Brands" in € thousand

DACH Other European
countries

1,736 1,604 1,379

2,163

2022 2023

+24.6 %
-14.0 %

Also the Beauty Brands category grew in the DACH 
region. Growth contributor was the special treat-
ment for reddened skin Deruba®. 

In 2023, other operating income mainly includes 
insurance and other compensation from claims for 
damages as well as reimbursements from the Expense 
Equalization Act. Due to one-off effects in the prior 
year, this line item has decreased by € 214 thousand 
or 55.4 % to € 172 thousand in the financial year  2023.

Expenses for raw materials, consumables and 
finished goods have increased by € 430 thousand or 
4.8 % and amount to € 9,462 thousand in the finan-
cial year 2023 (2022: € 9,032 thousand). The increase 
corresponds to the development in revenues that 
have increased by 17.8 % in the same period. The 
cost of materials in relation to revenues amounts to 
9.4 % in 2023 (2022: 10.5 %), this equals a gross mar-
gin of 90.6 % in the financial year 2023. The improve-
ment compared to the previous year (2022: 89.5 %) 
is due to the strong growth of high-margin products 
in 2023.

The personnel expenses amount to € 7,342 thou-
sand in the financial year 2023 (2022: € 6,912 thou-
sand). The increase mainly results from an increase 
in headcount in connection with the growth of the 
Group.

Markteting expenses amount to € 43,381 thousand 
in the financial year 2023 (2022: € 37,378 thousand). 
The increase of 16.1 % is lower than the increase in 
revenues, leading to a further decrease of the mar-
keting quota, i. e. marketing expenses in relation to 
revenues, to now 42.9 % (2022: 43.6%). The reason 
for this improvement is a further improvement in the 
efficient use of marketing expenditure.

Other operating expenses of € 7,077 thousand in-
creased by 18.8 % compared to the previous year 
(2022: € 5,955 thousand). The main driver within this 
item is logistics expenses, which have increased in 
line with the sales trend as expected.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortization (EBITDA): further increase in 
profitability
As a result of the increase in revenues, the growth on 
high-margin products and the more effective use of 
marketing expenditures, EBITDA could be increased 
to 33.6 % in relation to revenues.
 

in € thousand 2023 2022

Adjusted EBITDA 34,088 28,229

Adjusted EBITDA margin 33.7 % 32.9 %

Expenses for legal and consulting 
costs in connection with acquisitions 89 95

Expenses in connection with the 
long-term compensation of the 
Management Board -16 135

Other one-time, non-recurring and 
non-operative expenses 6 1,066

Unadjusted EBITDA 34,009 26,933

Unadjusted EBITDA margin 33.6 % 31,4 %

 
The key performance indicator to PharmaSGP is 
EBITDA adjusted by one-time costs and special ef-
fects. In the financial year 2023, these one-time 
costs and special effects mainly relate to the long-
term compensation of the Management Board and 
expenses in connection with acquisitions. Due to 
adjustments to the provision for long-term compen-
sation of the Management Board, an income was 
adjusted in 2023. In the previous year, an additional 
one-time compensation component was incurred, 
which was adjusted.

As in the prior year, depreciation and amortization 
of € 9,371 thousand in the financial year 2023 (2022: 
€ 9,250 thousand) mainly results from the product 
brands and marketing authorizations acquired in  
August 2021.

Finance income of € 2,179 thousand in 2023 was 
mainly generated from interest gains on short-term 
time deposits, from price gains of money market 
funds and from the settlement of interest rate hedg-
es. The increase compared to the prior year (2022:  
€ 308 thousand) results from increased interest rates 
and extended treasury activities of PharmaSGP.
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Finance expenses of € 4,924 thousand (2022:  
€ 2,188 thousand) mainly comprise interest and oth-
er financing costs in connection with the syndicate 
financing entered into in the prior year.

The income tax expense in the financial year 2023  
is € 5,496 thousand (2022: € 3,849 thousand). The 
profit for the period 2023 is € 16,397 thousand 
(2022: € 11,954 thousand). The Management Board 
proposes a distribution of € 1.36 per share to the 
shareholders. This corresponds to a total distribu-
tion of € 16,320 thousand or 99.5 % of the Group’s 
profit for the period – disregarding treasury shares. If 
treasury shares exist at the time of distribution, they 
are not entitled to dividends. The Annual General 
Meeting will decide on the final profit distribution.

2.3.2 Asset Position  
 
Assets in € thousand

Non-current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets

18,867

77,600

32,642

129,109 131,299

31/12/2022 31/12/2023
0,000000

21,666667

43,333333

65,000000

86,666667

108,333333

130,000000

22,051

40,766

68,482

Since the last balance sheet date 31 December 2022, 
non-current assets have decreased by € 9,118 thou-
sand or 11,8 % and amount to € 68,482 thousand as 
of 31 December 2023. The main changes were regu-
lar amortization of intangible assets and capitalized 
rights-of-use assets. 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by 24.9 % to 
€ 40,766 thousand due to the positive earnings situ-
ation and the resulting cash inflows from operating 
activities.

The increase in other current assets of € 3,184 
thousand is primarily due to the increase in invento-
ries and higher trade receivables in connection with 
the revenue increase.

 Equity and liabilities in € thousand

Current liabilities

Equity
Non-current liabilities

129,109 131,299

31/12/2022 31/12/2023
0,000000

21,666667

43,333333

65,000000

86,666667

108,333333

130,000000 24,594

 66.951

39,754

22,742

75,270

31,097

The change in the Group’s equity results from the 
profit of the period of € 16,397 thousand, the divi-
dend of € 5,875 thousand as resolved by the Annual 
General Meeting on 28 June 2023, the reduction of 
reserves for cash flow hedges of € 1,579 thousand, 
and from the repurchase of treasury shares of € 286 
thousand, that are deducted from equity. Reserves 
for cash flow hedges were presented under the posi-
tion “Accumulated other comprehensive income” as 
of 31 December 2022; as of 31 December 2023 they 
are subsumed as other reserves together with trea-
sury shares.

Due to regular redemptions of financial and lease  
liabilities, non-current liabilities have decreased to 
€ 66,951 thousand as of 31 December 2023.

Compared to the prior year balance sheet date, 
current liabilities have increase by € 1,852 thou-
sand or 8.1 % to € 24,954 thousand. The increase is 
mainly due to higher trade payables in connection 
with the increase in revenues and higher income 
tax liabilities.

2.3.3 Financial Position

in € thousand 2023 2022

Net cash flows from  
operating activities 26,639 24,713

Net cash flows used in  
investing activities -866 -787

Net cash flows used in  
financing activities -17,649 -12,108

Net increase in cash  
and cash equivalents 8,124 11,818

Cash and cash equivalents  
as of 1 January 32,642 20,824

Cash and cash equivalents  
as of 31 December 40,766 32,642

In the financial year 2023, PharmaSGP could gener-
ate net cash flows from operating activities in the 
amount of € 26,639 thousand (2022: € 24,713 thou-
sand). The improvement results from the plus in rev-
enues and the improved profitability. PharmaSGP 
increased its working capital by € 3,204 thousand in 
the financial year 2023, mainly in the form of inven-
tories. Therefore, the cash inflow from operating ac-
tivities (+7.8 %) did not increase to the same extent 
as earnings before interest and taxes (+26.3 %).

As in the prior year, cash outflows from investing  
activities were used for investments in PharmaSGP’s 
marketing authorizations.

The cash outflow from financing activities in the 
financial 2023 year includes a dividend payment of  
€ 5,875 thousand, the regular repayment of the syn-
dicate financing of € 8,000 thousand (plus a payment 
of € 54 thousand for other financing costs), the re-
purchase of treasury shares for € 286 thousand as 
well as € 3,990 thousand for interest payments and 
€ 440 thousand for the repayment of lease liabilities. 
For the first time in the financial year 2023, net cash 
inflows of € 996 thousand were generated from in-
terest rate hedges.

2.4  Earnings, Assets and Financial  
Position of PharmaSGP Holding SE

Business activity
PharmaSGP Holding SE with registered office at 
Lochhamer Schlag 1, 82166 Gräfelfing, Germany is a 
European Company (Societas Europaea, “SE”) under 
European and German law. The Company is entered 
in the commercial register of the Munich Local Court 
under HRB 255684. 

Since 30 April 2020, SGP SE is the holding compa-
ny of the Group. It does not generate any revenues 
from third parties, however, it performs administra-
tive tasks for its operating subsidiaries PharmaSGP 
GmbH, Remitan GmbH, Restaxil GmbH, Fokusan 
Health GmbH (formerly PharmaSGP Vertriebs GmbH) 
and PharmaSGP Vitalmed GmbH.

In its function as holding company of the Group, 
the main opportunities and risks of the operating 
subsidiaries directly impact the main opportuni-
ties and risks of PharmaSGP Holding SE. There are 
domination and profit and loss transfer agreements 
between SGP SE and the operating companies Phar-
maSGP GmbH, Remitan, Restaxil GmbH, Fokusan 
Health GmbH and PharmaSGP Vitalmed GmbH. The 
outlook on the business development provided in 
the “Report on expected development” also impacts 
the results of SGP SE and the outlook provided for 
PharmaSGP Group is applicable for SGP SE.

Earnings position
In the financial year 2023, SGP SE generated reve-
nues of € 2,976 thousand from rendering services to 
its subsidiaries (2022: € € 2,445 thousand). Third-par-
ty services are recharged to subsidiaries according to 
the source of the costs. Income from those recharg-
es is recognized as other operating income (€ 390 
thousand, 2022: € 881 thousand).

Personnel expenses of € 2,695 thousand (2022:  
€ 3,246 thousand) result from remuneration for the 
Management Board as well as for the Human Re-
sources, Legal and Finance departments and other 
administrative departments of the Group. Depreci-
ation of € 156 thousand (2022: € 175 thousand) was 
mainly incurred for acquired office furniture and 
equipment. Other operating expenses of € 2,870 
thousand (2022: € 3,235 thousand) mainly include le-
gal and consulting costs, office rent, expenses for au-
ditors, tax consulting and other third-party services.

Interest expenses increase due to syndicate financ-
ing entered into in the financial year 2022. Interest 
income mainly includes interest on loans granted to 
subsidiaries.

Based on the profit and loss transfer agreements, 
the annual net profits or losses of the subsidiaries 
for the financial year 2023 under commercial law of 
€ 23,413 thousand (2022: € 18,356 thousand) were 
transferred to SGP SE.

Income taxes comprise current income taxes of  
€ 5,380 thousand (2022: € 3,650 thousand) and de-
ferred income taxes of € 94 thousand (2022: deferred 



34 35PharmaSGP    |    To Our Shareholders    |    Combined Management Report    |    Consolidated Financial Statements    |    Other Information

income tax benefit of € 19 thousand). The financial 
year 2023 was concluded with an annual profit of 
€ 16,427 thousand (2022: € 11,298 thousand). The 
increase compared to the previous year is mainly 
due to the higher profit transfers from subsidiaries, 
which in turn resulted from the growth in operating 
business.

Net assets
SGP SE’s total assets have increased in the past finan-
cial year from € 154,103 thousand as of 31 December 
2022 to € 178,947 thousand as of 31 December 2023. 
The increase in total assets is mainly due to the net 
profit for 2023 and a new cash pooling procedure. 
As part of this cash pooling introduced in Novem-
ber 2023, the bank balances of SGP SE’s subsidiaries 
are transferred to the parent company at the end of 
each day. This enables SGP SE to carry out more ef-
fective treasury activities and benefit from the favor-
able interest rate environment. The subsidiaries of 
SGP SE benefit from this procedure through interest 
income.

The shares in affiliated companies of € 50,110 thou-
sand presented under financial assets comprise 
the carrying amounts of the investments in the five 
subsidiaries PharmaSGP GmbH, Remitan GmbH, Re-
staxil GmbH, Fokusan Health GmbH and PharmaSGP 
Vitalmed GmbH. The increase compared to the prior 
year stems from the foundation of PharmaSGP Vi-
talmed GmbH in 2023. Loans to affiliated companies 
comprise a loan to PharmaSGP GmbH in the amount 
of € 78,000 thousand. It was redeemed by € 7,000 
thousand in the financial year 2023.

Receivables from affiliated companies mainly result 
from the outstanding profit transfers for the finan-
cial year 2023. The amounts reported as securities 
include highly liquid money market funds, the in-
crease from € 9,646 thousand in the prior year to 
€ 36,438 thousand as of 31 December 2023 stems 
from the cash pooling.

Equity increased to € 79,089 thousand as of 31 De-
cember 2023 due to the positive net income. Divi-
dends totaling € 5,875 thousand were distributed in 
the financial year 2023.

As of 31 December 2023, liabilities to banks comprise 
the syndicate financing entered into in 2022, which 
was redemed by € 8,000 thousand as planned in the 
financial year 2023. The balance of the liability as of 
31 December 2023 is € 74,000 thousand. There is 
an additional credit line of € 50,000 thousand from 
the syndicate loan agreement, which has not yet 
been utilized. The liabilities to affiliated companies of  

€ 22,494 thousand as of 31 December 2023 mainly 
result from the cash pooling process.

Financial position
As of 31 December 2023, SGP SE had cash and cash 
equivalents of € 40,324 thousand (31 December 2022: 
€ 10,796 thousand), thereof in the form of highly liq-
uid money market funds of € 36,438 thousand and 
regular bank balances and cash on hand of € 3,886 
thousand. The main source of liquidity were cash 
inflows from the recharge of services to the subsid-
iaries, from cash pooling, from profit transfers of the 
prior year and prepaid profit transfers for the current 
financial year.

2.5 Overall Statement

PharmaSGP looks back on another successful finan-
cial year, in which the key figures for measuring the 
company’s success have improved significantly. Com-
pared to the financial year 2022, PharmaSGP’s reve-
nues have increased in 2023 by 17.8 % to € 101,099 
thousand. This growth was achieved in almost all 
indication areas of PharmaSGP’s product portfolio. 
Adjusted EBITDA achieved € 34,088 thousand in the 
same period, an increase of 20.8 % compared to the 
prior year. Accordingly, the adjusted EBITDA margin 
was 33.7 % in 2023, 0.8 percentage points higher 
than in 2022.

In the Annual Report 2022, the Management Board of 
PharmaSGP had issued a forecast according to which 
revenues in the range between € 91 million and € 96 
million were expected for the year 2023. The adjust-
ed EBITDA margin was expected to range between  
€ 30.0 million and € 34.0 million, corresponding to 
an adjusted EBITDA margin of between 33.0 % and  
35.4 %. On 14 November 2023, the Management 
Board raised the revenue forecast to a range be-
tween € 95 million and € 100 million. In terms of rev-
enues, the forecast issued in the 2022 Annual Report 
was significantly exceeded. The forecast for adjusted 
EBITDA was slightly exceeded.

In addition to the earnings position, the financial and 
asset position also improved further. Cash inflows 
from operating activities increased by 7.8 % com-
pared to the previous year. Cash and cash equiva-
lents available as of 31 December 2023 significantly 
exceeded total current liabilities and accounted for 
31 % of the Group’s total assets as of 31 December 
2023.

For PharmaSGP Holding SE, the outlook provided 
in the Annual Report 2022 forecast a slight increase 

of adjusted operating expenses in the financial year 
2023 compared to the previous year. The actual in-
crease amounts to 3.7 % and is therefore in line with 
the forecast.

3. Report on Expected Developments

This combined management report contains for-
ward-looking statements based on management‘s 
current forecast of PharmaSGP‘s future develop-
ment. The forecast report is based on estimates 
made by PharmaSGP that factor in all the informa-
tion available at the time this combined management 
report was completed. Moreover, these statements 
are also subject to risks and uncertainties that are 
beyond the Company‘s ability to control. Should the 
assumptions underlying the outlook prove incorrect 
or the risks or opportunities described materialize, 
actual results and developments (both negative and 
positive) may differ materially from the statements 
made in this report on expected developments. 

Macroeconomic and sectoral development
Economic development in the Eurozone as a whole 
was very subdued in 2023. Germany even recorded 
a decline in price-adjusted gross domestic product 
(GDP). For the Eurozone, the IfW Kiel expects GDP to 
grow slightly by 0.7 % in 2024 compared to the previ-
ous year.9 No real recovery is expected for Germany 
in the first half of the year. Based on early indicators, 
the IfW Kiel expects economic output to stagnate. 
For the second half of the year, only minimal growth 
is also expected, meaning that GDP is only expected 
to increase by 0.1 %.10 Structural problems in par-
ticular are weighing on the positive development of 
the German economy. As consumer price inflation is 
expected to fall noticeably, the IfW Kiel assumes that 
real disposable income will rise in the current year 
for the first time in three years, which will stimulate 
private consumption. The Deutsche Bundesbank is 
also forecasting an increase in purchasing power  
for 2024.11

The key, fundamental trends for the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare market, such as demographic devel-
opments associated with an ageing society, a contin-
uous increase in health awareness and the trends 
towards natural medicines and increased self-med-
ication in society, will continue to be fundamental 
growth drivers – despite the current macroeconom-
ic uncertainties. According to the latest forecast by 
Statista12, the OTC pharmaceutical market in Germa-
ny is expected to generate sales of € 9.28 billion in 
2024, compared to € 9.10 billion in 2023.13

PharmaSGP Group outlook for 2024
PharmaSGP’s Management Board expects the 
Group’s revenue and profitability to continue to de-
velop positively in 2024. In total, revenue in the range 
of € 107.0 million to € 112.0 million is expected for 
2024. In addition, the Management Board anticipates 
a further increase in adjusted EBITDA with an expect-
ed value of between € 35.0 million and € 38.0 million. 
This implies an adjusted EBITDA margin in relation to 
revenues of 32.7 % to 33.9 % (comparative figure for 
2023: 33.7 %).

These expectations are based on the assumption that 
there will be no significant negative effects on our tar-
get markets in the further course of 2024 due to the 
ongoing geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe and 
continued uncertain scenarios on inflation. The out-
look does not include possible M&A transactions.

Outlook for PharmaSGP Holding SE
The key performance indicator for the Company 
is operating expenses adjusted for non-recurring 
costs and special effects. The adjustments are calcu-
lated using the same system as for adjusted Group 
EBITDA. For the financial year 2024, management 
expects adjusted expenses to increase slightly com-
pared to 2023.

The forecast for the financial year 2024 is based on 
the following assumptions:

• Retention of existing recharge agreements with 
subsidiaries

• Unchanged shareholding structure

• Unchanged legal and tax environment

4. Opportunities and Risk Report

PharmaSGP is active in markets with long-term 
growth potential as a consumer health company 
with a diversified portfolio of OTC pharmaceuticals 
and other healthcare products. Its business mod-

9  Institut für Weltwirtschaft (IfW Kiel), Kieler Konjunkturberichte  
Nr. 111, März 2024 

10  Institut für Weltwirtschaft (IfW Kiel), Kieler Konjunkturberichte  
Nr. 112, März 2024

11  Sinkende Inflation: Deutsche Bundesbank (2023), Monatsbericht 
Dezember 2023, S. 15; Steigendes Einkommen: ifo Institut (2023), 
ifo Schnelldienst 12/2023, p. 51

12  Im Vergleich zum Vorjahr hat Statista in der aktuellen Prognose 
(Stand: Februar 2024) die Anzahl der Segmente, aus denen sich 
der Gesamtumsatz zusammensetzt, erweitert.

13 OTC Pharma - Deutschland | Statista Marktprognose
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el is subject to corresponding challenges and risks, 
for example as the result of intensive competition 
or changes in consumer acceptance of its products. 
Effective coordinated management systems for cor-
porate governance are necessary in order to detect 
risks at an early stage and manage them, ensure reli-
able financial reporting and comply with internal and 
external regulations and laws. The main features of 
the individual corporate governance elements (risk 
management system, internal control system and 
compliance management) are described below.

4.1 Risk Management System

The aim of the implemented risk management sys-
tem is to detect changes at an early stage that could 
have a negative effect on the planned operational 
and strategic objectives of the Group and to make 
use of possible opportunities for growth. An assess-
ment of identified risks and opportunities is used 
to evaluate the extent of their impact on company 
success and to minimize or even entirely avoid the 
impact of negative events with suitable countermea-
sures. The PharmaSGP risk management system cov-
ers PharmaSGP Holding SE and all its subsidiaries.

Organization and responsibilities
The Management Board of PharmaSGP has set up 
an early risk identification system in line with Sec. 
91 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
It makes decisions on the risk strategy of the Group 
and approves the corresponding risk management 
structures and processes. The Management Board 
defines the Company-wide risk policy. This is used as 
a guideline for handling risks and opportunities with-
in the Company, forming the framework for risk man-
agement. Alongside information about the individual 
steps in the risk management process, the guideline 
also contains details about risk management respon-
sibilities and tasks. Given the dynamic environment, 
the contents of the guideline are reviewed regularly 
and modified by the risk management committee if 
necessary, in order to ensure it remains up to date. 
The Supervisory Board ensures the effectiveness of 
the implemented risk management system within the 
framework of monitoring by the Management Board. 

Each relevant organizational unit of the Company ap-
points a selected manager as a member of the risk 
management committee. The committee is respon-
sible for the modification and further development 
of the risk management system in cooperation with 
the Management Board. The members of the risk 
management committee are responsible for iden-
tifying and assessing the risks and opportunities in 

their company divisions. As a matter of principle, 
each PharmaSGP employee is obliged to notify their 
respective manager of potential risks. The appointed 
risk management officer uses the reported risks and 
opportunities to prepare a risk portfolio at regular in-
tervals, which is then made available to the risk man-
agement committee and the Management Board. 
The risk management officer also handles central 
coordination of the risk management process and 
supports the company divisions in risk assessments.

Risk management process
Regular identification, assessment, management and 
monitoring of risks and opportunities is carried out 
in all the relevant organizational units of the Group.

A risk is defined as a negative deviation from the 
planned operational and strategic objectives of the 
Group that could put the achievement of the set 
objectives at risk if it occurred. An opportunity is a 
positive deviation from the planned operational and 
strategic objectives. PharmaSGP provides its employ-
ees with a catalogue of various potential risks and a 
standardized report file in order to be able to identify 
risks as comprehensively and completely as possible. 
To ensure consistent recording and assessment of 
the individual risks and opportunities, a standardized 
reporting file is used. Furthermore, corresponding 
countermeasures that can help reduce the individ-
ual risks are defined in that standardized reporting. 
Risks and opportunities are reviewed at regular in-
tervals to check that the existing risks and opportu-
nities are up to date and newly identified risks and 
opportunities are added.

The identified risks are quantified in an assessment 
on a rolling basis over the 36 months following the 
date they are first assessed, with the respective peri-
od for review used for estimating the extent of dam-
age and the probability of occurrence being twelve 
months each time. Gross and net assessments are 
carried out for each risk. Net assessment is based 
on the gross risk with all due consideration of all 
countermeasures already implemented that reduce 
the extent of damage and the probability of occur-
rence of the gross risk.

PharmaSGP differentiates between event and plan-
ning risks in order to record and assess risks appro-
priately. Event risks are usually one-off events with 
a low probability of occurrence and high extent of 
damage. The assessment specified both the prob-
ability of occurrence and the extent of damage. 
Planning risks arise from highly volatile items in 
corporate planning and are characterized by a high 
probability of occurrence. This is why only the extent 

of damage is assessed for this risk type. However, 
this high volatility can also lead to positive deviations 
from corporate planning and therefore represent an 
opportunity for the Group.

While the probability of occurrence only has to be 
specified for the assessment of event risks, the ex-
tent of damage must be specified for both risk types, 
in order to assess the financial impact on earnings 
before interest and taxes (EBIT). The financial impact 
on the annual net profit is assessed for financial and 
tax risks.

The following risk matrices are defined for planning 
and event risks, showing the aggregated risks based 
on net assessment:

               Risk matrix for event risks

0 % to < 5 %
very low

5 % to < 10 %
low

10 % to < 20 %
medium

20 % to 50 %
high

> 50 %
very high

very low low medium high very high

Extent of 
damage 
(€ thousand)

500 to
< 1,000

1,000 to
< 1,500

1,500 to
2,000

> 2,000< 500

low
risk

medium 
risk

high 
risk

 
               Risk matrix for planning risks

very low low medium high very high

Extent of 
damage 
(€ thousand)

500 to
< 1,000

1,000 to
< 1,500

1,500 to
2,000

> 2,000< 500

low
risk

medium 
risk

high 
risk
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Should demand for these products decline due to 
negative developments in their target markets, this 
could adversely affect the Group’s business per-
formance.  Demand could be adversely affected 
by inflation in particular if this is higher than fore-
cast. An increase in purchasing power is forecast for 
the economy as a whole in 202414. In addition, end 
consumers generally try to keep their spending on 
healthcare, particularly on pharmaceuticals, high 
even when purchasing power declines. By constantly 
monitoring and analysing the market situation, Phar-
maSGP monitors such changes and takes appropri-
ate measures to optimize earnings if product sales 
do not develop as planned. Taking into account the 
extent of the loss, the risk is classified as medium.

Furthermore, competitive pressure in the Phar-
maSGP target markets could increase, which could 
similarly have a negative impact on the Group‘s busi-
ness. PharmaSGP counters this risk by continuously 
monitoring the competitive situation in the prod-
uct-related submarkets and the economic devel-
opment of the individual products and brands. The 
impact of the risk on business results is classified as 
medium with all due consideration of the extent of 
damage.

Despite the economic uncertainties, PharmaSGP 
sees good medium- and long-term growth oppor-
tunities in all its target markets. In addition to the 
increasing age of the population and the continu-
ously increase in consumer health awareness of, 
social trends towards medicines with natural active 
ingredients and increased self-medication in particu-
lar, favor the demand for PharmaSGP’s products. In 
addition, the Group has a business model that en-
ables the company to respond quickly to structural 
and demand-related market changes. An essential 
part of PharmaSGP’s growth strategy is to strongly 
expand established brands and products through 
M&A activities by means of the PharmaSGP platform 
and thus to significantly accelerate the growth rate 
of PharmaSGP. PharmaSGP may need to deploy 
unscheduled resources to identify and successfully 
integrate attractive target portfolios or target com-
panies. The integration of acquired portfolios or 
companies may only be realized at higher costs. To 
counteract these risks, PharmaSGP conducts exten-
sive due diligence audits in acquisition processes 
involving relevant business units and experienced 
external consultants. Integration processes are over-
seen by experienced project teams from all relevant 

specialist departments. The risk of insufficient syner-
gy potential in relation to acquisitions already carried 
out is unchanged compared to the prior year. The 
potential impact of the risk on business performance 
is classified as low, taking into account the extent of 
the damage.

In principle, however, expansion by means of the 
PharmaSGP platform provides the opportunity to 
create considerable value enhancement potential 
beyond organic development.

Risks and opportunities associated  
with the product portfolio
PharmaSGP regularly adds new products to its prod-
uct portfolio or strengthens the existing product port-
folio with the help of optimized marketing strategies. 
However, the success of new product launches or re-
launches depends on various factors, some of which 
are beyond the Group’s control. No or only low mar-
ket acceptance of the new products or delays in the 
market launch can have a negative impact on Phar-
maSGP’s sales and earnings development. A product 
that is considered promising at the beginning of its 
development cycle may lose its attractiveness due to 
changes in the market. In addition, PharmaSGP may 
not correctly assess the potential market for new 
products and the optimization of marketing strate-
gies may miss their mark. To prevent this, the devel-
opment of the OTC market and the market segments 
relevant to PharmaSGP is constantly monitored. Reg-
ular trend analyses, the expansion and continuous 
monitoring of all marketing campaigns, help to identi-
fy and exploit growth opportunities more quickly. The 
potential impact of the risk on PharmaSGP’s business 
performance is classified as medium, taking into ac-
count the extent of the damage.

PharmaSGP‘s business depends on brand strength 
and consumer awareness. If consumers distrust 
PharmaSGP’s brands or OTC products with natural 
active ingredients in general, or see an increased risk 
in a potential occurrence of undesirable effects when 
taking chemical-synthetic medicines, this may have a 
negative impact on the Group’s business results. A 
product recall as the result of a quality defect could 
also have a negative impact on brand image. Phar-
maSGP counters this with a comprehensive quality 
management system and close monitoring of the 
market and its service providers. The risk is classified 
as medium with all due consideration of the proba-
bility of occurrence and the extent of damage.

To promote the strength and awareness of its 
brands, PharmaSGP invests significantly in direct 
marketing to potential customers. The Group’s rev-

enues development depends on the efficiency and 
effectiveness of its marketing activities. If advertising 
slots cannot be booked at all or not at the planned 
time of publication, this can have a negative effect 
on the business performance and the further estab-
lishment of the brand with end customers. Estab-
lished booking processes, close monitoring of fixed 
bookings, and regular reviews of the effectiveness 
of marketing measures counteract these risks. The 
advertising of OTC products can be subject to exten-
sive regulatory requirements in PharmaSGP’s target 
markets. In some cases, the advertising of products 
is even dependent on prior approval by the relevant 
state authorities. Failure to comply with or viola-
tion of applicable legal requirements may result in 
contractual penalties or administrative fines. Adver-
tisements and commercials are therefore reviewed 
and approved by the Product Marketing and Legal 
departments prior to publication. The potential im-
pact of the risks described above on PharmaSGP’s 
business performance is classified as low, taking into 
account the probability of occurrence and the extent 
of damage.

PharmaSGP purchases advertising space for TV 
sponts and print advertisement as well as advertising 
services in online marketing via a marketing agency. 
A change in purchasing conditions can lead to an in-
crease in marketing costs and thus to a reduction in 
the business result. Monthly strategy meetings with 
the service provider enable cost planning and con-
trol as well as timely strategy changes. The potential 
impact of the risk on PharmaSGP’s business perfor-
mance is classified as low, taking into account the ex-
tent of the damage.

Growth for PharmaSGP in Germany and abroad is 
driven by

• the expansion of established brand families 
through the addition of new products and dos-
age forms, and the development of new brand 
families. This involves the use of marketing au-
thorizations or formulation developments for 
healthcare products that are already in exis-
tence, newly acquired or under development.

• The expansion of acquired brands and port-
folios that already have a relevant revenues 
volume on the market, which can be further 
increased through integration into the Phar-
maSGP platform.

The main strength of PharmaSGP lies in its marketing 
and sales competence. Products may exceed planned 
expectations as a result of extensive market accep-

The identified and assessed risks are grouped into 
the following categories for the risk report:

• Market-related and strategic risks

• Risks associated with the product portfolio

• Regulatory risks

• Procurement, production and logistics risks

• Personnel risks

• IT risks

• Legal risks

• Financial risks

The internal risk report is presented by the risk 
management officer during the risk management 
committee meeting and the current risk position is 
subsequently reported to the Management Board. 
However, new risks that exceed the defined extent 
of damage are reported directly to the Management 
Board as immediate risk reports. On a regular basis, 
the Supervisory Board is provided a report summa-
rizing the risk assessment. Main focus is placed on 
risks classified as medium or high.

Since 2021, a systematic reconciliation of the aggre-
gated risks with the risk-bearing capacity of Phar-
maSGP has been performed annually in order to 
meet the requirements of the revised Auditing Stan-
dard 340 of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germa-
ny (IDW PS 340). The result of this reconciliation is 
included in the overall assessment of PharmaSGP’s 
risk and opportunity position.

Furthermore, the effectiveness of the risk manage-
ment system is reviewed every 2-3 years as part of an 
internal audit. The last internal audit was performed 
on 31 December 2023.

4.2 Overview of Risks and Opportunities

Market-related and strategic risks  
and opportunities
PharmaSGP develops and distributes OTC medicines 
and other healthcare products such as dietary sup-
plements and skin care products. The Group focuses 
its drugs on indications with chronic conditions and 
mainly on natural active ingredients with document-
ed efficacy. 14  Sinkende Inflation: Deutsche Bundesbank (2023), Monatsbericht 

Dezember 2023, S. 15; Steigendes Einkommen: ifo Institut (2023), 
ifo Schnelldienst 12/2023, p. 51.
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tance and an effective marketing strategy. Successful 
use of the PharmaSGP platform can thus generate 
further positive contributions to business results be-
yond planning and enable the development of new 
European markets with established Group brands. 
If PharmaSGP also increases its media volume, this 
may favor obtaining more advantageous purchasing 
conditions for advertising services.

Regulatory risks
PharmaSGP is required to comply with many differ-
ent laws and regulations in its markets, including 
those relating to the development, manufacture, dis-
tribution, marketing and supervision of OTC pharma-
ceuticals and other healthcare products.

Before PharmaSGP is allowed to launch a new med-
icine, for example a marketing authorization must 
be obtained from the relevant national authority. 
Even after this is granted, the safety, efficacy and 
manufacture of PharmaSGP’s products, among oth-
er things, continue to be regulated and thoroughly 
reviewed by national authorities. It may be necessary 
to submit post-marketing safety and other informa-
tion and reports to ensure regulatory compliance. 
PharmaSGP is also required to report adverse drug 
reactions, quality and manufacturing problems. The 
discovery of defects or failure to comply with regula-
tory requirements may result in marketing or man-
ufacturing restrictions or product recalls or further 
sanctions. Furthermore, there is a risk that contract 
manufacturers may fail to meet standards for the 
manufacturing process and that PharmaSGP’s prod-
ucts may not be manufactured in accordance with 
PharmaSGP’s specifications and applicable laws and 
regulations. Adequate safety stock for active ingre-
dients and finished goods reduces this risk. Phar-
maSGP addresses all regulatory risks with a quality 
management system implemented throughout the 
Group. This is supervised by the Quality Assurance 
department, continuously developed and checked 
for compliance.

The impact of the regulatory risks on PharmaSGP‘s 
business results is classified as medium with all due 
consideration of the probability of occurrence and 
the extent of damage.

Procurement, production and logistics risks
PharmaSGP is exposed to the risk of increasing pro-
curement prices for raw materials and supplies due 
to changes in the market and demand on the pur-
chasing side. Likewise, increasing production costs 
and quality deficiencies in the goods manufactured 
by the contract manufacturer can have a negative ef-
fect on the business result. 

PharmaSGP is dependent on third parties for the 
supply of raw materials and other goods as well as 
for the production of its non-prescription OTC and 
other healthcare products. External factors, such as 
the availability of raw materials and packaging ma-
terials or disruptions in the production process that 
are not under PharmaSGP’s control, may adversely 
affect the availability of finished goods, so that de-
livery could be delayed and existing demand could 
not be fully met. PharmaSGP has an adequate safe-
ty stock for active ingredients and finished goods so 
that short-term price fluctuations, possible quality 
defects, raw material shortages, disruptions in the 
production process and other risks from external 
factors can be compensated. The inventory is regu-
larly reviewed by the responsible business units and 
price developments are analyzed. Due to the diversi-
fied network of contract manufacturers, PharmaSGP 
is also able to switch to alternative partners. In order 
to qualify as a PharmaSGP partner, all third-party 
manufacturers and suppliers are carefully selected 
and subjected to a strict auditing process.

The potential impact of risks from price fluctuations 
and quality defects is classified as medium, taking 
into account the extent of damage. The potential 
impact of risks arising from disruptions in the pro-
duction process or even the failure of a contract 
manufacturer is classified as medium, taking into 
account the probability of occurrence and the extent 
of damage.

After manufacturing, the products are stored by and 
distributed through one logistics provider per target 
region. PharmaSGP is therefore dependent on these 
external logistics providers for the timely delivery of 
products to wholesalers and pharmacies in order to 
meet pharmacy demand. Any disruption in the lo-
gistics chain due to the failure of these providers to 
fulfill their contractual obligations may result in de-
lays, increased costs and lost sales for PharmaSGP. 
PharmaSGP counters this risk through regular audits 
of existing partners, business and loss of revenue in-
surance, and further expansion of the logistics part-
ner network. The potential impact of the described 
logistics risk on PharmaSGP’s business performance 
is classified as medium, taking into account the prob-
ability of occurrence and the extent of damage.

IT risks
The efficient and uninterrupted operation of its IT 
infrastructure is crucial for PharmaSGP to ensure 
continuous business operations. The risk of suffer-
ing a loss of digital information can arise from, for 
example, inadequate or insufficient data backup or 
damaging attacks by external parties. PharmaSGP 

counters these risks with, among other things, an ap-
propriate authorization concept, sufficient IT backup 
systems (e. g. central anti-virus programs), regular 
software and hardware maintenance, and routine 
backups of business-critical data. The potential im-
pact of IT risk on the Group’s business performance 
is therefore classified as low, taking into account the 
probability of occurrence and the extent of damage.

Personnel risks
The further expansion of PharmaSGP’s business ac-
tivities depends to a large extent on the motivation 
and qualification of its employees. In order to ensure 
the continuous development of existing employees, 
but also to meet relevant regulatory requirements (e. 
g. in the areas of pharmacovigilance, drug safety, oc-
cupational safety, etc.), regular training courses are 
held and documented accordingly.

In addition, PharmaSGP employs important and not 
easily replaceable key employees in some areas of 
the company. If such an employee leaves the compa-
ny, this can lead to short-term process delays or hin-
drances and, under certain circumstances, to a loss 
of knowledge. PharmaSGP counters this with a fast 
and transparent recruiting process as well as appro-
priate measures for personnel development. In addi-
tion, a deputy is appointed for each key position so 
that the transfer of know-how and the maintenance 
of processes is guaranteed.

The impact of the personnel risks on the Group‘s 
business results is classified as low with all due con-
sideration of the probability of occurrence and the 
extent of damage.

Legal risks
As a listed company, PharmaSGP is subject to capital 
market laws and regulations. If it does not comply 
with legal requirements, PharmaSGP could be threat-
ened with fines or legal action. The loss of personal 
data and other GDPR violations could also result in 
high fines. In order to avoid violations of capital mar-
ket law, all employees undergo regular training about 
this subject area. Internal coordination and control 
processes also ensure compliance with statutory 
regulations and provisions. This means the impact 
of the legal risks on PharmaSGP‘s business results 
is classified as low with all due consideration of the 
probability of occurrence and the extent of damage.

Financial risks
PharmaSGP distributes its products via a range of 
logistics partners. Among other things, these part-
ners handle payment processing with wholesalers 
and pharmacies. If such payments are not made, 

bad debts may arise for PharmaSGP. The Group is 
also subject to general national tax legislation. In-
correct handling of tax issues, particularly in terms 
of input and output VAT, could lead to objections by 
the tax authorities and may also lead to high arrears 
payments. The risk is significantly reduced through 
the implementation of internal audit processes and 
regular reporting by the logistics partners. Tax issues 
are also examined with all due care by an external 
tax advisor. The impact of the financial risks on the 
Group‘s business results is classified as low with all 
due consideration of the probability of occurrence 
and the extent of damage.

There is a long-term syndicate financing in order to 
finance the acquisition of the product brands Baldri-
paran®, Formigran®, Spalt® and Kamol®. The corre-
sponding risks relating to financial instruments are 
outlined in note 6 “Financial Risk Management and 
Financial Instruments”.

4.3 Overall Situation

There are currently no risks that could endanger the 
future business development of PharmaSGP as a 
going concern. Compared to the prior year, the as-
sessment of all of the above-mentioned risks as low, 
medium or high is unchanged. 

The Group sees risks that could have a negative 
short-term impact on its business performance 
primarily in unexpected negative market develop-
ments, low market acceptance of new products, 
non-compliance with regulatory requirements in-
ternally or at third-party manufacturers, and impair-
ment of production or distribution processes. All the 
risks described are constantly monitored in the risk 
management process and mitigated with appropri-
ate countermeasures.

The Group sees opportunities for its future devel-
opment in the establishment and expansion of es-
tablished brand families and, in particular, in the 
integration of established, acquired brands and port-
folios that can achieve further growth by means of 
the PharmaSGP platform. The development of new 
European markets also represents an opportunity 
for the Group to further increase sales growth.

The ongoing geopolitical events in the context of the 
Ukraine conflict and the conflict between Israel and 
Gaza continue to lead to macroeconomic uncertain-
ties with potentially negative effects on industries 
and companies. PharmaSGP is not pursuing any 
marketing and sales activities in those regions. For 
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the financial year 2024, no sales are planned in East-
ern European countries. Nevertheless, the war and 
economic sanctions, especially against Russia, could 
potentially also have an impact on PharmaSGP’s 
business activities. Rising energy prices could result 
in higher costs for production and logistics. Last 
year, however, it was observed that the Ukraine 
conflict in particular had no negative impact on 
PharmaSGP’s business. PharmaSGP sources only 
a very small proportion of its active ingredients 
from Eastern European EU countries. There were 
no production restrictions or interruptions in the 
supply chain. The higher cost of living did not have 
a negative impact on end consumer demand for 
over-the-counter medicines and other PharmaSGP 
healthcare products. As the war situation remains 
unclear, it is not yet possible to make a conclusive 
assessment of potential negative influences. How-
ever, the Management Board does not currently see 
any risks to PharmaSGP as a going concern as a re-
sult of the geopolitical events.

5.  Internal Controls and Risk  
Management Systems of the Group 
Financial Reporting Process

 
The objective of the PharmaSGP risk management 
system with regard to the accounting and reporting 
process is to identify and assess risks that could con-
flict with the compliance of the consolidated financial 
statements. The Chief Financial Officer bears overall 
responsibility for the Internal Control and Risk Man-
agement System with regard to the accounting and 
reporting process. All companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements are integrated via 
a clearly defined management and reporting orga-
nization. The separate financial statements of SGP 
SE and its subsidiaries are prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) and reconciled into financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFRS.

The purpose of the Group accounting guidelines and 
Group accounting is to ensure uniform accounting 
and valuation based on the regulations applicable 
to SGP SE. The monthly consolidation process is 
based on the SAP ERP environment and supported 
by special consolidation software. There are uniform 
reporting structures, a standardized group chart of 
accounts and binding reporting calendars to ensure 
completeness and comparability. The elimination of 
intercompany income and expenses as well as in-
tercompany liabilities are performed automatically. 

Automatic plausibility checks are carried out during 
data entry to ensure data consistency. Control activ-
ities also include the analysis and, if necessary, cor-
rection of the separate financial statements submit-
ted by the subsidiaries. Other key elements of risk 
control in the accounting process are the separation 
of functions between input, review and approval and 
a clear assignment of responsibilities in the divisions. 
Furthermore, the dual control principle must be ap-
plied at all process levels.

A Group-wide risk management system that corre-
sponds to the legal requirements was implemented 
in the course of the initial public offering, and since 
then is reviewed on an ongoing basis in terms of its 
functionality and adapted to current developments 
if necessary.

The structures, processes and features of the inter-
nal control and risk management system described 
above ensure that the PharmaSGP accounting guide-
lines are consistently applied and comply with the 
legal requirements, the relevant principles of proper 
accounting, international accounting standards and 
internal guidelines.

6.  Financial Risk Management and 
Financial Instruments

 
Establishment and oversight over the Group’s fi-
nancial risk management is the responsibility of the 
Management Board who prescribes principles for 
the cross-functional risk management. Relating to 
financial instruments, the Group may be exposed to 
market price risks, liquidity risks and credit risks.

Market price risk
Market risks result from changes in market prices for 
financial instruments, such as foreign exchange rates 
or interest rates, and are thus categorized as curren-
cy risks and interest rate risks.

Currency risks arise from transactions that are not 
denominated in PharmaSGP’s functional currency 
(€). Since the Group mainly operates in Euro coun-
tries, and all entities have the same functional cur-
rency, the Group is not significantly exposed to ex-
change rates fluctuations with respect to its volume 
of transactions.

Interest rate risks result from fluctuations in interest 
expenses for financial debts. Financial assets are sub-
ject to the risk of fluctuating interest or price gains.

As of 31 December 2023, financial assets consist of 
highly liquid money market funds, that are exposed 
to only minimal changes in value. 

Since 14 July 2022, a five-year syndicate financing in-
volving four partner banks is in place. Interest is cal-
culated on the basis of a fixed margin plus EURIBOR 
for the relevant interest period. The margin is within 
a range of 1.15 % and 2.75 %, depending on the type 
of usage (Term Loan or Revolving Credit Facility) and 
PharmaSGP’s debt ratio. The debt ratio is calculated 
as the quotient of net financial debt at the respective 
reporting date and a profitability ratio for each of the 
past four quarters.

To mitigate interest risks from EURIBOR fluctuations, 
the Group has entered into interest rate hedges. 
Therefore, the syndicate financing is subject to lim-
ited risks from changes in market interest rates and 
risks from changes in the debt ratio.

Overall, considering the potential extent of damage, 
impacts of changing interest rates are assumed as low.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter 
difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities. This mainly comprises the syn-
dicate financing, trade payables and lease liabilities. 

The syndicate financing stipulates a scheduled re-
demption of the loan amount in fixed tranches. From 
this redemption obligation, liquidity risks arise which 
may impact the future development of the Group. In 
addition, there are covenant restrictions according to 
which the entire loan amount can be called in if a cer-
tain debt ratio is exceeded. Exceeding the debt ratio 
therefore represents a liquidity risk for the Group.

Due to the positive cash balance as of the reporting 
date, constantly positive net operating cash inflows 
and the long-term structure of the syndicate financ-
ing, the Group is not exposed to liquidity risks. The 
liquidity risk due to possible breaches of covenant 
restrictions is classified as low.

Credit risk
Credit risks arise if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual ob-
ligations. The credit risk comprises both the imme-
diate default risk and the danger of a decline in the 
customer‘s creditworthiness. Compared to all other 
financial assets, trade receivables mainly carry the 
risk of default which historically has been virtually 
zero. To maintain the low credit default risk based 
on past experience, the Group assesses the risk for 

new customers with a significant order volume and 
regularly performs a monitoring process to track and 
manage open balances.

Further quantitative disclosures on the financial risk 
management are provided on note 7.3 in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

7.  Takeover Related Disclosures pursu-
ant to Secs. 289a and 315a HGB

 
7.1  Share Capital

The Company’s capital stock came to € 12,000 thou-
sand as of 31 December 2023. The capital stock is 
divided into 12,000,000 no-par value bearer shares 
with an imputed share in the capital stock of € 1.00 
per share. The shares are fully paid in. All shares have 
the same rights and duties attached. Every share has 
one vote.

7.2  Capital Participations Exceeding  
10 % of the Voting Rights

As of 31 December 2023, FUTRUE GmbH, Gräfelfing, 
Germany, held a direct participation in the capital of 
SGP SE that exceeded the threshold of 10 % of the 
voting rights. There were no indirect participations in 
the capital of PharmaSGP Holding SE that exceeded 
the threshold of 10 % of the voting rights.

7.3  Statutory Regulations and Provisions 
of the Articles of Association concern-
ing the Appointment and Removal 
from Office of Management Board 
Members, and concerning Modifica-
tions to the Articles of Association

The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the 
Management Board on the basis of Art. 9 (1), 39 (2) 
and Art. 46 of the SE-Regulation (SE-Verordnung), 
Secs. 84 and 85 AktG and Art. 7 (2) of the articles of 
association for a term of office of a maximum of six 
years. Reappointments are permissible. In accor-
dance with Art. 7 (1) of the articles of association, the 
Management Board comprises one or more persons. 
The Supervisory Board determines the number of 
members of the Management Board.

The Annual General Meeting adopts resolutions on 
changes to the articles of association. Amendments 



44 45PharmaSGP    |    To Our Shareholders    |    Combined Management Report    |    Consolidated Financial Statements    |    Other Information

to the articles of association are made pursuant to 
Secs. 179 and 133 AktG. According to Art. 15 of the 
articles of association, the Supervisory Board is enti-
tled to make changes that only relate to the wording 
of the articles of association.

7.4  Authority of the Management Board 
to issue Shares or acquire Treasury 
Shares

Repurchase of treasury shares
The Management Board is authorized, subject to the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to acquire trea-
sury shares of the Company up until 27 May 2025 
in an amount of up to 10 % of the Company’s share 
capital existing at the time of the grant of the autho-
rization or – if this value is lower – at the time of its 
exercise. Under certain conditions, treasury shares 
may be acquired with the use of derivatives.

In the financial year 2023, SGP SE has for the first 
time purchased 9,787 treasury shares at an amount 
of € 286 thousand, including transaction fees. No 
treasury shares were sold. There are no treasury 
shares held by third parties in the name or for the 
account of SGP SE.

Authorized Capital 2020
The Management Board is authorized, subject to the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 
Company’s capital stock in one or several tranch-
es up until 27 May 2025 by up to a total of € 6,000 
thousand by issuing new no-par value bearer shares 
in return for cash and/or non-cash contributions. 
Stockholders are to be granted a subscription right, 
whereas the Management Board, subject to the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, is entitled to fully 
or partially preclude the stockholders’ subscription 
rights under certain conditions and within defined 
limits. In the German commercial register, this Au-
thorized Capital is named Authorized Capital 2020/I.

Conditional Capital 2020
Through the conditional capital, the capital stock may 
be increased contingently by up to € 6,000 thousand 
by the issue of up to 6,000,000 no-par value bearer 
shares. The conditional capital increase is designated 
for shares granted to holders or creditors of convert-
ible bonds and holders of option rights guaranteed 
in the form of option bonds, whose issuance until  
27 May 2025 by the Company or an enterprise in which 
the Company holds a majority interest, was approved 
by the Annual General Meeting held on 28 May 2020. 
In the German commercial register, this Conditional 
Capital is named Conditional Capital 2020/I.

7.5  Significant Agreements of the  
Company that are subject to a  
Change of Control

In the event of a change of control as a result of a take-
over bid within the meaning of Sec. 289a (8), negotia-
tions shall be held between SGP SE and the lenders 
participating in the syndicate financing regarding the 
continuation of the syndicate financing. After expiry of 
the negotiation period, each lender shall be entitled to 
call in its loan receivables immediately.

8.  Corporate Governance Statement 

8.1  Corporate Governance Declaration 
pursuant to Sec. 289f and Sec. 315d 
HGB

As a company listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Prime Standard), PharmaSGP Holding SE issues the 
following corporate governance declaration relating 
to PharmaSGP Holding SE and its subsidiaries Phar-
maSGP GmbH, Restaxil GmbH Remitan GmbH and 
PharmaSGP Vertriebs GmbH in line with Sec. 289f 
and Sec. 315d HGB for the financial year 2023.

Furthermore, the Management Board and Superviso-
ry Board of PharmaSGP Holding SE report as follows 
on the use of corporate governance at PharmaSGP 
Holding SE in line with Principle 22 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code (“DCGK”).

8.2  Declaration of Compliance  
pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG  
(updated December 2023)

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
PharmaSGP Holding SE have issued the following 
declaration of compliance with the recommenda-
tions of the “Government Commission on the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code” in the version 
dated 22 April 2022, in line with Sec. 161 AktG, in De-
cember 2023:

DCGK recommendations C.10, D.2 to D.4, D.7, D.10, 
D.12 and D.17 – Supervisory Board committees
“As the Company‘s Supervisory Board consists of 
three members according to the articles of associa-
tion, the Supervisory Board has decided not to form 
any committees. A committee would only be quorate 
if it consisted of at least two members, which also 
corresponds to the quorum for the Supervisory 

Board as a whole. The Company therefore believes 
that forming Supervisory Board committees would 
not help improve the efficiency of the Supervisory 
Board‘s work.”

DCGK recommendation F.2 – reporting 
“Deviating from recommendation F.2, the Company 
has decided that the consolidated financial state-
ments and group management report and the inter-
im reports required by general or stock exchange law 
shall be published within the time limits specified in 
general and / or stock exchange law. The Company 
believes that publication within such time limits is 
sufficient for the information interests of the inves-
tors, creditors and other stakeholders, as well as the 
general public.”

DCGK recommendation G.7 sentence 1 –  
timing of performance criteria as part of  
variable remuneration components
“The Supervisory Board determines the annual per-
formance criteria as part of the Management Board’s 
variable compensation within the first half of the re-
spective financial year, but not before its commence-
ment, which is a deviation of DCGK’s recommenda-
tion G.7 sentence 1. The Supervisory Board believes 
that a reasonable decision on the annual target cri-
teria can only be made on the basis of preliminary 
financial numbers of the previous year.”

DCGK recommendation G.10 sentence 2 –  
availability of long-term variable remuneration 
components
“In relation to the first annual instalment of the long-
term variable remuneration components granted 
to the members of the Management Board for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2020, the Super-
visory Board decided that the period for measuring 
the targets and the staggered vesting is only three 
years. Consequently, under the terms of the plan, it 
was possible to dispose of the first annual tranche 
of the long-term variable remuneration components 
before the end of the four-year period. As the Man-
agement Board members in question had been ap-
pointed for the first time until 31 December 2022, 
the Supervisory Board considered it to be a signif-
icant and appropriate incentive effect if the period 
for measuring the targets and the vesting of the first 
tranche of the long-term variable remuneration of 
the Management Board members in question was 
linked to their initial appointment period in such a 
way that the first tranche can be earned in full during 
the initial appointment. For the subsequent annual 
instalments of the long-term variable remuneration 
components, on the other hand, the period for mea-
suring the targets and vesting is four years in each 

case, meaning that payment is only made after a 
four-year period has expired.”

8.3  Information about Corporate  
Governance Practices above and  
beyond Statutory Requirements 

PharmaSGP Holding SE is committed to carrying out 
its business ethically and in a legally sound manner. 
In order to fulfil the Company‘s social responsibility 
as a manufacturer of pharmaceuticals, the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board have implement-
ed responsible, transparent and value-oriented cor-
porate governance. For PharmaSGP Holding SE, this 
does not just mean compliance with statutory and 
regulatory provisions, but also the implementation 
of an ethically justifiable corporate philosophy re-
flected, among other things, in the “Code of Ethics”.

Compliance
The PharmaSGP Holding SE compliance team under 
the supervision of the CFO as Chief Compliance Of-
ficer has set up a compliance management system 
that will help to ensure that employees act lawfully. It 
is designed to identify potential violations in advance 
and systematically prevent their occurrence and is 
monitored by the PharmaSGP Holding SE compliance 
team. This compliance system includes the “Code of 
Ethics” as a fundamental set of rules for compliance 
structure, compliance audits, regular training on rel-
evant compliance risks and measures and adequate 
structures and processes to enable employees to re-
port possible compliance violations.

Internal control system
PharmaSGP’s internal control system comprises all 
rules within the Group that serve to methodically 
manage operational, financial, regulatory and com-
pliance-related risks. These rules are accessible in 
the form of guidelines, work instructions and process 
descriptions. The structure, release, revision and 
communication of these internal rules are carried 
out in accordance with standardized procedures, 
particularly for the regulatory area. Furthermore, all 
employees of PharmaSGP are obliged to comply with 
the “Code of Ethics” within the scope of their duties 
and activities.

For better scalability, business processes are sup-
ported by IT solutions wherever possible. As far as 
possible and appropriate, PharmaSGP uses the con-
trols integrated in these applications or services. In 
addition, manual process controls are in place to pre-
vent or detect errors. In the regulatory area, there is 
a quality management system implemented for the 
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entire Group with the aim of establishing the great-
est possible patient safety. This is achieved through 
detailed process definitions, e. g. for deviations, cor-
rective and preventive measures, or reporting of 
adverse drug reactions. In addition, regular internal 
and external audits take place. The internal control 
system relating to the group financial reporting pro-
cess is described in note 5.

Based on the current design, the Management Board 
has no indication that the internal control system as 
a whole is not adequately established or effective.

Risk management system
Thanks to its internal risk management system, Phar-
maSGP Holding SE is able to detect any business and 
financial risks at an early stage in order to take corre-
sponding countermeasures. Regular risk monitoring 
is carried out. For more details about the opportuni-
ties and risks for PharmaSGP Holding SE, please see 
the “Opportunities and Risk Report”.

The declaration including disclosures on corporate 
governance practices is available on the Company’s 
website https://ir.pharmasgp.com/en/.

8.4  Composition and Description of the 
Working Methods of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board and the 
Working Methods of their Committees

The Company is a limited liability Company estab-
lished under European law (Societas Europaea) and 
is subject in particular to the provisions of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act, also used as the basis for 
the DCGK. The dual management system with a Man-
agement Board and Supervisory Board as its bodies 
represents a fundamental principle of German stock 
corporation law. The Management Board manages 
the Company, while the Supervisory Board advises 
and supervises the Management Board. Concurrent 
membership of both bodies is excluded. The Com-
pany‘s Management Board and Supervisory Board 
engage in trust-based cooperation with the aim of 
sustainably increasing the value of the Company for 
its shareholders.

8.4.1 Management Board

Management Board tasks
The Management Board is responsible for managing 
the Company in its own best interests with the aim 
of sustainable value creation. This includes consid-
eration of the interests of the shareholders, employ-
ees and other groups associated with the Company 

(stakeholders). The members of the Management 
Board are jointly accountable for managing the Com-
pany. The Management Board conducts company 
business in line with statutory provisions, the articles 
of association, the rules of procedure and the sched-
ule of responsibilities.

Composition and responsibilities  
of the Management Board
In the financial year 2023, the Management Board 
consisted of two people. Ms. Natalie Weigand (Chief 
Executive Officer, CEO) and Mr. Michael Rudolf (Chief 
Financial Officer, CFO) were appointed to the Man-
agement Board as of 4 March 2020.

Working methods of the Management Board
Each member of the Management Board is inde-
pendently responsible for managing their own area 
of responsibility as indicated in the respective valid 
schedule of responsibilities, within the framework 
of the rules of procedure and Management Board 
resolutions.

Irrespective of the distribution of responsibilities in 
the schedule of responsibilities, the Management 
Board members are jointly accountable for manag-
ing the Company. They are obliged to work togeth-
er in a spirit of collegial cooperation, keeping one 
another informed of the major events in their divi-
sion and any intended measures that might affect 
the area of responsibility of another Management 
Board member.

The entire Management Board passes resolutions 
on all matters where the law, the articles of associa-
tion or the rules of procedure require the adoption 
of resolutions by the Management Board. Further-
more, each Management Board member is entitled 
to submit a decision from a department to the en-
tire Management Board for the adoption of a reso-
lution.

Any member of the Management Board can con-
vene a Management Board meeting. The respective 
Management Board member convening the meet-
ing will specify the dates and the invitation and will 
also chair the meeting. A Management Board meet-
ing may be convened immediately if urgently nec-
essary or upon request by two Management Board 
members.

The Management Board is quorate if at least half 
its members are present or otherwise participating 
in the adoption of resolutions. Where agreed, res-
olutions shall be adopted with a simple majority of 
votes cast.

When adopting resolutions, the Chair of the meet-
ing has the casting vote in the event of a tie; how-
ever, this does not apply if the Management Board 
consists of fewer than three people. The Deputy 
Chair is not entitled to the casting vote if the Chair is 
unable to attend or otherwise indisposed.

The Management Board may also adopt resolutions 
outside meetings (or through combined methods of 
adoption) using verbal voting, voting on the phone, 
voting in text form (Sec. 126 of the German Civil 
Code BGB) and/or other telecommunication meth-
ods or electronic media if this has been arranged 
by the CEO at least two days in advance; in urgent 
cases, this period can be reduced appropriately.

The Management Board cooperates with the Su-
pervisory Board to the benefit of the Company. It 
coordinates the strategic orientation of the Com-
pany with the Supervisory Board and discusses the 
status of strategy implementation with the latter at 
regular intervals. Upon request, the Management 
Board shall provide the Supervisory Board with any 
information necessary for the Supervisory Board to 
exercise control.

Management Board remuneration
The basic principles of the remuneration system for 
members of the Management Board can be down-
loaded at https://ir.pharmasgp.com. Disclosures on 
the individual remuneration of the Management 
Board members are provided in the remuneration 
report.

8.4.2 Supervisory Board

Tasks and responsibilities of  
the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the 
Management Board for a period of up to six years. It 
also advises and supervises the Management Board 
in relation to the strategic orientation of business. 
The Management Board notifies the Supervisory 
Board regularly about business development, strat-
egy, corporate planning, the risk situation, risk man-
agement and the internal control system. 

It agrees on budget planning and approves the an-
nual financial statements for PharmaSGP Holding 
SE and the consolidated financial statements for the 
PharmaSGP Group.

As of 4 March 2020, the members of the Supervi-
sory Board were Dr. Clemens Fischer (Head of the 
Supervisory Board), Ms. Madlena Hohlefelder (Dep-
uty head of the Supervisory Board). Dr. Axel Rebien 

has been a member of the Supervisory Board since 
1 June 2020.

Working methods of the Supervisory Board
Supervisory Board meetings are convened by the 
Chair in text form (Sec. 126 (b) BGB) with a notice pe-
riod of ten (10) calendar days; the Chair determines 
the meeting location. The day on which the invitation 
is sent and the day of the meeting are not included 
in the calculation of the notice period; invitation dis-
patch is sufficient evidence of compliance with the 
notice period. The Chair can reduce the notice period 
appropriately in urgent cases and can also convene 
the meeting verbally or remotely.

The invitation should include the meeting location 
and time and the agenda. Unless an urgent case jus-
tifies later notification, additions to the agenda must 
be submitted three calendar days before the meet-
ing at the latest.

Resolutions may only be adopted in meetings that 
have not been properly convened or for agenda 
items that were not properly announced if this is not 
opposed by any Supervisory Board members. In such 
cases, absent Supervisory Board members should be 
given the opportunity to object to the resolution or 
subsequently cast their vote within an appropriate 
time period to be specified by the Chair. The resolu-
tion will only take effect if the absent members have 
not objected (or agreed) to it within the set time peri-
od or have subsequently cast their vote.

The Head of the Supervisory Board shall chair the Su-
pervisory Board meetings and determine the order 
in which agenda items are addressed, as well as the 
method and order of voting.

Supervisory Board resolutions are usually adopted 
in meetings. Absent Supervisory Board members 
can also participate in the adoption of resolutions 
by having written absentee votes delivered pursuant 
to Sec. 108 (3) AktG. Where arranged by the Chair of 
the Supervisory Board before the adoption of reso-
lutions, absent Supervisory Board members can also 
cast their votes – subsequently within a time period 
set by the Chair if necessary – by telephone, in text 
form (Sec. 126 (b) BGB) or using other telecommuni-
cation methods or electronic media.

If arranged by the Head of the Supervisory Board, 
the Supervisory Board may also adopt resolutions 
outside meetings (or through combined methods of 
adoption) using verbal voting, voting on the phone, 
voting in text form (Sec. 126 (b) BGB) and / or oth-
er telecommunication methods or electronic media. 
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The Supervisory Board members are not entitled to 
object to this form of resolution adoption. The afore-
mentioned conditions apply accordingly to the form 
and deadline for arrangements.

The adoption of a resolution is also permitted without 
(prompt) arrangement if this is not opposed by any 
Supervisory Board members. In such cases, absent 
and / or non-participating Supervisory Board mem-
bers should be given the opportunity to object to the 
resolution or subsequently cast their vote within an 
appropriate time period to be specified by the Head 
of the Supervisory Board. The resolution will only take 
effect if the absent and / or nonparticipating members 
have not objected (or agreed) to it within the set time 
period or have subsequently cast their vote.

The Supervisory Board is quorate if at least half of 
its total members participate in the adoption of the 
resolution. Abstention counts as participation in the 
adoption of the resolution, but not as a vote.

The Supervisory Board adopts resolutions with a sim-
ple majority of votes cast, unless otherwise specified 
by law. In the event of a tie, the Chair of the Super-
visory Board has the casting vote; this also applies 
to elections. If no Chair is appointed or the Chair ab-
stains, an application is considered to be rejected in 
the event of a tie. The Deputy Chair is not entitled 
to the casting vote if the Chair is unable to attend or 
otherwise indisposed.

In 2022, the Supervisory Board conducted a self-eval-
uation based on a detailed questionnaire. The effec-
tiveness of the Supervisory Board’s performance of 
its duties was assessed. The results of the evaluation 
confirm that the cooperation within the Supervisory 
Board and with the Executive Board is professional, 
constructive and characterized by a high degree of 
trust and openness. Improvements to the content 
and processes of the cooperation were defined and 
implemented in the financial year 2023.

Supervisory Board remuneration 
The basic principles of the remuneration system for 
members of the Supervisory Board can be download-
ed at https://ir.pharmasgp.com. Disclosures on the 
individual remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
members are provided in the remuneration report.

8.5.  Transparent Corporate Governance

In order to ensure the greatest possible transparency, 
the media and interested general public are informed 
regularly and promptly about the Company‘s status 

and any major changes. The Company mainly uses 
the Internet to provide comprehensive, equal and 
prompt information. The following are used to report 
on the status and results of PharmaSGP Holding SE:

• Interim reports,

• Annual report,

• Annual General Meetings,

• Press releases,

• Conference calls, and

• Events with financial analysts in Germany and abroad

The regular financial reporting dates are summa-
rized in the financial calendar. If any facts arise 
outside the regular reporting dates for PharmaSGP 
Holding SE that could have a major impact on the 
market price of PharmaSGP Holding SE shares, 
these will be disclosed in ad-hoc news.

The financial calendar and ad-hoc news are avail-
able on the Internet at https://ir.pharmasgp.com.

8.6  Stipulations to promote the Participa-
tion of men and women in Leadership 
Positions pursuant to Sec. 76 (4) and 
Sec. 111 (5) AktG

Report on the stipulation and achievement of 
target values for the percentage of women sitting 
on the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board has stipulated that at least 
one woman should sit on the Supervisory Board. The 
deadline for achieving this target value was set as  
30 April 2025.

There was one female member on the Supervisory 
Board in 2023, meaning that the target value has 
been achieved.

Report on the stipulation and achievement of 
target values for the percentage of women sitting 
on the Management Board
The Supervisory Board has stipulated that at least 
one female member should sit on the Management 
Board. The deadline for achieving this target value 
was set as 30 April 2025.

There was one female member on the Management 
Board in 2023, meaning that the target value has 
been achieved.

Report on the stipulation and achievement of 
target values for the percentage of women in 
management levels
The Management Board has stipulated a target value 
of minimum 30 % as a percentage of women in the first 
management level below the Management Board. 

Currently, no women belong to this management 
level. The deadline for achieving this target value was 
set as 1 December 2027.

The Management Board has stipulated a target value 
of minimum 30 % as a percentage of women in the sec-
ond management level below the Management Board. 

As of 31 December 2023, the percentage of women 
in the second management level was 66.7 %, thus 
achieving the target amount.

9. Dependency Report

In 2023, PharmaSGP Holding SE was a dependent 
company of FUTRUE GmbH with registered offices 
Am Haag 14, 82166 Gräfelfing, Germany, as defined 
under Sec. 312 AktG. FUTRUE controls FUTRUE Group, 
whose group entities qualify as affiliated companies. 
Therefore, the Management Board of the Company 
has prepared a report on relations with affiliated 
companies (dependency report), which contains the 
following final declaration:

“We declare that the Company received an appro-
priate consideration for each transaction and mea-
sure listed in the report on relations with affiliated 
companies in the financial year 2023 under the cir-
cumstances known to us at the time the transactions 
were made or the measures taken or not taken. The 
Company did not suffer any detriment because of 
taking or refraining from measures.”

10. Subsequent Events

No events or transactions of particular significance 
occurred after the reporting date.

 
Gräfelfing, 25 April 2024

Natalie Weigand   Michael Rudolf
(CEO)    (CFO)
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Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss

in € thousand Notes 2023 2022

Revenues 6.1 101,099 85,824

Other operating income 6.2 172 386

Raw materials, consumables and finished goods -9,462 -9,032

Personnel expenses 6.3 -7,342 -6,912

Marketing expenses 6.4 -43,381 -37,378

Other operating expenses 6.5 -7,077 -5,955

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 34,009 26,933

Depreciation and amortization 5.1 -  5.3 -9,371 -9,250

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 24,638 17,683

Finance income 6.6 2,179 308

Finance expenses 6.6 -4,924 -2,188

Profit before taxes 21,893 15,803

Income tax expense 5.14 -5,496 -3,849

Profit for the period 16,397 11,954

of which attributable to shareholders of PharmaSGP Holding SE 16,397 11,954

Basic and diluted earnings per share (€) 6.7 1.37 1.00

Consolidated Financial Statements  
as of 31 December 2023

Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income

in € thousand Notes 2023 2022

Profit for the period 16,397 11,954

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

          Gains and losses from cash flow hedges 7.1 -1,096 3,110

          Losses from hedging instrument reclassified to profit or loss 7.1 -996 -

          Attributable income taxes 5.14 513 -764

Items that will not get reclassified to profit or loss:

          --- - -

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes -1,579 2,346

Total comprehensive income 14,818 14,300

of which attributable to shareholders of PharmaSGP Holding SE 14,848 14,300
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in € thousand Notes
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 5.8

Share capital 12,000 12,000

Capital reserve 38,120 38,120

Retained earnings -10,847 -21,369

Other reserves 481 2,346

Total shareholders’ equity 39,754 31,097

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 5.9 120 166

Financial liabilities 5.10 65,370 73,059

Other financial liabilities 7.1 219 -

Lease liabilities 5.3 452 816

Deferred tax liabilities 5.14 790 1,229

Total non-current liabilities 66,951 75,270

Current liabilities

Provisions 5.9 3,322 3,024

Financial liabilities 5.10 7,711 7,659

Trade payables 5.11 9,920 8,786

Other liabilities 5.12 1,146 1,181

Other financial liabilities 5.13, 6.1 635 1,688

Lease liabilities 5.3 444 404

Income tax liabilities 5.14 1,416 -

Total current liabilities 24,594 22,742

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 131,299 129,109

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

in € thousand Notes
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 5.1 66,056 73,943

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) 5.2 302 365

Right-of-use assets 5.3 874 1,208

Other non-current financial assets 7.1 1,250 2,084

Total non-current assets 68,482 77,600

Current assets

Inventories 5.4 10,117 7,002

Trade and other receivables 5.5 9,189 7,799

Other assets 5.6 2,518 2,521

Other financial assets 7.1 - 1,240

Income tax assets 5.14 227 305

Cash and cash equivalents 5.7 40,766 32,642

Total current assets 62,817 51,509

Total assets 131,299 129,109
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

in € thousand Notes 2023 2022

Profit for the period  16,397 11,954

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use assets 5.1 - 5.3 9,371 9,250

(Increase) / decrease in inventories 5.4 -3,115 -2,817

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 5.5 -1,390 -1,219

(Increase) / decrease in other assets 5.6 -1,012 -2,444

Increase / (decrease) in trade payables 5.11 1,030 4,461

Increase / (decrease) in other (financial) liabilities 5.12, 5.13, 6.1 -871 1,047

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 5.9 251 2,120

Interest (income) and expense 6.6 4,175 1,960

Income tax expense 5.14 5,496 3,849

Income tax payments -3,926 -3,495

Interest paid  -2 -

Interest received  235 47

Net cash flows from operating activities  26,639 24,713

 

Payments for investments in intangible assets  5.1 -813 -667

Payments for investments in PPE  5.2 -53 -120

Net cash flows used in investing activities -866 -787

Dividends paid 5.8 -5,875 -5,400

Purchase of treasury shares 5.8 -286 -

Proceeds from derivatives 7.1 1,033 -

Payments from the settlement of derivatives 7.1 -37 -

Proceeds from financial liabilities, net of other financing expenses 5.7, 5.10 - 83,515

Repayment of financial liabilities and other financing expenses 5.7, 5.10 -8,054 -88,000

Repayment of lease liabilities 5.3 -440 -418

Interest paid -3,990 -1,805

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  -17,649 -12,108

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,124 11,818

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January  32,642 20,824

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December  40,766 32,642

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Other reserves 

in € thousand Notes
Share

capital
Capital
reserve

Retained
earnings

Reserves for 
cash flow 

hedges 
Treasury 

shares 

Total 
share-holders’ 

equity

As of 1 January 2022 12,000 38,120 -27,923 - - 22,197

Dividends - - -5,400 - - -5,400

Profit for the period - - 11,954 - - 11,954

Other comprehensive income - - - 2,346 - 2,346

As of 31 December 2022 12,000 38,120 -21,369 2,346 - 31,097

Purchase of treasury shares 5.8 - - - - -286 -286

Dividends 5.8 - - -5,875 - - -5,875

Profit for the period - - 16,397 - - 16,397

Other comprehensive income 5.14, 7.1 - - - -1,579 - -1,579

As of 31 December 2023 12,000 38,120 -10,847 767 -286 39,754
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union (EU), as well as the 
supplementary provisions of Sec. 315e (1) HGB (Ger-
man commercial code).

The Management Board prepared the consolidated 
financial statements on 25 April 2024, and thus ap-
proved them for publication as defined by IAS 10. The 
consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report are submitted to and published 
in the business register (Unternehmensregister). The 
financial statements of SGP SE’s subsidiaries are ex-
empt from publication in the business register as the 
requirements of Sec. 264 (3) HGB are met.

Scope of consolidation
SGP SE is the holding company of the Group. The 
Group’s business is conducted by PharmaSGP 
GmbH, Restaxil GmbH, Remitan GmbH, Fokusan 
Health GmbH and PharmaSGP Vitalmed GmbH. 

On 17 May 2023, the previous PharmaSGP Vertriebs 
GmbH was renamed into Fokusan Health GmbH by 
amending the articles of association. PharmaSGP 
Vitalmed GmbH was newly founded in the second 
quarter of 2023, the registration in the commercial 
register was finalized on 27 June 2023.

The consolidated financial statements include all of 
the below mentioned subsidiaries that are controlled 
by the Company, either directly or indirectly, as de-
fined by IFRS 10:

Name
Share of 

equity
Equity in 

€ thousand1) Principal activities

PharmaSGP GmbH
Gräfelfing, Germany

100 % 5,476 Development and distribution of OTC pharmaceuti-
cals and other healthcare products, and distribution 
services of pharmaceuticals

Restaxil GmbH
Gräfelfing, Germany

100 % 2,399 Development and distribution of healthcare products

Remitan GmbH
Gräfelfing, Germany

100 % 870 Development and distribution of cosmetic  
and healthcare products 

Fokusan Health GmbH
Gräfelfing, Germany

100 % 13 Marketing and sales services in the pharmaceutical  
and medical field 

PharmaSGP Vitalmed GmbH
Gräfelfing, Germany

100 % 13 Development and distribution of healthcare products

1)  as of 31 December 2023, pursuant to German commercial law (HGB)

SGP SE prepares the consolidated financial state-
ments for the smallest group of companies.  
FUTRUE GmbH, Gräfelfing (hereinafter referred to 
as “FUTRUE”), prepares the consolidated financial 
statements for the largest group of companies. The 
consolidated financial statements of FUTRUE are 
published in the company register.

Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements are generally 
prepared on the basis of accounting for assets and 
liabilities at amortized cost, with certain financial as-
sets and financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Assets and liabilities are ac-
counted for using the recognition and measurement 
rules in the relevant IAS or IFRS, which are explained 
in detail in note 2 “Summary of significant account-
ing policies”.

The consolidated statements of profit and loss were 
prepared using the nature of expense method. 
The consolidated statements of profit and loss and 
consolidated statements of other comprehensive 
income are presented in separate statements. The 
statements of financial position are classified based 
on the maturities of assets and liabilities. 

The consolidated financial statements are present-
ed in Euro (€), which is the functional currency of all 
companies in the Group. Unless otherwise indicat-
ed, amounts are shown in thousands of Euros. Due 
to the rounding of figures, it is possible that individu-
al items and percentages do not add up to the totals 
indicated. The financial year of SGP SE corresponds 
to a calendar year.

2.  Summary of significant  
accounting policies

Pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002, the fi-
nancial reporting standards issued by the IASB and 
endorsed by the European Commission for adoption 
in the European Union are the basis for IFRS account-
ing. The new or revised IFRSs published by the IASB 
are subject to mandatory application in the EU only 
after a corresponding decision has been made by the 
Commission in the endorsement procedure.

Except for new or amended financial standards and 
interpretations issued by the IASB, the same ac-
counting policies were applied in these consolidated 
financial statements as in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as of 31 December 2022.

1. Basis of preparation

1.1  Background and general information

PharmaSGP Holding SE (hereafter also referred to as 
the “Company” or “SGP SE”) with its registered office 
at Lochhamer Schlag 1, 82166 Gräfelfing, Germany, 
is a European Company (Societas Europaea, “SE”) 
with its primary activities in the healthcare business 
in Germany and other European countries. The Com-
pany is registered in the commercial register of the 
Munich Local Court under HRB 255684.

Since May 2020, the Company has been the holding 
company of a group of companies operating in the 
healthcare industry. Its operating subsidiaries are 
PharmaSGP GmbH, Remitan GmbH, Restaxil GmbH, 
Fokusan Health GmbH and PharmaSGP Vitalmed 
GmbH (hereafter including SGP SE also referred to as 
“PharmaSGP” or the “Group”).

The Group is a consumer health company with a 
diverse portfolio of non-prescription pharmaceuti-
cals (over the counter; “OTC”) and other healthcare 
products that are marketed with the focus on the 
pharmacy distribution channel. Its core brands cover 
chronic indications, including pain and other age-re-
lated ailments. The Group’s OTC products are mostly 
based on natural active pharmaceutical ingredients 
(“APIs”).

SGP SE’s shares are listed on the Regulated Market 
and the sub-segment Prime Standard of the Regu-
lated Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under 
German Securities Code (WKN) A2P4LJ, International 
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A2P4LJ5 
and ticker symbol PSG. First day of trading was on  
19 June 2020.

1.2  Consolidated financial statements  
and compliance with IFRS

TThe consolidated financial statements for the finan-
cial year 2023 were prepared in accordance with the 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the Financial Year  
1 January to 31 December 2023
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2.1  Effects of new or amended standards 
and interpretations Issued by the IASB

In the consolidated financial statements as of  
31 December 2023, the following standards or 
amendments to standards were adopted:

Standard Endorsement

Amendments to IAS 12: International tax 
reform – Pillar Two model rules

8 November
2023

Amendments to IFRS 17: Initial  
application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 –  
comparative information

8 September
2022

 

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred taxes 
related to assets and liabilities arising from 
a single transaction

11 August 
 2022

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure  
of accounting policies

2 March 
 2022

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition  
of accounting estimates

2 March  
2022

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 19 November
2021

These standards or amendments to standards be-
came effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023. The adoption had no material 
impacts on net assets, financial position or earnings 
position of PharmaSGP.

The following standards and interpretations issued 
by the IASB have not yet been adopted because they 
have not yet been endorsed by the EU and / or are 
not yet subject to mandatory application:

Standard Effective date2) Endorsement

Amendments to IAS 1:
•  Classification of liabilities 

as current or non-current
•  Non-current liabilities 

with covenants

1 January 
2024

19 December
2023

 

Amendments to IFRS 16: 
Lease liability in a sale and 
leaseback 

1 January 
2024

20 November
2023

Amendments to IAS 7  
and IFRS 7: Supplier 
finance agreements

1 January 
2024

not yet  
endorsed3)

Amendments to IAS 21: 
Lack of exchangeability

1 January 
2025

not yet  
endorsed3)

2) for financial years beginning on or after that date 
3) as of the preparation date of the consolidated financial statements 

The adoption of the above-mentioned amendments 
or new standards and interpretations is not expect-
ed to materially impact net assets, financial position 
or earnings position of the Group.

 2.2  Current versus non-current  
classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the consolidat-
ed statements of financial position based on a cur-
rent / non-current classification.

Assets are classified as current in the consolidated 
statements of financial position when they are ex-
pected to be sold, consumed or realized during the 
normal business cycle of the legal entities included 
in the Group or if they mature within one year of the 
reporting period. All other assets are classified as 
non-current.

Liabilities are current if they are expected to be set-
tled in the normal business cycle or within one year 
of the reporting period. All other liabilities are classi-
fied as non-current.

Inventories are consistently presented as current. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current in accordance with IAS 1.

2.3  Revenue from contracts  
with customers

The Group’s primary business is the sale of over-the-
counter (OTC) pharmaceuticals and other healthcare 
products. Finished goods are sourced from contract 
manufacturers who are qualified to meet the respec-
tive regulatory requirements of the products to be 
manufactured. In many cases, those manufacturers 
also handle the sourcing of the required raw mate-
rials. The products manufactured by the contract 
manufacturers become the property of PharmaSGP 
upon completion and are delivered directly from the 
location of these contract manufacturers to the lo-
gistics centers of our logistics service providers in the 
respective countries. These logistics service provid-
ers handle the warehousing of PharmaSGP’s prod-
ucts as well as their distribution to wholesalers and 
pharmacies, both on PharmaSGP’s account and on 
their own account. Revenue from contracts with cus-
tomers is recognized when control of the goods or 
services is transferred to the customer at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. Transfer of control is usually completed 
upon delivery. Generally, the transfer of ownership 
coincides with the delivery, but it is usually subject to 
reservation until the payment is received.

All revenues of the Group are generated from con-
tracts with customers and fall in the scope of IFRS 15.

The Group considers whether there are other com-
mitments in the contract that are separate perfor-
mance obligations to which a portion of the transac-
tion price needs to be allocated. The Group assesses 
all promised goods and services and identifies per-
formance obligations at contract inception. Gener-
ally, contracts with customers include a single per-
formance obligation, i. e. the sale of pharmaceuticals 
and other healthcare products. In determining the 
transaction price for the sale of pharmaceutical and 
other healthcare products, the Group considers the 
effects of variable consideration and the existence of 
consideration payable to the customer (if any).

No element of financing is deemed present since 
the time between recognition of revenue and cash 
receipt does not exceed one year, which is consistent 
with market practice.

Variable consideration
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable 
amount, the Group estimates the amount of consid-
eration to which it will be entitled in exchange for 
transferring the goods to the customer. The variable 
consideration is estimated at contract inception and 
constrained until it is highly probable that a signifi-
cant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognized will not occur when the associ-
ated uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. Some contracts provide cus-
tomers for specific products with a right to return 
the goods within a specified period, generally up to 
six months. The rights of return give rise to variable 
consideration. 

Assets and liabilities arising from rights of return
Right of return assets – An asset is recognized for the 
right to recover the goods expected to be returned 
by customers. The asset is measured at the former 
carrying amount of the inventory, less any expected 
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreas-
es in value. The Group updates the measurement of 
the asset in case of revisions to the expected level of 
returns or any additional decreases in the value of 
the returned products.

Refund liabilities – A refund liability is recognized for 
the obligation to refund some or all of the consider-
ation received (or receivable) from a customer. The 
Group’s refund liabilities arise from customers’ right 
of return. The liability is measured at the amount 
the Group ultimately expects it will have to return 
to the customer. The Group updates its estimates 
of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change 
in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting 
period.

2.4  Foreign currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Euros, which is the functional currency. Transac-
tions that are denominated or required to be settled in 
a currency other than the functional currency are ini-
tially recorded at the functional currency applying the 
spot exchange rate between the functional currency 
and the foreign currency at the date of the transac-
tion. At the end of each reporting period all monetary 
items denominated in a foreign currency will be trans-
lated to Euros using the closing rate. Foreign currency 
differences are recognized in profit or loss.

2.5 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired are measured on initial 
recognition at cost. The cost of an intangible asset 
comprises its purchase price and any directly at-
tributable cost of preparing the asset for its intend-
ed use (incidental acquisition cost). Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impair-
ment losses, if any.

In line with the business model of the Group, one 
focus of the Group is the development of products 
using active pharmaceutical ingredients which, as a 
rule, are not patent-protected. When a new pharma-
ceutical product seems technically and economically 
feasible, marketing authorizations (Arzneimittelzu-
lassungen) have to be obtained, either by internal 
development or external acquisition. Development 
costs for pharmaceutical products are capitalized 
if they are part of the development phase and ful-
fill the criteria in IAS 38.65. The Group’s intangible 
assets primarily comprise costs for acquired brand 
names and marketing authorizations, and external 
costs incurred for the drug approval process.

The Group’s intangible assets do not comprise mate-
rial intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. De-
velopment and authorization proceedings qualify as 
intangible asset not yet ready for use and are tested 
for impairment on an annual basis.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amor-
tized over their useful economic lives and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amorti-
zation of intangible assets begins when the asset 
is in the condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 
For brand names, amortization begins with the mar-
keting of the respective products. For marketing au-
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thorizations, amortization begins when the develop-
ment and authorization proceedings are finalized. 
The amortization period is reviewed at least at the 
end of each reporting period. Changes in the expect-
ed useful life or the expected pattern of consump-
tion of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset is accounted for by changing the amortization 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization 
expense on intangible assets is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Amortization of intangible assets is calculated on a 
straight-line basis with following useful lives:

• Developed marketing authorizations: 10 years

• Acquired marketing authorizations: 10 years

• Brand names: 10 years

• Other intangible assets: 2-5 years

Impairment testing is carried out by comparing the 
carrying amount of an asset to its recoverable amount 
which is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
disposal and the value in use. An impairment is recog-
nized through profit or loss for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. If the reasons for the impairment do no lon-
ger exist, the impairment is reversed. The increased 
carrying amount of an asset shall not exceed the car-
rying amount that would have been determined (net 
of amortization or depreciation) if no impairment loss 
had been recognized for the asset in prior years. In 
cases where it is no longer probable that a marketing 
authorization can be obtained for a certain product, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is deemed to be 
zero and it is impaired in full.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an in-
tangible asset are measured as the difference be-
tween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognized in the con-
solidated statements of profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognized.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, 
net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Cost includes any expendi-
tures that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset, including costs incurred to prepare the 
asset for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over 
each asset’s expected useful life. Depreciation meth-
ods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at 
least annually and adjusted prospectively, if appro-
priate. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets:

• IT equipment: 3-7 years

• Office equipment: 7-13 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecog-
nized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (cal-
culated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognized.

The Group tests property, plant and equipment for 
impairment whenever there is an indication of po-
tential impairment.

2.7 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease. That is the case, if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration.

The Group recognizes lease liabilities and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets for all leases except for leases with an original 
lease term of twelve months or less (short-term leas-
es) and leases of assets of low value. The lease pay-
ments associated with those leases are recognized as 
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease (i. e. the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use 
assets are initially measured at cost. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease lia-
bilities recognized.

After the commencement date, the Group measures 
right-of-use assets at cost less accumulated deprecia-
tion, any accumulated impairment losses and adjust-
ed for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Sched-
uled depreciation of right-of-use assets is made on a 
straight-line basis over the anticipated useful life or 
the shorter contract term. The right-of-use assets are 

tested for impairment, if there are indications that 
the assets may be impaired.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group 
recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. To determine the present value, the Group dis-
counts the remaining lease payments with the inter-
est rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be read-
ily determined. Otherwise, the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate is applied.

The lease term comprises the non-cancellable period 
of the lease together with periods covered by an ex-
tension option if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise the option and periods covered by a termi-
nation option if the lessee is reasonably certain not 
to exercise that option.

The incremental borrowing rate is the interest rate 
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar certainty, the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the 
right-of-use asset as the underlying lease agreement 
in a similar economic environment.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and 
finance expenses. The finance expense is recognized 
in profit or loss.

2.8 Inventories

Inventories include raw materials, consumables and 
finished goods.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories. 
Costs for all inventories are valued using the mov-
ing average method. Net realizable value for finished 
goods is based on the market value which is mainly 
driven by the expiration date.

2.9  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
bank deposits and other investments held with origi-
nal maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
They are measured either at their amortized cost or 
at fair value. Negative interest for the existing bank 
balances is included in finance expense.

2.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognized pursuant to IAS 37, provid-
ed the following conditions have been cumulatively 
met: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, this obligation is the result of a past event, 
it is more likely than not that the settling of this ob-
ligation will lead to an outflow of resources and the 
amount can be reliably measured.

The amount recognized as a provision represents 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure re-
quired to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period.

The Group is exposed to product liability claims, reg-
ulatory action and litigation which could result in a 
legally required recall of affected products or individ-
ual returns of e. g. damaged products. To reflect this 
risk, warranty provisions are recognized taking into 
account past experience, current sales levels and 
other current information available (such as devel-
opments in the regulatory environment). Provisions 
related to those risks are assurance-type warranties 
and recognized when the product is sold. It is expect-
ed that the costs will be incurred in the next financial 
year. The estimate of the related costs is revised on 
a regular basis.

Significant judgement is involved in the determina-
tion of warranty provisions (see note 3).

2.11 Employee benefits

Wages, salaries and social security charges are rec-
ognized in the profit and loss account according to 
the terms of employment, to the extent they are due 
to either employees or the tax authorities. Unused 
vacation liabilities accrued in the consolidated finan-
cial statements represents estimated total provision 
for potential liabilities related to employees’ unused 
vacation days as of the reporting date. Bonus liabil-
ities are calculated in general based on the Group’s 
performance for the financial year and each individ-
ual’s personal bonus agreements from the beginning 
of the year and accrued in the consolidated financial 
statements for the respective year.

Management Board members of the Group receive 
long-term variable compensation in the form of vir-
tual performance share units (“PSU”) that are expect-
ed to be settled in cash. PSUs are granted on the ba-
sis of strategic and profitability targets. In addition, 
the PSUs granted are also driven by the share price 
development of PharmaSGP Holding SE.
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For the fair value of each PSU, a liability is recognized 
in the Group’s statement of financial position. The 
fair value is measured initially and at each reporting 
date up to and including the settlement date, with 
changes in fair value recognized in employee bene-
fits expense. The fair value is expensed over the peri-
od until the vesting date with recognition of a corre-
sponding liability. The fair value is determined using 
a Monte Carlo simulation.

2.12 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing 
profit for the period attributable to the ordinary 
shareholders of SGP SE by the weighted average 
number of SGP SE’s shares outstanding during the 
period. Since there are no dilution effects, diluted 
earnings per share equal basic earnings per share.

2.13 Current taxes and deferred taxes

The Group establishes tax liabilities on the basis of 
expected tax payments. Liabilities for trade taxes, 
corporate taxes and similar income taxes are deter-
mined based on the taxable income of the combined 
entities less any prepayments made. All legal entities 
within PharmaSGP form a fiscal unit for taxation pur-
poses (ertragsteuerliche Organschaft). Calculation of 
tax liabilities is based on the recent tax rates applica-
ble in the tax jurisdiction of the Group.

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the cur-
rent period are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation author-
ities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted, or substan-
tively enacted at the reporting date in the countries 
where the Group operates and generates taxable 
income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in the tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpreta-
tion, and it establishes provisions where appropri-
ate. In case of uncertainties related to income taxes, 
they are accounted for in accordance with IFRIC 23 
and IAS 12.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method 
on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, and any carry forward of un-
used tax losses to the extent it is probable that suf-
ficient taxable profit will be available in future years.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is re-
viewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting 
date and are recognized to the extent that it has be-
come probable that future taxable profits will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been en-
acted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabil-
ities and the deferred taxes relate to the same tax-
able entity and the same taxation authority.

2.14 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 
to a financial asset of one party and a financial liabil-
ity or equity instrument of another party. 

Financial instruments are recognized when the 
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. Purchases or sales of fi-
nancial assets that require delivery of financial assets 
within a time frame established by regulation or con-
vention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are 
recognized on the settlement date, i. e. the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Classification and subsequent measurement  
of financial assets
Subsequent measurement depends on the catego-
ry to which each financial instrument has to be as-
signed on initial recognition.

Financial assets have to be classified into the follow-
ing categories according to IFRS 9:

• Debt instruments at amortized cost 

• Debt instruments at fair value through OCI with 
recycling of cumulative gains and losses  

• Equity instruments designated at fair value 
through OCI with no recycling of cumulative 
gains and losses upon derecognition 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The classification of financial assets depends on the 
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteris-
tics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them. Financial assets are classified as measured at 
amortized cost only when they are held exclusively 
to collect the contractual cash flows and when their 
contractual terms comprise cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest (EIR) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset 
is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost in-
clude cash and cash equivalents (except for money 
market funds measured at fair value) and trade and 
other receivables.

Assets that do not meet the criteria for the category 
“measured at amortized cost” or “measured at fair 
value through OCI” are classified as “measured at 
fair value through profit or loss”. Gains or losses on a 
debt instrument that are subsequently measured at 
fair value through profit or loss are offset in profit or 
loss and recognized in the period in which they arise.

Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
include money market funds designated as cash 
equivalents.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECLs) for its financial assets measured 
at amortized cost. ECLs are based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due in accor-
dance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive.

For trade receivables, the simplified approach has 
to be applied in calculating ECLs. Under this ap-
proach, the Group does not track changes in credit 
risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

The Group in general considers a financial asset in 
default when contractual payments are significantly 
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may 
also consider a financial asset to be in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the 
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding con-
tractual amounts in full before taking into account 
any credit enhancements held by the Group or vice 
versa (no impairment even if the financial asset 
is significantly overdue in case of contrary indica-
tions). A financial asset is written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering the con-
tractual cash flows.

Impairment losses, including reversals of impair-
ment losses or impairment gains, are presented as 
other expense in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss.

Derivatives and Hedge Accounting
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the 
end of each reporting period. The derivatives en-
tered into by PharmaSGP are designated as hedg-
ing instruments to hedge a specific risk associated 
with the cash flows of liabilities (cash flow hedges). 
At the inception of the hedge, the Group documents 
the economic relationship between the hedging in-
strument and the hedged item, including whether 
changes in the cash flows of the hedging instrument 
are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of 
the hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in 
a cash flow hedge is recognized in the reserve for 
cash flow hedges as a component of equity. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is rec-
ognized immediately in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

Derivatives designated in hedge accounting com-
prise the interest rate hedges recognized within 
other financial assets or other financial liabilities.

Classification and subsequent measurement  
of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at 
amortized cost (FLAC) or fair value through profit or 
loss (FVPL). A financial liability is classified as at FVPL 
if it is classified as held-for-trading or designated as 
such on initial recognition (fair value option); the 
Group does not use the fair value option for finan-
cial liabilities.
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The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loans, 
trade payables and other (financial) liabilities, which 
are all classified as measured at amortized cost. 
These financial liabilities are subsequently mea-
sured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any 
gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in 
profit or loss.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset 
and presented net in the consolidated statements 
of financial position when the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to real-
ize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
The Group might also enter into arrangements that 
do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow 
for the related amounts to be set off in certain cir-
cumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination 
of a contract.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognized when the contrac-
tual rights to receive cash flows from these assets 
expired or the Group has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards or has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
but transferred the control of the assets. When the 
Group has neither transferred nor retained substan-
tially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Group contin-
ues to recognize transferred assets to the extent of 
its continuing involvement. An associated liability 
is also recognized in that case. The measurement 
of the transferred assets and the associated liabili-
ty has to reflect the rights and obligations that the 
Group has retained.

A financial liability is derecognized when the contrac-
tual obligations under the liability are discharged, 
cancelled or expire. The Group also derecognizes 
a financial liability when its terms are modified and 
the cash flows of the modified liability are substan-
tially different, in which case a new financial liability 
based on the modified terms is recognized at fair 
value. Upon derecognition of a financial liability, 
the difference between the carrying amount extin-
guished and the consideration paid (including any 
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognized in profit or loss.

2.15  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the mea-
surement date in the principal or, in its absence, the 
most advantageous market to which the Group has 
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects 
its non-performance risk.

Based on the input parameters used for valuation 
the fair values have to be assigned to one of the fol-
lowing levels of the fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices includ-
ed within level 1 that are observable for the as-
set or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

• Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs)

2.16  Treasury shares

Treasury shares were acquired for the first time in 
the financial year 2023. Treasury shares are recog-
nized at cost and deducted from equity. The pur-
chase, sale, issue or redemption of treasury shares 
is recognized directly in equity. Any differences be-
tween the carrying amount and the consideration 
are recognized as a share premium in the event of 
a reissue.

3.  Significant accounting judgments 
and estimates

 Judgments, estimates and assumptions are contin-
uously evaluated and are based on historical expe-
rience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable un-
der the circumstances. Estimates and assumptions 
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to esti-
mates are recognized prospectively.

The Group makes judgments, estimates and assump-
tions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
could result in outcomes requiring a material adjust-

ment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the future financial years are addressed below.

Provisions for warranties
The Group offers assurance-type warranties, that 
need to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 37. 
Assurance-type related take-back obligations exist 
basically in case of deficiencies of the product (wrong 
product delivery, transportation damages, expira-
tion of marketing authorization etc.). Therefore, the 
Group is liable for claims of third parties arising from 
product liability (warranty claims). Accordingly, a pro-
vision is recognized in the amount of the best esti-
mate of the obligation resulting from the return. To 
estimate the amount on the warranty provision the 
quantity of outstanding products in the market is es-
timated based on external available data. To reflect 
the risk of return the Group defines percentages per 
return category which are applied on the value of out-
standing products in the market. The percentages are 
reviewed regularly to reflect current developments.

In a case of unexpected changes in market conditions, 
warranty provision estimations are subject to change 
as they are calculated based on the estimation and 
assumptions of the Group. Estimates are based on 
management’s current knowledge and expectations.

Provisions for legal disputes
Provisions for current legal disputes are recognized 
at their expected settlement amount. For the assess-
ment, assumptions are made regarding unavoidable 
litigation costs as well as assumptions regarding the 
most probable value of the litigation amount. These 
assumptions are based, amongst others, on judg-
ments of lower courts that are not yet final, and on 
the assessment of external experts.

Refund liability
The Group offers its customers rights to return 
products which are accounted for as a sale with a 
right to return under IFRS 15. Some of these rights 
arise from newly launched products which may be 
returned within a contractually agreed period. Re-
fund may also arise from regulatory, competitive 
or market related developments which could result 
in customers returning affected products. In those 
cases, a refund liability is recognized for the obli-
gation to refund some or all of the consideration 
received from a customer at the amount the Group 
ultimately expects it will have to return to the cus-
tomer. To estimate the amount of the refund liabil-
ity the number of outstanding products in the mar-
ket is estimated based on external available data. 
To reflect the risk of return the Group defines per-
centages per return category which are applied on 

the quantity of outstanding products in the market. 
The percentages are reviewed regularly to reflect 
current developments, e. g. resulting from ongoing 
regulatory changes or changes in the competitive 
environment.

In a case of unexpected changes in market condi-
tions, refund liability estimations are subject to 
change as they are calculated based on the estima-
tion and assumptions of the Group. The refund lia-
bilities are estimated based on management’s cur-
rent knowledge and expectations.

Intangible assets
The Group recognizes intangible assets for the costs 
of pharmaceutical products subject to regulatory 
approval. To assess if the criteria in IAS 38 for rec-
ognition is met, judgment is needed with regard 
to the probability if the regulatory approval will be 
achieved. The estimations are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes also having an impact on already 
recognized development and authorization proceed-
ings. Once the authorization of an already capitalized 
development and authorization proceeding is no 
longer probable, it is impaired in full.

Also the regular assessment whether existing mar-
keting authorizations (acquired or developed) and 
brand names may be impaired or not, is based on 
a triggering event. This assessment is based on ex-
pectations on the future business development. The 
regular assessment of the useful lives of intangible 
assets are based on management estimates on their 
economic usability.

Long-term variable compensation
The Group measures the cost of PSUs granted to 
members of the Management Board by reference to 
the fair value of the PSU on each reporting date. De-
termination of fair value requires estimates on the 
achievement of profitability and strategic targets as 
well as estimates on the share price development.
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4. Segment information

General information
The Group has one operating segment including all 
products of the Group companies. This assessment is 
based on information reported to the Group’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (CODM) for the purpose 
of assessing segmental performance and resource 
allocation. The Management Board is the CODM and 
monitors the entity’s performance. Performance is 
measured using revenues and for one-time effects 
adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (“adjusted EBITDA”) as key perfor-
mance indicators to assess the success of the Group’s 
business. Segment assets are presented in the consol-
idated statements of financial position. The segment 
profit is measured through the adjusted EBITDA, 
which is a performance indicator. The reconciliation 
to the consolidated financial information is as follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Adjusted EBITDA 34,088 28,229

Adjusted EBITDA 
margin 33.7 % 32.9 %

Expenses for legal 
and consulting costs 
in connection with 
acquisition 89 95

Expenses in connec-
tion with the long-
term compensation 
of the Management 
Board -16 135

Other one-time, 
non-recurring and 
non-operative  
expenses 6 1,066

Unadjusted EBITDA 34,009 26,933

Unadjusted EBITDA 
margin 33.6 % 31.4 %

Geographical information 

Revenues
in € thousand 2023 2022

Germany 73,363 61,324

Italy 13,557 10,527

Austria 10,507 9,750

Other European 
countries4) 3,672 4,223

101,099 85,824

4)  comprises France, Belgium, Spain, Switzerland, Poland,  
Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary

 
Basis for the revenues number is the country where 
the customer is located. All non-current assets of the 
Group are located in Germany.

The following table presents the changes in the 
Group’s intangible assets during the financial years 
2022 and 2023:

in € thousand
Developed marketing 

authorizations

Acquired marketing 
authorizations, brand 

names and other 
intangible assets

Development  
and authorization  

proceedings Total

Acquisition and  
production costs

1 January 2022 1,004 84,533 694 86,231

Additions 282 185 - 467

Disposals - - - -

31 December 2022 1,286 84,718 694 86,698

Additions 245 680 - 925

Disposals - - - -

31 December 2023 1,531 85,398 694 87,623

Accumulated amortization 
and impairment

1 January 2022 219 3,446 378 4,043

Amortization 138 8,510 - 8,648

Impairment - - 64 64

Disposals - - - -

31 December 2022 357 11,956 442 12,755

Amortization 181 8,556 - 8,737

Impairment - - 75 75

Disposals - - - -

31 December 2023 538 20,512 517 21,567

Carrying amount as of  
1 January 2022 785 81,087 316 82,188

Carrying amount as of  
31 December 2022 929 72,762 252 73,943

Carrying amount as of  
31 December 2023 993 64,886 177 66,056

In the financial year 2023, development expendi-
tures of € 73 thousand were recognized as expens-
es in the consolidated statements of profit or loss 
(2022: € 46 thousand).

Notes on the impairment test
Development and authorization proceedings contain 
marketing authorizations in the approval process, 
which are therefore not yet subject to scheduled 
amortization and must be reviewed for impairment 
on an annual basis. For this review, the recoverable 
amount of each project is determined through its 
value in use. As a result of this impairment review, 
five projects were fully or partially impaired at a total 
amount of € 75 thousand.

Major customers
PharmaSGP maintains business relationships with 
major logistics partners per country. The following 
table includes all revenues from transactions with a 
single external logistics partner with a share of 10 % 
or more of the Group’s revenues:

Revenues
in € thousand 2023 2022

Logistics partner A 47,185 56,173

Logistics partner B 21,399 160

Logistics partner C 13,557 10,527

Logistics partner D 10,507 9,750

Other logistics part-
ners and customers 8,451 9,214

101,099 85,824

 
Commercial and other risks like risk of impairment 
of trade receivables is not necessarily depending on 
logistics partners, as the logistics partners act partly 
on account of PharmaSGP and partly on their own 
account. The concentration on a small number of 
logistics partners is customary to the industry and 
corresponding wholesalers and pharmacies diversi-
fy potential cluster risks for PharmaSGP.

5.  Notes to the consolidated statements 
of financial position

5.1 Intangible assets

The Group has intangible assets with a finite useful 
life, consisting of development and authorization 
proceedings, developed as well as acquired market-
ing authorizations, brand names and other intan-
gible assets. The assets presented as development 
and authorization proceedings

include capitalized costs for marketing authorization 
applications, for which no approval has yet been ob-
tain by the respective regulatory authorities. Amor-
tization expense of the intangible assets is entirely 
classified within depreciation and amortization in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Within the acquired marketing authorizations and 
brand names, the product brands Baldriparan®,  
Formigran®, Spalt® and Kamol® acquired in 2021, in-
cluding their marketing authorizations, represent sig-
nificant assets that must be tested for impairment if 
there is an indication of impairment. Based on past 
and future sales and margin development, there is 
no indication of impairment as of 31 December 2023. 
However, the general development of the cost of capi-
tal in the financial year 2023 could be an indication that 
these assets may be impaired. For this reason, Phar-
maSGP has performed an impairment test based on 
updated cost of capital for each of these four assets, 
each of which representing a cash-generating unit. 
Despite an increase in the cost of capital – compared 
to the cost of capital at the acquisition date – the val-
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ue in use of each asset exceeds its carrying amount, 
therefore no impairment loss was recognized.

Information on sensitivity:

• In case of a further 3.0 percentage point increase 
in the discount rate, no impairment would have 
been required for any of the product brands.

• In case of a revenue shortfall by 13.0 % (relating 
to each year of the planning period), no impair-
ment expense would have been recognized for 
any of the product brands.

• A margin shortfall of 11.0 percentage points (re-
lating to each year of the planning period) would 
not have resulted in an impairment for any of 
the product brands.

5.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment have developed as 
follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Acquisition and  
production costs

1 January 641 515

Additions 46 127

Disposals -4 -1

31 December 683 641

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment

1 January 276 165

Additions 109 112

Disposals -4 -1

31 December 381 276

Carrying amount as of 1 January 365 350

Carrying amount as of 31 December 302 365

 
As of 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, 
there were no indications for impairment.

5.3 Leases

Right-of-use assets have developed as follows:

in € thousand Cars
Office 
space Total

1 January 2022 15 176 191

Additions 25 1,419 1,444

Depreciation expense -19 -407 -426

31 December 2022 21 1,187 1,208

Additions 12 104 116

Depreciation expense -20 -430 -450

31 December 2023 13 861 874

The corresponding lease liabilities have developed as 
follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

As of 1 January 1,220 194

Additions 116 1,444

Payments -478 -444

thereof from redemption -440 -418

thereof from interest -38 -26

As of 31 December 896 1,220

thereof current 444 404

thereof non-current 452 816

 
Expenses relating to short-term leases or low value leas-
es amount to € 5 thousand in 2023 (2022: € 3 thousand).

5.4 Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, consumables 
and finished goods.

in € thousand
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Raw materials and 
consumables 384 589

Finished goods 9,733 6,413

Inventories 10,117 7,002

As of 31 December 2023, finished goods include right 
of return assets relating to existing return rights from 
customers in the amount of € 32 thousand (31 De-
cember 2022: € 34 thousand).

In the financial year 2023, write-downs on inventories 
of € 177 thousand (2022: € 447 thousand) were recog-
nized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

In 2023 and 2022, there were no reversals of write-
downs.

5.5  Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables break down as follows:

in € thousand
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Trade receivables 9,141 7,763

Provisions for  
impairments -219 -

Other receivables 267 36

Trade and other 
receivables 9,189 7,799

 
Trade receivables are in general due within a payment 
period between 8 and 75 days and bear no interest. 
There are no limitations of any kind on rights of disposal. 

Provisions for impairments were recognized for the first 
time in the financial year 2023. Disclosures on impair-
ments and credit risks of trade and other receivables 
can be found in note 7.

5.6 Other assets

Other assets mainly comprise and deferred expens-
es and claims arising from indemnification from a 
legal dispute (see note 5.9).

5.7  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at hand, 
cash balances at different banks, money market 
funds and time deposits. The money market funds 
and time deposits have maturities of a few days, are 
highly liquid and are subject to only insignificant fluc-
tuations in value. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, 
there were no bank overdrafts and no restricted cash.

Notes on the statements of cash flows
The consolidated statements of cash flows were pre-
pared in accordance with IAS 7 “Statements of Cash 
Flows” and show how the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents have changed over the reporting period 
as a result of cash received and paid.

In accordance with IAS 7, cash flows from operat-
ing, investing and financing activities are separated 
according to their origin and utilization. The cash 
inflows and outflows from operating activities are 
derived indirectly on the basis of the Group’s profit 

for the period. Cash inflows and outflows from in-
vesting and financing activities are derived directly. 
The amount of cash in the statements of cash flows 
is equal to the value of cash and cash equivalents re-
ported in the statements of financial position.

The cash flows from operating activities are at-
tributable to the profit of the period adjusted for 
non-cash effects. The main non-cash effects in 2023 
are amortization and depreciation of intangible as-
sets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets of € 9,371 thousand in total (2022: € 9,250 
thousand).

Cash flows used in investing activities are primar-
ily attributable to investments in property, plant and 
equipment as well as intangible assets. 

Cash flows used in financing activities in 2023 
result mainly from dividend payments, loan repay-
ments and paid interest. Changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities reconcile to cash flows from 
financing activities as follows:

in € thousand
Financial 
liabilities

Lease 
liabilities

1 January 2022 85,000 194

New leases - 1,444

Proceeds 83,515 -

Payments for redemption -88,000 -418

Interest paid -1,709 -26

Interest expense 1,912 26

31 December 2022 80,718 1,220

New leases - 116

Proceeds - -

Payments for redemption and  
other financing expenses -8,054 -440

Interest paid -3,952 -38

Interest expense 4,369 38

31 December 2023 73,081 896

5.8 Shareholders’ equity

Share capital and capital reserve amount to € 12,000 
thousand and € 38,120 thousand and are unchanged 
to the prior year. Retained earnings result from earn-
ings carried forward from prior periods, and the divi-
dend payment and the result for the current reporting 
period. Other reserves comprise expenses from the 
purchase of treasury shares and reserves for cash 
flow hedges. As of 31 December 2022, reserves for 
cash flow hedges were presented in the position ac-
cumulated other comprehensive income.
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Dividends
In the financial year 2023, total dividends in the 
amount of € 5,875 thousand were distributed, this 
corresponds to a distribution of € 0.49 per share en-
titled to dividends. The corresponding resolution was 
passed by the Annual General Meeting on 28 June 
2023. For the financial year 2023, the Management 
Board proposes a distribution of € 1.36 per share to 
the shareholders. This corresponds to a total distri-
bution of € 16,320 thousand or 99.5 % of the Group’s 
profit for the period – disregarding treasury shares. If 
treasury shares exist at the time of distribution, they 
are not entitled to dividends. The Annual General 
Meeting will decide on the final profit distribution.

Purchase and divestiture of treasury shares
As of 31 December 2023, the Management Board is 
authorized to acquire treasury shares of SGP SE on 
or prior to 27 May 2025 in an amount of up to 10 % of 
the share capital of SGP SE existing at the time of the 
granting the authorization (28 May 2020) or – if this 
value is lower – at the time of its exercise. 

In the financial year 2023, SGP SE has for the first 
time purchased 9,787 treasury shares at an amount 
of € 286 thousand, including transaction fees. No 
treasury shares were sold. There are no treasury 
shares held by third parties in the name or for the 
account of SGP SE.

Authorized and conditional capital
As of 31 December 2023, total authorized capital of SGP 
SE is € 6,000 thousand, issuable on one or more occa-
sions until 27 May 2025 by issuing new bearer shares 
with no par value against contributions in cash and / or 
in kind. In addition, as of 31 December 2023, SGP SE’s 
conditional capital is € 6,000 thousand or 6,000,000 new 
bearer shares. It can be used for serving bearer and / 
or registered convertible bonds and / or option bonds.

5.9 Provisions

Provisions have developed as follows:

Current provisions

in € thousand Warranty Others Non-current provisions Total

1 January 2023 666 2,336 166 3,190

Additions 212 425 46 683

Utilization -124 -206 - -330

Release of unused amounts - -9 -92 -101

31 December 2023 776 2,546 120 3,442

 

The Group is exposed to product liability claims, 
regulatory action and litigation which could result 
in a legally required recall of affected products or 
individual returns of defected products. To reflect 
this, provisions of warranties are recognized. Oth-
er current provisions mainly include expenses legal 
disputes as described below and expenses for the 
annual general meeting. Non-current provisions 
are recognized for the long-term variable Manage-
ment Board compensation.

Legal disputes
Since December 2021, a lawsuit between PharmaSGP 
as defendant and a former advertising cooperation 
partner as plaintiff is pending. After PharmaSGP 
GmbH lost the case a first-instance ruling, an appeal 
against the judgment has been filed. As a result of the 
judgment, the expected settlement amount of the 
claim was recognized as a current provision. There is 
a guarantee from a company of the mother group to 
fully indemnify PharmaSGP against a payment claim 
in this case. Accordingly, an other asset in the same 
amount was recognized. There is no negative impact 
on PharmaSGP Group from the judgment.

Apart from the aforementioned litigation, Phar-
maSGP is not aware of any legal disputes that have 
a material effect on the Company’s financial position 
or results of operations.

Other financial obligations and  
financial commitments
As of 31 December 2023, the Group had purchase 
commitments totaling € 5,662 thousand in respect to 
suppliers (31 December 2022: € 8,180 thousand). As 
of 31 December 2023 and 2022, no guarantees have 
been provided to third parties.

5.10  Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise a five-year syndicate fi-
nancing involving four partner banks, that was en-
tered into on 14 July 2022. Interest is calculated on 
the basis of a fixed margin plus EURIBOR for the rel-
evant interest period. The margin is within a range of 
1.15 % and 2.75 %, depending on the type of usage 
(Term Loan or Revolving Credit Facility) and Phar-
maSGP’s debt ratio. The debt ratio is calculated as 
the quotient of net financial debt at the respective 
reporting date and a profitability ratio for each of the 
past four quarters. The calculation of net financial 
debt and the profitability ratio is based on detailed 
contractual regulations, according to which, among 
other things, extraordinary, exceptional and pri-
or-period income and expense items are adjusted.

The syndicate financing provides an additional cred-
it line of € 50,000 thousand that was not yet utilized.

To mitigate interest risks from EURIBOR fluctuations, 
the Group has entered into interest rate hedges. 
Risks from financial liabilities are outlined in note 7.3.

5.11  Trade payables

Trade payables are recognized for unpaid liabilities 
for goods and services provided to the Group prior 
to the end of the reporting period. Trade payables 
are unsecured, do not bear interest and fall gener-
ally due between 0 and 60 days.

5.12 Other liabilities

Other liabilities break down as follows:

in € thousand
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

VAT and social security 207 365

Accrued out-standing 
invoices 390 344

Other 549 472

Other liabilities 1,146 1,181

5.13  Other financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2023, other financial liabilities 
solely comprise expected refund liabilities from cus-
tomer contracts (see note 6.1). As of 31 December 
2022, this item additionally comprises a liability from 
the prolongation of Management Board services.

5.14 Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Company’s taxable income, whether distributed 
or retained, is generally subject to German corporate 
income tax at a uniform rate of 15.0 % for corporate 
tax and 8.8 % for trade tax plus the solidarity sur-
charge of 0.8 % thereon, resulting in a total tax rate 
of 24.6 %. All legal entities within PharmaSGP form 
a fiscal unit for taxation purposes (ertragsteuerliche 
Organschaft).

in € thousand 2023 2022

Current income taxes 5,421 3,655

Deferred income taxes 75 194

Income tax expense 5,496 3,849
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Tax liabilities result from current income taxes. A rec-
onciliation of income tax expense and the result of 
multiplying the profit of the period with the domestic 
tax rate of the Group for the financial years 2023 and 
2022 is as follows: 

in € thousand 2023 2022

Profit before taxes 21,893 15,803

Expected tax rate 24.6 % 24.6 %

Expected tax expense 5,380 3,884

Non-deductible  
expenses and  
financing components 87 43

Current and deferred 
taxes related to other 
periods -3 -76

Other 32 -2

Effective income tax 
expense 5,496 3,849

Effective tax rate 25.1 % 24.4 %

 
Deferred taxes break down as follows as of the re-
porting date:

in € thousand
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Lease liabilities 220 300

Other assets 129 165

Other 53 57

Deferred tax assets 402 522

Intangible assets 375 300

Right-of-use assets 215 297

Financial liabilities 231 318

Other financial assets 254 817

Other 117 19

Deferred tax  
liabilities 1,192 1,751

After netting:

Deferred tax assets - -

Deferred tax  
liabilities 790 1,229

Changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax li-
abilities in the financial year 2023 were recognized 
as deferred tax expense of € 75 thousand and other 
comprehensive income of € 513 thousand. In the fi-
nancial year 2022, € 194 thousand were recognized 
as deferred tax expense and € 764 thousand as oth-
er comprehensive income.

As of 31 December 2023, no deferred tax liabilities 
were recognized on temporary differences of € 2.496 
thousand (31 December 2022: € 2,499 thousand) as-
sociated with investments in subsidiaries. 

6.  Notes to the consolidated  
statements of profit or loss

 
6.1 Revenues

Revenues are almost exclusively generated from the 
sale of over-the-counter (OTC) pharmaceuticals and 
other healthcare products. Disclosures on markets 
and major customers are made in note 4.

Contract assets as conditional right to consideration 
for the transfer of goods do not exist. As of 31 De-
cember 2023 and 2022, there are no unsatisfied per-
formance obligations or contract liabilities. Refund 
liabilities from customer contracts are recognized 
within other current financial liabilities and amount 
to € 635 thousand as of 31 December 2023 (31 De-
cember 2022: € 688 thousand).

6.2 Other operating income

The decrease in other operating income compared to 
the previous year is mainly due to one-off claims for 
damages recognized in the financial year 2022.

6.3 Personnel expenses

IIn 2023, the Group had an average of 96 employees 
(2022: 83), thereof 83 in full-time (2022: 66) and 13 
in part-time (2022: 17). Personnel expenses in the fi-
nancial years 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Wages and salaries 6,191 5,996

Social security  
contributions 1,151 916

thereof from defined 
contribution plans 482 403

Personnel expenses 7,342 6,912

 
Disclosures on share-based compensation expenses 
are made in note 9.

6.4 Marketing expenses

In the financial year 2023, marketing expenses have 
increased in line with revenues to € 43,381 thousand 
(2022: € 37,378 thousand).

6.5 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses comprise expenses in-
curred from legal and consulting, third-party ser-
vices, quality control, audit and financial closing, ex-
penses for returns from warranties, travel expenses, 
product development, provisions for impairments of 
trade receivables and diverse other expenses.

6.6 Finance income and expenses

Using the effective interest method, interest is 
recognized as income or expense in the period in 
which it is incurred.

in € thousand 2023 2022

Interest income 235 47

Income from  
cash flow hedges 1,033 214

Other finance income 911 47

Finance income 2,179 308

Interest expenses 4,410 2,007

Expenses from  
cash flow hedges 245 -

Other finance expenses 269 181

Finance expenses 4,924 2,188

Interest income mainly comprises interest on time 
deposits and interest from tax deposits. 

In 2023, income from cash flow hedges comprises 
gains reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve. In 
2022, this position comprises ineffectivities from cash 
flow hedges. Cash flow hedges are outlined in note 7.1. 

Other interest and finance income mainly relates to 
gains from money market funds.

Interest expenses result from financial liabilities, 
lease liabilities and in the prior year negative interest 
on cash balances.

In 2023, expenses from cash flow hedges comprise 
expenses of € 37 thousand reclassified from the cash 
flow hedge reserve and ineffectivities from cash flow 
hedges of € 208 thousand.

Other finance expenses mainly comprise fees in-
curred from financing activities.

6.7 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing 
profit for the period attributable to the ordinary 
shareholders of SGP SE by the number of weight-
ed average outstanding shares of SGP SE. Treasury 
shares are not considered outstanding and reduce 
the number of shares used for the calculation.

2023 2022

Profit for the period
(in € thousand) 16,397 11,954

Number of shares 11,992,636 12,000,000

Basic and diluted 
earnings per share 
(in €) 1.37 1.00

 
There are no effects from dilution.
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7.  Financial instruments and  
financial risk management

 
7.1 Disclosures on financial instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts and 
fair values of the financial assets and financial liabil-
ities (except for lease liabilities) and the allocation of 
financial statement positions to the measurement 
categories:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

in € thousand
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Derivatives in a hedging relationship (cash flow hedges):

Other non-current financial assets (interest rate hedges) 1,250 1,250 2,084 2,084

Other current financial assets (interest rate hedges) - - 1,240 1,240

1,250 1,250 3,324 3,324

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss:

Cash and cash equivalents (money market funds) 36,878 36,878 19,906 19,906

36,878 36,878 19,906 19,906

Financial assets measured at amortized cost  
(debt instruments):

Trade and other receivables 9,189 9,189 7,799 7,799

Cash and cash equivalents (other than money market funds) 3,888 3,888 12,736 12,736

13,077 13,077 20,535 20,535

Total financial assets 51,205 51,205 43,765 43,765

thereof current 49,955 49,955 41,681 41,681

thereof non-current 1,250 1,250 2,084 2,084

Derivatives in a hedging relationship (cash flow hedges):

Other non-current financial liabilities (interest rate hedges) 219 219 - -

219 219 - -

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:

Financial liabilities 73,081 75,540 80,718 86,101

Trade payables 9,920 9,920 8,786 8,786

Other financial liabilities 635 635 1,688 1,688

83,636 86,095 91,192 96,575

Total financial liabilities 83,855 86,314 91,192 96,575

thereof current 18,266 21,775 18,133 22,500

thereof non-current 65,589 64,539 73,059 74,075

 
Interest rate derivatives in the form of interest rate 
swaps are measured using yield curves prevailing 
at the balance sheet date by discounting the future 
cash flows. Since the 2023 financial year, all interest 
rate swaps have been reported as non-current or 
current.

Disclosures on fair value measurement
Money market funds reported within cash and cash 
equivalents are measured at fair value using market 
prices for identical assets in accessible markets. This 
corresponds to level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.

Derivatives recognized as other financial assets or 
other financial liabilities are measured using the dis-
counted cash flow method. For this purpose, future 
cash flows are determined on the basis of forward in-
terest rates derived from observable yield curves at 
the balance sheet date and contracted interest rates. 
Discounting is performed using an interest rate that 
takes into account the credit risk of the various coun-
terparties. This corresponds to level 2 in the fair val-
ue hierarchy.

The fair value of the financial liabilities is based on 
discounted cash flows, using the current market in-
terest rate for such borrowings of comparable com-
panies. They are classified within level 3 of the fair val-
ue hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs.

Reclassifications within and out of the fair value hi-
erarchy levels are generally made at the end of the 
reporting period. There were no reclassifications 
within the respective levels in the reporting period.

Gains and losses from financial instruments
Except for provisions for impairments on trade re-
ceivables, gains and losses from financial instru-
ments are recognized as finance income or finance 
expenses. Net gains and losses per category are as 
follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Financial assets 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 910 45

Financial assets  
measured at amortized 
cost (debt instruments) 7 -40

Financial liabilities 
measured at  
amortized cost -4.370 -1,912

Gains from financial assets measured at fair val-
ue through profit or loss result from price gains on 
money market funds. Net gains from financial assets 
measured at amortized cost contain provisions for 
impairments on trade receivables interest gains on 
time deposits and in the prior year negative inter-
est on cash deposits. Losses from financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost result from interest on 
bank loans.

Total interest gains and losses are as follows:

in € thousand 2023 20212

Financial assets  
measured at  
amortized cost  
(debt instruments)

Interest gains 226 30

Interest losses - -70

Financial liabilities 
measured at  
amortized cost

Interest gains - -

Interest losses -4.370 -1,912

 
Hedge accounting disclosures
The Group has entered into interest rate hedges in 
the form of interest rate payer swaps with an initial 
nominal volume of € 82,000 thousand to hedge the 
interest rate risk arising from the new syndicate fi-
nancing entered into in 2022. Under the interest rate 
swaps, the Group pays an average fixed interest rate 
of 1.95 %. The syndicated financing has a term un-
til 17 July 2027 with a semi-annual instalments of € 
4,000 thousand. The concluded interest rate swaps 
correspond to the hedged item at the time of desig-
nation with regard to the nominal volume, the vari-
able interest rate, the payment dates and the term; 
and therefore ensure a hedge of the interest rate risk 
of the hedged item. Ineffectiveness from the hedging 
relationship may arise from the fact that the interest 
rate of the syndicate financing cannot become neg-
ative, as well as from a possible change in the credit 
risk of the interest rate swap. 

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is deter-
mined at the commencement of the hedging relation-
ship and through regular prospective assessments 
using the Critical Terms Match method to ensure 
that there is an economic relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging transaction. Effective-
ness is determined retrospectively on each balance 
sheet date using the Dollar Offset method in the form 
of the hypothetical derivative method. Under this 
method, the cumulative absolute change in the fair 
value of the hedging instrument is compared against 
the cumulative absolute change in the fair value of a 
hypothetical derivative in which all valuation-relevant 
parameters match the underlying transaction.
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The carrying amounts of the interest hedges corre-
spond to their fair value. The Group recognizes its 
cash flow hedges in the following line items in the 
statement of financial position:

in € thousand
31. December 

2023
31. December 

2022

Other non-current 
financial assets 1,250 2,084

Other current  
financial assets - 1,240

Other non-current 
financial liabilities 219 -

Total carrying 
amount 1,031 3,324

Disclosures on hedging instruments:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Carrying amount of 
interest rate swaps as 
of 31 December 1,031 3,324

Change in fair value as 
basis for determina-
tion of ineffectiveness 1,031 3,324

Nominal amounts of 
cash flow hedges as of 
31 December 74,000 82,000

 
Disclosures on hedged items:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Change in value of 
the hedged item for 
determination of 
ineffectiveness 1,018 3,147

Balance of cash flow 
hedge reserve as of  
31 December 1,018 3,110

Nominal amounts of 
hedged items as of  
31 December 74,000 82,000

Hedge ratio 100 % 100 %

 
Impact on gains and losses:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Gains and losses  
recognized in other  
comprehensive income -1,096 3,110

Ineffectivity of 
cash flow hedges 
recognized as finance 
income and expense -208 214

Reclassification  
from reserve for  
cash flow hedges 996 -

The reserves for cash flow hedges presented in the 
consolidated statements of equity have developed 
as follows:

in € thousand

Reserves 
before 

taxes
Deferred 

taxes Total

1 January 2023 3,110 -764 2,346

Gains and losses  
recognized in other 
comprehensive income -1,096 - -1,096

Reclassification to 
finance income -1,033 - -1,033

Reclassification to 
finance expenses 37 - 37

Deferred taxes - 513 513

31 December 2023 1,018 -251 767

 
7.2 Capital management

In the mid-term perspective, PharmaSGP’s capi-
tal management aims at financing the Company’s 
growth strategy and thus to ensure the long-term 
ability to distribute dividends to shareholders and 
the continued existence of the Company. Further fo-
cal points are the financing of potential acquisitions 
in line with the growth strategy, the general reduc-
tion of financing costs, the compliance with covenant 
restrictions and the optimization of capital-intensive 
net working capital.

The Group’s equity has further increased as a result 
of the positive earnings in the financial year 2023 and 
despite a dividend payment. Accordingly, the Group’s 
equity ratio has increased from 24.1 % as of 31 De-
cember 2022 to 30.3 % as of 31 December 2023. 

The syndicate loan is subject to covenant restrictions 
under which the outstanding loan amount may be 
called in if a certain debt ratio is exceeded (see note 
5.10).

PharmaSGP defines working capital as the sum of in-
ventories, trade and other receivables as well as oth-
er assets, less trade payables and other liabilities. For 
the purpose of actively managing its working capital, 
PharmaSGP uses detailed rolling forecasts for opti-
mal stock levels. The Group aims at balanced pay-
ment terms towards suppliers and customers.

7.3 Financial risk management

Establishment and oversight over the Group’s fi-
nancial risk management is the responsibility of the 

to a € 1,745 thousand (31 December 2022: € 2,333 
thousand) lower equity and a € 147 thousand lower 
result (31 December 2022: € 179 thousand, excluding 
deferred taxes).

As in the prior year, the Group’s cash at banks is sub-
ject to variable interest rates. Due to negative inter-
est rates, the Group recognized no interest expenses 
in 2023 (2022: € 70 thousand).

Management Board who prescribes principles for 
the cross-functional risk management. Since the fi-
nancial year 2020, the Group has had a Risk Coordi-
nator who identifies and assesses financial risks in 
close cooperation with the Group’s operating units.

Appropriate policies to identify and analyze the risks 
the Group faces and controls to monitor those risks 
have been established. The risk management policies 
are reviewed regularly to incorporate changes to the 
Group’s activities and in market conditions aiming at 
maintaining a working control environment where 
everyone understands their role and responsibilities.

Relating to financial instruments, the Group may 
be exposed to market price risks, liquidity risks and 
credit risks.

Market price risk
Changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange 
rates or interest rates can affect the Group’s net in-
come or the value of financial instruments held by 
the Group, and are summarized as market price risk. 
These risks are managed on a centralized basis in or-
der to control exposure to market price risks within 
acceptable parameters and while optimizing returns.

Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is one major market risk factor when 
transactions are not denominated in the functional 
currency, because of potentially unfavorable curren-
cy exchange rates. Since the Group mainly operates 
in Euro countries, and all entities have the same 
functional currency, the Group is not significantly ex-
posed to exchange rates fluctuations with respect to 
its transactions.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is a risk factor associated with in-
terest-bearing financial instruments and includes the 
effect of positive or negative interest rate changes on 
profit, cash flows or equity. 

In connection with the syndicate financing raised in 
2022, the Group has entered into interest rate hedg-
es to hedge interest rate risks arising from EURIBOR 
fluctuations.

The interest rate derivatives concluded as part of 
hedge accounting are subject to an interest rate risk. 
A change in EURIBOR of +100 basis points would 
have led to an increase in equity of € 1,696 thou-
sand (31 December 2022: € 2,358 thousand) and an 
increase in earnings of € 124 thousand (31 Decem-
ber 2022: € 42 thousand, excluding deferred taxes). 
A 100 basis points lower EURIBOR would have led 
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encoun-
ter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by deliver-
ing cash or other financial assets. Financial liabilities 
exposed to liquidity risks include mainly bank loans, 
trade payables as well as lease liabilities.

The following table shows undiscounted contractual-
ly agreed future cash outflows from financial liabili-
ties (maturity analysis) as of 31 December 2023:

in € thousand Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years More than 5 years

Financial liabilities5) 1,044 10,954 74,219 -

Lease liabilities 117 350 460 -

Trade payables 9,920 - - -

Other financial liabilities 87 427 363 -

11,168 11,731 75,042 -

Maturity analysis as of 31 December 2022:

in € thousand Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years More than 5 years

Financial liabilities 819 11,435 84,485 -

Lease liabilities 110 328 843 -

Trade payables 8,764 22 - -

Other financial liabilities 1,172 516 - -

10,865 12,301 85,328 -

5) The presented payments for interest and redemption of financial liabilities does not include offsetting cash flows from interest hedges.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if 
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The credit risk 
comprises both the immediate default risk and the 
danger of a decline in the customer‘s creditworthi-
ness. The Group‘s exposure to credit risk corresponds 
to trade receivables, other receivables and cash and 
cash equivalents. 

Compared with the other financial assets, default risks 
are most likely to exist for trade receivables, which, 
however, were almost zero in the past. To maintain 
the low credit default risk based on historical evidence, 
the Group assesses the default risk for new customers 
with a significant order volume. For all customers, a 
regular monitoring process has been established to 
track and manage open balances.

Credit risks arising from cash and cash-equivalents 
are monitored directly on Group level. Counterparties 
for cash and cash-equivalent transactions are limited 

to financial institutions with strong credit ratings. The 
creditworthiness of these financial institutions is mon-
itored on a regular basis. The Group considers that its 
cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based 
on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.

Default risks from other financial instruments are also 
immaterial. Therefore, no loss allowance was recog-
nized for other financial instruments.

Trade receivables

in € thousand

as of 
31 December 

2023

as of 
31 December 

2022

Not overdue 8,723 7,726

Overdue

< 30 days 89 11

30-90 days 27 8

More than 90 days 302 18

The summarized transactions and balances with  
FUTRUE and other entities of the FUTRUE Group are 
as follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Reimbursements 
received from /  
services rendered to

FUTRUE - 82

FUTRUE Group 3 -

3 82

Purchase of services 
and fixed assets 
from

FUTRUE 47 124

FUTRUE Group 41,676 36,689

41.723 36,813

in € thousand
31 December

2023
31 December

2022

Amounts owed to

FUTRUE 7 5

FUTRUE Group 6,935 7,086

6,942 7,091

 
 
As of 31 December 2023, there is a receivable from 
a company of the FUTRUE Group of an immaterial 
amount relating to the rendering of Regulatory Af-
fairs services (31 December 2022: no receivables).

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no 
loans owed to FUTRUE or other entities of FUTRUE 
Group. There is a claim under a guarantee to a com-
pany of the parent group covering an obligation of 
the company in the amount of € 2.3 million. The ex-
pected claim is recognized as other asset. In the fi-
nancial year 2023, there were no transactions with 
MVH.

Transactions between SGP SE and its subsidiaries
SGP SE is the holding company of the Group. There 
are domination and profit and loss transfer agree-
ments were between SGP SE and the operating com-
panies PharmaSGP GmbH, Restaxil GmbH, Remitan 
GmbH, Fokusan Health GmbH and PharmaSGP Vi-
talmed GmbH. Together with its subsidiaries, SGP 
SE constitutes a fiscal unit for income tax and VAT 
purposes (ertragsteuerliche und umsatzsteuerliche 
Organschaft). 

8. Related party disclosures
 
Related parties in accordance with IAS 24 “Related 
Party Disclosures” are those legal entities, other than 
entities that are already included in the consolidated 
financial statements, and natural persons which can 
be materially influenced by or are able to influence 
the Group.

Pursuant to the principles in IAS 24, key management 
personnel are able to materially influence the Group 
and therefore qualify as related parties. In addition, 
FUTRUE and MVH Beteiligungs- und Beratungs- 
GmbH (hereinafter referred to as „MVH“) are share-
holders of SGP SE and thus have a significant influ-
ence on the Group. FUTRUE and MVH are controlled 
by the Supervisory Board members Dr. Clemens 
Fischer and Madlena Hohlefelder. A voting agree-
ment has been in place between FUTRUE and MVH 
since 13 May 2020, pursuant to which both parties 
have committed to exercise their voting rights at 
general meetings on a uniform basis.

FUTRUE is the parent company of PharmaSGP  
Holding SE. Therefore, SGP SE together with its sub-
sidiaries is included in the consolidated financial 
statements of FUTRUE. FUTRUE is controlled by Dr. 
Clemens Fischer, who therefore qualifies as ultimate 
controlling party.

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, di-
recting and controlling the activities of PharmaSGP. 
PharmaSGP identified the members of the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board of SGP SE as key 
management personnel thus as related parties. The 
composition and remuneration of the corporate 
boards are outlined in note 9.

Except for the remuneration of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board, there were no other 
transactions with key management personnel or 
their close family members in 2023. No loans, guar-
antees or collaterals were provided.

Transactions with FUTRUE and MVH
In the financial year 2023, the Group received me-
dia services and – to an immaterial extent – other 
services based on the existing service agreements 
between the PharmaSGP and FUTURE Group. Since 
November 2023, PharmaSGP renders Regulatory Af-
fairs services to FUTRUE Group, however in an im-
material amount.
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In 2023, intragroup profits or losses of € 23,413 thou-
sand were transferred to SGP SE from those con-
tracts (2022: € 18,356 thousand).

Furthermore on 26 August 2021, SGP SE granted its 
subsidiary PharmaSGP GmbH a loan with a residual 
value of € 78,000 thousand as of 31 December 2023 
(31 December 2022: € 85,000). From this loan, intra-
group interest of € 3,971 thousand were incurred in 
2023 (2022: € 1,817 thousand).

 

9. Corporate boards and remuneration

Management Board

Name Responsibilities

Natalie Weigand
Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO)

Marketing, sales & distribution, 
procurement, quality management & 
regulatory affairs 

Michael Rudolf  
Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO)

Finance, controlling, business 
development, operations, legal & 
compliance, human resources and 
information technology

Ms. Weigand and Mr. Rudolf do not have other man-
dates as members of supervisory boards or other 
controlling bodies pursuant to Sec. 125 AktG (Ger-
man Stock Corporation Law).

Supervisory Board

Name Responsibilities

Dr. Clemens Fischer
Head of the  
Supervisory Board

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
at FUTRUE Group

Madlena Hohlefelder 
Deputy head of the 
Supervisory Board

Chief Strategy Officer (CSO) 
at FUTRUE Group

Dr. Axel Rebien Chief Executive Officer (CEO)  
at Serrala Group

 
The members of the Supervisory Board do not have 
other mandates as members of supervisory boards 
or other controlling bodies pursuant to Sec. 125 AktG 
(German Stock Corporation Law).

Remuneration
The basic principles of the remuneration system for 
members of the Management Board and Supervi-
sory Board can be downloaded at https://ir.phar-
masgp.com.

Members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed 
remuneration of € 50 thousand. For the head of the 
Supervisory Board, the fixed remuneration amounts 
to € 90 thousand and for the deputy head of the Su-

pervisory Board to € 70 thousand. The head of the 
Supervisory Board, Dr. Clemens Fischer, and the 
deputy head, Madlena Hohlefelder, have waived 
their remuneration until further notice. In the fi-
nancial year 2023, expenses for Supervisory Board 
remuneration of € 50 thousand have been incurred 
(2022: € 50 thousand).

The total Management Board remuneration pur-
suant to Sec. 314 (6a) HGB was € 2,069 thousand in 
2023 (prior year: € 904 thousand). In addition to a 
fixed remuneration, fringe benefits and a short-term 
variable compensation, total Management Board re-
muneration includes in 2023 a one-time additional 
remuneration for the extension Management Board 
activities in the amount of € 500 thousand per Board 
member and € 325 thousand from the total fair value 
of the long-term Management Board compensation 
granted in 2023 for the years 2023-2026 (2022: € 315 
thousand from the total fair value of the long-term 
Management Board compensation granted in 2022 
for the years 2022-2025). The long-term Management 
Board compensation granted in 2023 equals 12,721 
Performance Share Units (PSUs).

The total Management Board compensation  
pursuant to IAS 24.17 was € 697 thousand in 2023 
and € 1,693 thousand in 2022 and breaks down as 
follows:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Short-term  
employee benefits 744 1,589

Share-based  
compensation -47 104

697 1,693

Short-term employee benefits comprise a fixed re-
muneration, fringe benefits and a short-term vari-
able remuneration. In addition, the short-term em-
ployee benefits include in 2022 a one-time additional 
compensation for the extension of the Management 
Board activities for the Company in the amount of  
€ 500 thousand per Management Board member. 
The compensation was fully earned and paid out in 
the first quarter of 2023.

Fringe benefits include social security contributions, 
benefits in kind, and compensation for vacation 
days not taken. Also included is the lump-sum ener-
gy payment due in 2022.

The short-term variable remuneration 2023 is struc-
tured as an annual bonus and depends on the busi-
ness development of PharmaSGP Holding SE and its 

prising targets on profitability, share price develop-
ment and acquisition targets.

To determine the final long-term variable compen-
sation claims of the members of the Management 
Board at the end of each performance period, the 
number of vested PSUs after such period is multi-
plied by the volume weighted average share price 
of the Company in Xetra trading during the last 30 
trading days before the end of the relevant perfor-
mance period, plus any dividends paid during such 
period. For purposes of calculating the compensa-
tion claims, this share price adjusted for dividends 
is capped at 150 % of the share price used to calcu-
late the number of PSUs at the beginning of the re-
spective performance period. Once these compen-
sation claims have been determined, the Company 
can elect whether it will settle these claims in cash 
or by providing treasury shares, with such shares 
being valued at the volume weighted average share 
price of the Company in Xetra trading during the 
last 30 trading days before the end of the relevant 
performance period. Currently, PharmaSGP expects 
a cash settlement.

The liability for the vested PSUs is measured at the 
end of each reporting period until settled, at the fair 
value of the PSUs, by applying a Monte Carlo simu-
lation, taking into account the terms and conditions 
on which the PSUs were granted, and the extent 
to which the members of the Management Board 
have succeeded to date. The following inputs were 
applied for the fair value determination as of 31 De-
cember 2023:

• Accomplished performance targets and expect-
ed future target fulfilments

• Risk-free interest rate: 2.06 % to 3.05 % (31. De-
cember 2022: 2.46 % to 2.57 %)

• Expected average dividend yield: 5.3 % to 5.6 % 
(31 December 2022: 3.6 % to 3.7 %)

• Expected volatility: 29.2 % (31 December 2021: 
30.7 %)

The total expense from the long-term variable 
compensation is recognized ratably over the per-
formance period, under consideration of the 
above-mentioned input data. The carrying amount 
of the liability relating to PSUs at 31 December  
2023 was € 120 thousand (31 December 2022:  
€ 166 thousand). The income recognized in the fi-
nancial year 2023 is € 47 thousand (2022: expense 
of € 104 thousand.)

 

subsidiaries and comprises both financial (Group 
EBITDA, Group revenues) and non-financial tar-
get criteria. The target value for the Group EBITDA  
for the financial year 2023 was € 33 million (2022:  
€ 26.0 million) and for the Group revenues € 95 mil-
lion (2022: € 80.5 million). Overall target achievement 
in the financial years 2023 and 2022 was 100 % for 
both the financial and the non-financial criteria, and 
the members of the Management Board were ac-
cordingly granted short-term variable compensation 
of € 50 thousand each. There is a liability in the same 
amount as of 31 December 2023.

Disclosures on share-based compensation
To align the interests of the members of the Man-
agement Board with those of other stakeholders of 
the Company, the long-term variable compensation 
is granted in the form of virtual performance shares 
units (“PSUs”), which are awarded to each member of 
the Management Board.

The long-term variable compensation is granted in 
annual tranches for a performance period of four 
years. The number of PSUs to be granted to each 
member of the Management Board per annum cor-
responds to the quotient of (i) a target value, divided 
by (ii) the volume weighted average share price of 
the Company in Xetra trading during the last 30 trad-
ing days before the commencement of the respec-
tive performance period.

• The target values for the PSUs granted in the fi-
nancial year 2021 amount to € 55 thousand and 
€ 260 thousand, depending on the Management 
Board position. The performance period is four 
years. 25 % of each tranche of PSUs vests for 
each year over the performance period.

• The target values for the PSUs granted in the fi-
nancial year 2022 amount to € 55 thousand and 
€ 260 thousand, depending on the Management 
Board position. The performance period is four 
years. 25 % of each tranche of PSUs vests for 
each year over the performance period.

• The target values for the PSUs granted in the fi-
nancial year 2023 amount to € 85 thousand and 
€ 240 thousand, depending on the Management 
Board position. The performance period is four 
years. 25 % of each tranche of PSUs vests for 
each year over the performance period.

Such PSUs are subject to good leaver and bad leaver 
provisions, which may result in PSUs being forfeit. 
The final number of vested PSUs depends on the 
achievement of three performance targets, com-
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10. Audit fees

The table below shows the auditor’s fee charged 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft, Munich:

in € thousand 2023 2022

Audit services 242 185

Other assurance 
services 6 7

Tax advisory services - -

Other services 9 10

Total fee 257 202

Thereof relating  
to prior years 43 -

Audit fees relate to the audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of SGP SE and the audit of financial 
statements of German Group entities. 

Other assurance services comprise confirmations to 
third parties. Other services comprise consulting fees.

11. Corporate governance declaration

PharmaSGP Holding SE has submitted the declara-
tion of compliance with the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code required by Sec. 161 AktG and made it 
available to its shareholders on the website https://
ir.pharmasgp.com/en/..

12. Events after the reporting date

No events or transactions of particular significance 
occurred after the reporting date.

 
Gräfelfing, 25 April 2024

Natalie Weigand   Michael Rudolf
(CEO)    (CFO)
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi-
nancial statements give a true and fair view of the net 
assets, financial position and profit or loss of the Group, 
and the combined management report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Company and the 
Group, together with a description of the material  

The following remuneration report has been pre-
pared in accordance with the requirements of Sec. 
162 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and pres-
ents the remuneration granted or owed to the mem-
bers of the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board of PharmaSGP Holding SE for the respective 
financial year. The term “granted” and “owed” remu-
neration comprises the remuneration for which the 
underlying activity has been fully performed as of the 
end of the financial year 2023.

The remuneration report was formally audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft in accordance with Sec. 162 (3) 
AktG. The remuneration report and the audit opin-
ion are published on PharmaSGP Holding SE’s web-
site (https://ir.pharmasgp.com). It will be submitted 
to the 2024 Annual General Meeting on 26 June 2024 
for approval.

The remuneration report for the financial year 2022 
was presented to the Annual General Meeting on  
28 June 2023, which approved it with an approval 
rate of 89.65 %. Against the background of this pos-
itive result, the transparent reporting practice was 
also maintained for the 2023 financial year.

 
1. Outline of the remuneration system
 
The remuneration system for the members of the 
Management Board was approved by the Annual 
General Meeting on 24 June 2021. Also the remuner-
ation for members of the Supervisory Board wars 
approved by the Annual General Meeting on 24 June 
2021. Descriptions of the remuneration systems can 
be downloaded at https://ir.pharmasgp.com  

2. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The members of the Supervisory Board of Phar-
maSGP Holding SE receive a fixed remuneration of  
€ 50 thousand for each full financial year of their 
membership in the Supervisory Board. For the head 
of the Supervisory Board, the fixed remuneration 

opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the Company and the Group.

 
Gräfelfing, 25 April 2024

Natalie Weigand   Michael Rudolf
(CEO)    (CFO)

amounts to € 90 thousand and for the deputy head 
of the Supervisory Board € 70 thousand.

In addition to their fixed compensation, Supervisory 
Board members are entitled to reimbursement of ex-
penses incurred in connection with the performance 
of their Supervisory Board duties. The Company also 
reimburses the members of the Supervisory Board 
for value-added tax on their remuneration and ex-
penses. PharmaSGP Holding SE also grants a D&O 
insurance to the members of the Supervisory Board.

Since 2020, the head of the Supervisory Board, Dr. 
Clemens Fischer, and the deputy head, Madlena 
Hohlefelder, have waived their remuneration until 
further notice. 

The remuneration granted to Supervisory Board 
member Dr. Axel Rebien in the financial year 2023 
amounts to € 50 thousand.

 
 
3.  Remuneration of the  

Management Board

Non-performance-related compensation
The members of the Management Board receive 
a fixed compensation paid in twelve equal install-
ments as a monthly salary. Fringe benefits include 
social security contributions, benefits in kind and 
compensation for unused vacation days. The mem-
bers of the Management Board have not been 
granted any company-funded commitments for a 
company pension.

Performance-related remuneration
The performance-related remuneration of Phar-
maSGP Holding SE consists of a short-term variable 
remuneration (annual bonus) and a long-term vari-
able remuneration (Performance Share Plan). When 
defining the target values, the Supervisory Board 
ensures that the variable remuneration is designed 
for the sustainable and long-term development of 
the company and that the predominant multi-year 
nature of the variable remuneration required by the 
German Stock Corporation Act and the German Cor-
porate Governance Code is fulfilled.

Remuneration Report  
for the Financial Year 2023

Responsibility Statement
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Short-term variable remuneration
The short-term variable remuneration 2023 is struc-
tured as an annual bonus and corresponds to the re-
muneration system approved by the Annual General 
Meeting of PharmaSGP Holding SE.

The short-term variable remuneration depends on 
development of the financial year of PharmaSGP 
Holding SE and its subsidiaries and comprises both 
financial and non-financial target criteria. The re-
spective target criteria are defined individually for 
each member of the Management Board by the Su-
pervisory Board at the beginning of the fiscal year. 

For the financial year 2023, the Supervisory Board 
has defined Group EBITDA1 and Group revenues of 
the PharmaSGP Group as financial success parame-
ters. The successful implementation of reforestation, 
including a presentation in the ESG documentation, 
was defined as a non-financial success parameter.

Group EBITDA is a key earnings indicator of the Phar-
maSGP Group, which can be used to show the oper-
ating development – also on an internationally com-
parable basis. The target value for Group EBITDA for 
the financial year 2023 was € 33 million. Group reve-
nues are the key indicator for measuring the Group’s 
business volume. The target value for the Group rev-
enues was € 95 million for the financial year 2023.

The target values for Group EBITDA and Group reve-
nues, which also serve as minimum thresholds, were 
achieved in the financial 2023. The ESG target com-
prises the successful implementation of reforestation 
measures, including a presentation in the ESG doc-
umentation, and was also achieved. Overall achieve-
ment of the ESG targets and thus also the overall 
target achievement was 100 %. Accordingly, the Man-
agement Board members were granted a short-term 
variable compensation of € 50 thousand each.

Long-term variable compensation
In order to align the interests of the members of the 
Management Board with those of the shareholders 
of the Company, the members of the Management 
Board were granted a long-term variable compensa-

tion (Performance Share Plan) in the form of virtual 
performance share units (“PSUs”). It corresponds to 
the compensation system approved by the Annual 
General Meeting of PharmaSGP Holding SE and is 
outlined as follows:

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Final number of
(virtual) shares

Performance Share Plan 2023

Target 
value
in €

Ø Share
price

Granted number of
(virtual) shares÷ =

Four-year performance period
x

Group EBITDA
(weight 80 %)

Relative share
price return
(weight 20 %)

+

M&A target
(0.8 – 1.2)

x

Ø Share price
(plus dividends)

Payment

x

=

=

 
 
The long-term variable compensation is granted in 
annual tranches for a performance period of four 
years. In this context, 25 % of each tranche of PSUs 
is earned per year of the performance period (vest-
ing). The annual number of PSUs granted to Man-
agement Board members is equal to the quotient 
of (i) a target value divided by (ii) the weighted av-
erage Xetra share price of the Company in the last 
30 trading days before the start of the respective 
performance period.

The PSUs are subject to the usual good leaver and 
bad leaver provisions, which may lead to a forfei-
ture of the PSUs. The final number of vested PSUs 
depends on the achievement of three target crite-
ria, which include profitability targets, share price 
targets and M&A targets, each with a limitation 
(cap). The targets for the 2022 tranche are: Group 
EBITDA, the relative share price return compared 
to the STOXX Europe Total Market Pharmaceuticals, 
and an M&A target.

For Group EBITDA, the Supervisory Board defines 
an annual target within the first four months of the 
respective financial year. The overall target achieve-
ment is then calculated as the average of the annual 
target achievement levels during the four-year per-
formance period.

The relative share price return is measured by com-
paring the percentage change in the Company’s 

share price during the performance period with the 
percentage change in the benchmark index. Divi-
dends paid during the performance period are in-
cluded in the calculation of the share price or index 
level at the end of the performance period. Target 
achievement is deemed to be 100 % if the percent-
age change in the share price corresponds to the 
percentage change in the benchmark index.

For the M&A target, there is a predetermined target 
of a certain total number of business acquisitions 
within the performance period, each of which must 
meet requirements set by the Supervisory Board.

To determine the Management Board members’ 
final long-term variable compensation entitlement 
at the end of the performance period, the number 
of PSUs earned after the end of the period is mul-
tiplied by the weighted average Xetra share price 
of the Company in the last 30 trading days before 
the end of the respective performance period, plus 
any dividends paid in this period. For the calculation 
of the compensation entitlement, the share price 
adjusted for dividends is limited to a maximum of 
150 % of the share price on the basis of which the 
number of PSUs granted to the Management Board 
members was determined at the beginning of the 
performance period.

After the determination of the compensation en-
titlements, the Company has the option to settle 
the entitlements in cash or with treasury shares, 
which in turn are valued at the weighted average 
Xetra share price of the Company during the last 30 
trading days prior to the end of the relevant per-
formance period. Currently, PharmaSGP Holding SE 
assumes a settlement in cash.

As planned, no tranche of the long-term variable 
remuneration ended in the financial year2023. The 
Supervisory Board had planned a performance peri-
od of three years for the 2020 tranche, which there-
fore ended at the end of the financial year2022. The 
2021 tranche of the performance share plan ends 
as planned after a performance period of four years 
at the end of the 2024 financial year.

The achievement of targets for the tranche of the 
Performance Share Plan allocated for 2023 will be 
reported after the end of its performance period.

Target compensation for the financial year 2023
The target compensation planned for financial year 
2023 for members of the Management Board of 
PharmaSGP Holding SE is as follows:

Natalie Weigand Michael Rudolf

Member since 4 March 2020 4 March 2020

in €  
thousand in %

in €  
thousand in %

Non-perfor-
mance-related 
compensation

Fixed compensation 300 300

Fringe benefits2 15 23

Total non-perfor-
mance-related 
compensation 315 70 % 323 53 %

Performance- 
related  
compensation

Annual bonus 2023 50 50

Performance Share 
Plan (2023-2026) 85 240

Total perfor-
mance-related 
compensation 135 30 % 290 47 %

Total  
compensation 450 100 % 613 100 %

Granted and owed compensation
The granted and owed compensation to members 
of the Management Board of PharmaSGP Holding SE 
or its subsidiaries in the financial year 2023 breaks 
down as follows:

Natalie Weigand Michael Rudolf

Member since 4 March 2020 4 March 2020

in €  
thousand in %

in €  
thousand in %

Non-perfor-
mance-related 
compensation

Fixed compensation 300 300

Fringe benefits 5153 5294

Total non-perfor-
mance-related 
compensation 815 94 % 829 94 %

Performance- 
related  
compensation

Annual bonus 2023 50 50

Performance  
Share Plan - -

Total perfor-
mance-related 
compensation 50 6 % 50 6 %

Total  
compensation 865 100 % 879 100 %

1  For the determination of the Group EBITDA, the Supervisory Board 
usually applies the externally reported adjusted EBITA as a basis.

2  The fringe benefits for Ms. Weigand include employer contribu-
tions to social security. The fringe benefits for Mr. Rudolf include 
employer contributions to social security and benefits in kind in 
the form of a company car.

3  The fringe benefits for Ms. Weigand include a one-time additional 
compensation for the extension of her Management Board activi-
ties in the amount of € 500 thousand.

4  The fringe benefits for Mr. Rudolf include a one-time additional  
compensation for the extension of his Management Board 
activities in the amount of € 500 thousand and a compensation 
payment for vacation days not taken.
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Compensation for the extension  
of Management Board activities
In the financial year 2022, a one-time additional 
compensation for the extension of the Management 
Board activities in the amount of € 500 thousand per 
Management Board member was agreed. The com-
pensation was fully earned and paid out in the first 
quarter of 2023. 

Third-party compensation
In the financial year 2023, the members of the Man-
agement Board were not granted any compensa-
tion from third parties. In the event of a change-of-
control situation, the members of the Management 
Board were each promised a compensation by the 
two majority shareholders.

 
4. Other disclosures
 
Deviations from the compensation system
The Supervisory Board is authorized to deviate tem-
porarily from the compensation system if this is nec-
essary in the interest of the long-term performance of 
the Company. No deviation was made with regard to 
the compensation granted for the financial year 2023.

Maximum compensation
To ensure compliance with the maximum compensa-
tion of € 1.5 million provided for in the compensation 
system approved by the Annual General Meeting, all 
variable compensation components include a con-
tractually fixed maximum amount. The compensa-
tion components are regularly reviewed by the Su-
pervisory Board.

The total amount of compensation paid out for the 
financial year 2023 cannot be determined until the 
Performance Share Plan 2023-2026 has expired. 
However, it can already be ruled out that the max-
imum compensation under Art. 87 par. 1 sentence 
2 no. 1 will be exceeded, as even if the Performance 
Share Plan pays out 256 % of the target amount (cap) 
the total of all compensation components would be 
below the maximum compensation.

Malus/clawback
The Supervisory Board saw no reason to reclaim or 
reduce variable compensation components in the fi-
nancial year 2023.

 
5. Comparative presentation
 
According to Sec. 162 (2) sentence 2 no. 2, the re-
quired comparative presentation of the annual 
change in the compensation granted and owed to 
the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 
the development of the Company’s earnings and the 
average compensation of employees on a full-time 
equivalent basis is as follows:

Change compared to  
the prior year in %

2023  
vs. 

2022

2022  
vs. 

2021

2021  
vs. 

2020
Total compensation of current 
Management Board members

Natalie Weigand5 +175 % +16 % +6 %

Michael Rudolf5 +221 % +16 % +14 %

Total compensation of current 
Supervisory Board members

Dr. Clemens Fischer6 +/-0 % +/-0 % +/-0 %

Madlena Hohlefelder6 +/-0 % +/-0 % +/-0 %

Dr. Axel Rebien +/-0 % +/-0 % +/-0 %

Earnings development  
of the Company

Annual profit of PharmaSGP  
Holding SE (HGB; German  
Commercial Law) +45 % +5 % +300 %

Adjusted EBITDA of  
PharmaSGP Group7 +21 % +45 % +14 %

Employee compensation

Average employee copensation8 +8 % +12 % +2 %

To PharmaSGP Holding SE, Gräfelfing

 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and of the Group 
Management Report

 
Audit Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments of PharmaSGP Holding SE, Gräfelfing, and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consoli-
dated statement of financial position as at 31 Decem-
ber 2023, and the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the fi-
nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2023, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information. In 
addition, we have audited the group management 
report of PharmaSGP Holding SE, which is combined 
with the Company’s management report, for the fi-
nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2023. 
In accordance with the German legal requirements, 
we have not audited the content of the statement 
on corporate governance pursuant to § [Article] 
289f HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial 
Code] and § 315d HGB.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge ob-
tained in the audit, 

• the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments comply, in all material respects, with the 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pur-
suant to § 315e Abs. [paragraph] 1 HGB and, in 
compliance with these requirements, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and finan-
cial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2023, and of its financial performance for the 

financial year from 1 January to 31 December 
2023, and

• the accompanying group management report 
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Group’s position. In all material respects, this 
group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, complies with 
German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future 
development. Our audit opinion on the group 
management report does not cover the content 
of the statement on corporate governance re-
ferred to above.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we 
declare that our audit has not led to any reservations 
relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated 
financial statements and of the group management 
report.

 
Basis for the Audit Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and of the group management re-
port in accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently 
as “EU Audit Regulation”) in compliance with Ger-
man Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 
Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 
Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those 
requirements and principles are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 
Management Report“ section of our auditor’s report. 
We are independent of the group entities in accor-
dance with the requirements of European law and 
German commercial and professional law, and we 
have fulfilled our other German professional respon-
sibilities in accordance with these requirements. In 
addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of 

The following copy of the auditor‘s report also in-
cludes a “Report on the Assurance in Accordance 
with § 317 (3a) HGB on the Electronic Reproduction 
of the Financial Statements and the Management 
Report Prepared for Publication Purposes” (“sepa- 

rate report on ESEF compliance”). The subject matter 
(ESEF documents) to which the separate report on 
ESEF compliance relates is not attached. The assured 
ESEF documents can be inspected in, or retrieved 
from, the Federal Gazette.

Independent Auditor’s Report

5  In 2023, Ms. Weigand and Mr. Rudolf received a payment of € 500 
thousand each as a one-time additional compensation for the 
extension of their Management Board activities.

6  Dr. Clemens Fischer and Madlena Hohlefelder, have waived their 
remuneration until further notice.

7  PharmaSGP Group consists of PharmaSGP Holding SE and its 
subsidiaries PharmaSGP GmbH, Remitan GmbH, Restaxil GmbH 
and PharmaSGP Vertriebs GmbH. The calculation of adjusted 
EBITDA is based on the IFRS consolidated financial statements of 
PharmaSGP Group and is outlined in the combined management 
report.

8  These disclosures relate to all employees of PharmaSGP Group.
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the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not 
provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 
5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions 
on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
group management report.

 
Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2023. These matters were addressed in the con-
text of our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our audit opinion 
thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion 
on these matters.

In our view, the matters of most significance in our 
audit were as follows:

  Recognition of revenue from the sale of goods

 Recoverability of acquired product brands

Our presentation of these key audit matters has 
been structured in each case as follows:

 Matter and issue  

 Audit approach and findings

 Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matters:

 
  Recognition of revenue  
from the sale of goods 

  Revenue amounting in total to EUR 101.1 million 
is reported in the consolidated financial state-
ments of PharmaSGP Holding SE. The revenue is 
mainly generated from selling over-the-counter 
pharmaceuticals and other healthcare products. 
The goods are stored at logistics service provid-
ers in various countries, from where they are 
distributed to wholesalers and pharmacies. Rev-
enue from the sale of goods less the respective 
discounts is recognized when the customer ob-
tains control. Expected returns are taken into ac-
count as a reduction in revenue. The recognition 

of revenue from the sale of goods gives rise to a 
general risk of material misrepresentation. Given 
the risk assessment, the materiality of this item 
for the consolidated financial statements, and 
the fact that it represents a financial key perfor-
mance indicator for the Company’s management 
and forecasting, the recognition of revenue from 
the sale of goods was of particular significance in 
the context of our audit.

  As part of our audit, we assessed, among other 
things, the appropriateness and effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control system with re-
spect to the complete and correct recognition of 
revenue from the sale of goods. This included 
evaluating the complete and correct transfer of 
revenue data from the respective services provid-
ers to accounting at the PharmaSGP companies. 
We gained an understanding of the underlying 
contractual arrangements and assessed them 
with regard to the timing of revenue recognition 
in accordance with the applicable standards. To 
assess the recognition of revenue, among other 
things we took samples of suitable evidence and 
reconciled them. In addition, we obtained exter-
nal confirmations of outstanding receivables as of 
the end of the reporting period and conducted an-
alytical audit procedures to compare changes in 
revenues with changes in inventories and costs of 
materials. We were able to satisfy ourselves that 
the systems, processes and controls in place are 
appropriate overall, and that the estimates made 
by the executive directors are sufficiently docu-
mented and substantiated for the purposes of 
recognizing revenue from the sale of goods.

  PharmaSGP Holding SE’s disclosures relating to 
the principles of revenue recognition are con-
tained in sections 2.3, 2.10, 3 and 6.1 of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

  Recoverability of acquired  
product brands 

  In the consolidated financial statements of Phar-
maSGP Holding SE, product brands with a total 
carrying amount of EUR 64.9 million (49.4% of 
total assets) are reported under the “Intangible 
assets” balance sheet item. The acquired intan-
gible assets with finite useful lives are tested for 
impairment by the Company whenever there 
are indications of impairment to determine any 
possible need for write-downs. The Company 
assesses whether there are grounds for carrying 
out an impairment test based on internal and 
external sources of information. The impairment 

test is carried out at the level of the individual 
product brands. The carrying amount of the rel-
evant product brand is compared with the cor-
responding recoverable amount in the context 
of the impairment test. The recoverable amount 
is generally determined using the present value 
of future cash flows. The present value of the 
product brands’ future cash flows from market-
ing the respective products normally serves as 
the basis of valuation. Present values are calcu-
lated using discounted cash flow models. This 
is based on the Group’s adopted short/medi-
um-term business plan. Expectations relating to 
future market developments and assumptions 
about the development of macroeconomic fac-
tors are also taken into account. The discount 
rate used is the weighted average cost of capi-
tal for a representative peer group. No need for 
write-downs was identified in the financial year. 
 
The outcome of this valuation is dependent to 
a large extent on the estimates made by the ex-
ecutive directors with respect to the future cash 
inflows from the respective product brands, the 
discount rate used and other assumptions, and 
is therefore subject to considerable uncertainty. 
Against this background and due to the complex 
nature of the valuation, this matter was of particu-
lar significance in the context of our audit.

  As part of our audit, we assessed the methodology 
used for the purposes of performing the impair-
ment test, among other things. After matching the 
future cash flows used for the calculation against 
the adopted short/medium-term business plan of 
the Group, we assessed the appropriateness of the 
calculation, in particular by reconciling it with gen-
eral and sector-specific market expectations. In 
the knowledge that even small changes in the dis-
count rate applied can have a material impact on 
the value of the product brands calculated in this 
way, we focused our testing in particular on the 
parameters used to determine the discount rate 
applied, and assessed the calculation model. In or-
der to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the pro-
jections, we evaluated the sensitivity analyses per-
formed by the Company and carried out our own 
sensitivity analysis. Taking into account the infor-
mation available, we determined that the carrying 
amounts of the product brands were adequate-
ly covered by the discounted future cash flows. 
 
Overall, the valuation parameters and assump-
tions used by the executive directors are in line 
with our expectations and are also within the 
ranges considered by us to be reasonable.

  The Company’s disclosures relating to the “Intangi-
ble assets” balance sheet item are contained in sec-
tions 2.5, 3 and 5.1 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

 
Other Information 

The executive directors are responsible for the oth-
er information. The other information comprises 
the statement on corporate governance pursuant 
to § 289f HGB and § 315d HGB as an unaudited part 
of the summarized group management report.

The other information comprises further

• the remuneration report pursuant to § 162 AktG 
[Aktiengesetz: German Stock Corporation Act], for 
which the supervisory board is also responsible

• all remaining parts of the annual report – ex-
cluding cross-references to external information 
– with the exception of the audited consolidated 
financial statements, the audited group manage-
ment report and our auditor’s report

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the group management report 
do not cover the other information, and conse-
quently we do not express an audit opinion or any 
other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to 
read the other information mentioned above and, 
in so doing, to consider whether the other informa-
tion is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, with the group management 
report disclosures audited in terms of content or 
with our knowledge obtained in the audit, or other-
wise appears to be materially misstated.

 
Responsibilities of the Executive  
Directors and the Supervisory  
Board for the Consolidated  
Financial Statements and the  
Group Management Report
 
The executive directors are responsible for the prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements that 
comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and 
that the consolidated financial statements, in com-
pliance with these requirements, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and 
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financial performance of the Group. In addition, the 
executive directors are responsible for such internal 
control as they have determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and 
misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the executive directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as ap-
plicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, 
they are responsible for financial reporting based on 
the going concern basis of accounting unless there is 
an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease oper-
ations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the group management report 
that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the 
Group’s position and is, in all material respects, con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German legal requirements, and ap-
propriately presents the opportunities and risks of 
future development. In addition, the executive direc-
tors are responsible for such arrangements and mea-
sures (systems) as they have considered necessary to 
enable the preparation of a group management re-
port that is in accordance with the applicable German 
legal requirements, and to be able to provide suffi-
cient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process for the prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements and of 
the group management report.

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for  
the Audit of the Consolidated  
Financial Statements and of  
the Group Management Report
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 
the group management report as a whole provides 
an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, 
in all material respects, is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements and the knowledge 
obtained in the audit, complies with the German 
legal requirements and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development, as 

well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Reg-
ulation and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the ag-
gregate, they could reasonably be expected to in-
fluence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements 
and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the group management report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement result-
ing from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forg-
ery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control rel-
evant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of arrangements and measures 
(systems) relevant to the audit of the group man-
agement report in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an audit 
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poli-
cies used by the executive directors and the rea-
sonableness of estimates made by the executive 
directors and related disclosures.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the exec-
utive directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast sig-
nificant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a mate-

rial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and in the group management report or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the con-
solidated financial statements present the un-
derlying transactions and events in a manner that 
the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial po-
sition and financial performance of the Group in 
compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and 
the additional requirements of German commer-
cial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence re-
garding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to ex-
press audit opinions on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and on the group management 
report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group au-
dit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinions.

• Evaluate the consistency of the group man-
agement report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with German law, and 
the view of the Group’s position it provides.

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective in-
formation presented by the executive directors 
in the group management report. On the basis 
of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we eval-
uate, in particular, the significant assumptions 
used by the executive directors as a basis for 
the prospective information, and evaluate the 
proper derivation of the prospective information 
from these assumptions. We do not express a 
separate audit opinion on the prospective infor-
mation and on the assumptions used as a ba-
sis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that 
future events will differ materially from the pro-
spective information.

We communicate with those charged with gover-
nance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-
ternal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with the 
relevant independence requirements, and commu-
nicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our in-
dependence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those mat-
ters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report un-
less law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter.

 
Other legal and regulatory  
Requirements

 
Report on the Assurance on the  
Electronic Rendering of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the 
Group Management Report Prepared 
for Publication Purposes in Accor-
dance with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB

Assurance Opinion
 
We have performed assurance work in accordance 
with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB to obtain reasonable assur-
ance as to whether the rendering of the consolidat-
ed financial statements and the group management 
report (hereinafter the “ESEF documents”) contained 
in the electronic file PharmaSGP_SE_KA_KLB_ESEF-
2023-12-31.zip and prepared for publication purpos-
es complies in all material respects with the require-
ments of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic reporting 
format (“ESEF format”). In accordance with German 
legal requirements, this assurance work extends only 
to the conversion of the information contained in 
the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report into the ESEF format and there-
fore relates neither to the information contained 
within these renderings nor to any other information 
contained in the electronic file identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and the group management re-
port contained in the electronic file identified above 
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and prepared for publication purposes complies 
in all material respects with the requirements of  
§ 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic reporting for-
mat. Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit 
opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements and the accompanying group manage-
ment report for the financial year from 1 January to  
31 December 2023 contained in the “Report on the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
on the Group Management Report” above, we do 
not express any assurance opinion on the informa-
tion contained within these renderings or on the 
other information contained in the electronic file 
identified above.

 
Basis for the Assurance Opinion 
 
We conducted our assurance work on the render-
ing of the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report contained in the electron-
ic file identified above in accordance with § 317 Abs. 
3a HGB and the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance 
Work on the Electronic Rendering, of Financial State-
ments and Management Reports, Prepared for Pub-
lication Purposes in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3a 
HGB (IDW AsS 410 (06.2022)) and the International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised). 
Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further 
described in the “Group Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents” section. 
Our audit firm applies the IDW Standard on Quality 
Management: Requirements for Quality Management 
in the Audit Firm (IDW QMS 1 (09.2022)). 

 
Responsibilities of the Executive  
Directors and the Supervisory Board 
for the ESEF Documents
 
The executive directors of the Company are respon-
sible for the preparation of the ESEF documents in-
cluding the electronic rendering of the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management re-
port in accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 Satz 4 Nr. [num-
ber] 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 
Satz 4 Nr. 2 HGB.

In addition, the executive directors of the Compa-
ny are responsible for such internal control as they 
have considered necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of ESEF documents that are free from material 
non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 
1 HGB for the electronic reporting format, whether 
due to fraud or error.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing 
the process for preparing the ESEF documents as 
part of the financial reporting process.

 
Group Auditor’s Responsibilities  
or the Assurance Work on the  
ESEF Documents
 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the ESEF documents are free from 
material non-compliance with the requirements of  
§ 328 Abs. 1 HGB, whether due to fraud or error. We 
exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-
sional skepticism throughout the assurance work. 
We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material non-com-
pliance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 
HGB, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform assurance procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our assurance opinion.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control rel-
evant to the assurance work on the ESEF docu-
ments in order to design assurance procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an assurance 
opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

• Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF docu-
ments, i.e., whether the electronic file containing 
the ESEF documents meets the requirements of 
the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 in the 
version in force at the date of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements on the technical specification 
for this electronic file.

• Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide 
an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to 
the audited consolidated financial statements 
and to the audited group management report.  

• Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF docu-
ments with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in ac-
cordance with the requirements of Articles 4 and 
6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in 
the version in force at the date of the consolidat-
ed financial statements, enables an appropriate 
and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of 
the XHTML rendering.

Further Information pursuant to  
Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation
 
We were elected as group auditor by the annual 
general meeting on 28 June 2023. We were engaged 
by the supervisory board on 15 November 2023. 
We have been the group auditor of the PharmaSGP 
Holding SE, Gräfelfing, without interruption since the 
financial year 2022.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this 
auditor’s report are consistent with the additional re-
port to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 
of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

 
Reference to an other Matter –  
Use of the Auditor’s Report
 
Our auditor’s report must always be read together 
with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the audited group management report as well 
as the assured ESEF documents. The consolidated 
financial statements and the group management 
report converted to the ESEF format – including the 
versions to be filed in the company register – are 
merely electronic renderings of the audited consol-
idated financial statements and the audited group 
management report and do not take their place. 
In particular, the “Report on the Assurance on the 
Electronic Rendering of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report 
Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance 
with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB” and our assurance opinion 
contained therein are to be used solely together 
with the assured ESEF documents made available 
in electronic form.

 
German Public Auditor responsible  
for the engagement
 
The German Public Auditor responsible for the en-
gagement is Anita Botzenhardt.

 
Munich, 25 April 2024

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Anita Botzenhardt     Patrick Konhäuser 
Wirtschaftsprüfer     Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor]     [German Public Auditor]
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